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AP3’s reporting conforms to the GRI Standards of the Global Reporting 
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SEK bn 
Net result for 2021

86.8
percent 

Annual average return  
after expenses in  

last 10 years

11.1
percent 

Total return after 
expenses

20.7
SEK bn 

Fund capital  
at 31 Dec

502.3

AP3 serving  
the pension system

Third Swedish National Pension Fund (AP3) is an investor  
tasked with contributing to the stability of the Swedish income pension 

system on behalf of current and future pensioners. 
The Fund’s capital is invested to obtain high returns over time.  

Our mission includes promoting sustainable development through 
responsible ownership and investment. 

Key financial data
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Fund capital at 31 Dec, SEK bn 502.3 423.0 393.7 340.7 345.2

Net payments to pension system, SEK bn 7.5 7.9 6.5 6.8 7.4

Net result, SEK bn 86.8 37.2 59.5 2.2 28.2

Return before expenses, % 20.8 9.8 17.7 0.7 8.9

Return after expenses, % 20.7 9.7 17.6 0.6 8.8

Total asset management costs, % 0.08 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.10

Asset management costs excluding commission expenses, % 0.05 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06

Annualised return after commission expenses and  
operating expenses, 5 years

11.3 9.1 8.5 7.8 10.5

Annualised return after commission expenses and  
operating expenses, 10 years

11.1 8.7 8.7 8.5 6.1
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AP3 is not just any investor
AP3’s unique attributes are at the heart of our long-term mission for the state 

income pension system. Through their credibility as investors, the AP funds can 
make a difference and influence societal development in a sustainable direction. 

The size of the AP3 
asset base and organ-
isation are attuned to 
delivering on the Fund’s 
mission. The portfo-
lio is large enough to 
enjoy advantages of 
scale and to enable the 
Fund to build its own 
companies. This is one 
reason why AP3’s costs 
are low by international 
standards. The small 
size of the organisation 
facilitates short deci-
sion-making processes 
and a professional cul-
ture in which employees 
take a large degree of 
personal responsibility. 

Mission and invest-
ment strategy – a long-
term approach Though a global in-

vestor, AP3 is based 
in Sweden and has 
a natural focus on 
domestic investments. 
These holdings have 
performed well over 
time by international 
standards and have 
also enabled the Fund 
to share a Swedish 
perspective with global 
investors. Swedish ex-
pertise is an increasing 
asset in a world where 
sustainability is steadily 
gaining prominence. 

Based in Sweden Independent  
government body 

AP3 is regulated by the 
National Pension Insur-
ance Funds (“AP funds”) 
Act, based on a broad 
political settlement. 
This creates stable con-
ditions for the manage-
ment of the fund capital. 
The Act empowers 
AP3 to invest flexibly 
and with a long-term 
perspective, giving it an 
advantage over other 
institutions. 

Optimum asset base 
and organisation size

AP3’s status as a 
government body, its 
Swedish domicile and 
its investment approach 
together make AP3 
a valued partner and 
asset owner, facilitating 
access to attractive 
long-term investments 
worldwide. This can 
be especially useful in 
times of market uncer-
tainty and may pave the 
way for attractive invest-
ment opportunities. 

AAA counterpart

AP3 has a long-term 
mission on behalf of 
the Swedish pension 
system that allows us 
to operate beyond the 
short- and medium- 
term with a focus on 
sustainability. The 
long-term nature of this 
mission enables the 
Fund to invest in unlisted 
companies where value 
creation takes place 
over long periods of 
time. Returns can be 
high compared to many 
market-listed invest-
ments because these 
types of investment 
are not available to all 
types of investors and 
come with a liquidity 
premium. 

AAA

AP3 has a mission to manage the buffer capital of 
the state income pension system. The rules govern-
ing the management are designed in consideration 
of how to create good conditions for successful 
investment management.

The values of the Swedish Parliament in the form 
of legislation and adherence to international agree-
ments determine how capital may be invested. At 
the same time, AP3, as an investor, makes judge-

ments about how capital should be invested in the 
long-term within that framework to generate a good 
return for the state income pension system.

AP3’s asset management model has developed 
over the course of 20 years and is based on the 
fund’s characteristics as an investor. The model 
forms the basis for successful long-term asset 
management. 
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KERSTIN HESSIUS: 

AP3’s best returns in our over 20-year history, 
fund capital over SEK 500 billion

At AP3, we are proud to report results that have 
reached two impressive levels, over 20% return on 
capital and fund capital of over SEK 500 billion. 
2021 was a successful year for all those with 
assets in the financial markets, while also being 
characterised by a partial return to normality that 
ended in dashed hopes that the pandemic would 
finally be over. 

The year started on a somewhat tentative note 
with political turmoil in the US, high interest rates 
and a continued pandemic. However, the turna-
round came relatively quickly with effective mass 
vaccination, continued monetary stimuli and strong 
corporate reports. Growth companies reached new 
heights, many companies were floated on the stock 
market and many unlisted companies reported 
fantastic results. The interest rate turmoil that began 
the year quickly subsided, although inflation reached 
levels not seen since the 1990s. The real-estate 
market was buoyant and the economy recovered 
despite bottlenecks in many sectors. 

In these circumstances, AP3 successfully man-
aged its fund capital, generating a return of 20.7% 
after expenses, equivalent to SEK 86.8 billion. This 
is the fund’s best return in both per cent and SEK 
billions since it was launched in 2001. The fund 
capital amounted to SEK 502.3 billion at the year-
end, while we added SEK 7.5 billion to the pension 
system during the year. 

Today, the pension system is stable with a balance 
sheet ratio of assets to liabilities above 1.08 and 
we, the AP funds, have contributed greatly to its 
financial strength over a long period. At the turn of 
2020/2021, it was 20 years since AP3 was given its 
current mission. There is every reason to celebrate 
the pension reform, but along the way it has required 
responsiveness, strong commitment and patience. 

 
The first ten years of the new pension system were 
marked by trials. In a market that turned out to be a 
leaking IT bubble, the funds increased investments 
in equities. It was only after three years that the AP 
funds reported positive earnings and reached above 
the initial fund capital allocated to management in 
2001. Then came the great financial crisis of 2008, 
which eroded three years of growth in the fund 
capital. That year, AP3 recorded the largest negative 
return in its history, -19.7%. The following year, more-
over, the AP funds began to make net contributions 
to the pension system and no new capital has been 
injected into the funds since then. 

Intergenerational credibility and sustainability 
were the pillars of the pension reform. Reaching 
a broad political agreement required a breakdown 
of the capital into several funds. The motive was 
to limit the risk of significant state shareholder 
influence on the Swedish stock exchange. However, 
the reform began to be questioned early on. At the 
same time, the AP funds were building up manage-
ment and costs began to rise. Barely a year after I 
took over as CEO of AP3, in 2004, the parlament´s 
Finance Committee called a hearing in response to 
concerns about cost increases. There were good 
reasons. The funds needed to develop both the edu-
cational side and the accounting to gain confidence 
in the management we were building. 

Furthermore, the brakes were applied to the 
pension system in 2010, 2011 and 2014, which 
affected pensioners in a manner that was not 
reasonable. There were shortcomings in the calcu-
lation models for the balance sheet ratio and a need 
to review the design of the automatic balancing sys-
tem to even out the fluctuations better. The Swedish 
Pensions Agency subsequently proposed improve-
ments, which were approved. 

A broad political settlement always involves 
compromises and even if everyone supports it as 
a whole, the parts may be in question. The main 
Achilles’ heel of the reform was that the capital was 
split between four fund managers with the same 
mission, which is unique and asset management 
offers economies of scale. According to the pre-
paratory works, the alternative cost of missed econ-
omies of scale would be outweighed by a better 
management result through diversification across 
several managers, healthy competition between 
funds, easier evaluation and the fact that the funds 
could be managed more actively in the Swedish 
market without having a major market impact. 

Many people disliked the multi-fund solution and 
few saw the benefits. The debate about merging 
the funds was already under way when the financial 
crisis reduced the earnings of the AP funds so much 
that the fund capital had underperformed the income 
index since its inception in 2001. This meant that 
the AP funds had not contributed to the long-term 
financing of the pension system. Then began a pe-
riod of various initiatives to rethink the reform. Firstly, 
there was an ESO* report in 2009 advocating a 
merger of the funds to save costs. However, we were 
able to show that the income gains from diversifying 
across funds far outweighed the cost savings. 

2001 
First year of new 

mandate

2002 
AP3 named European 

market leader for 2002
 

2003 
Constructive debate on 
responsibility and trust

 

2004 
Taking the next step

2005 
Foundation in place for 

profitable management

2006 
We need to innovate to 

stay ahead

2007 
Successful shift in 

investment strategy

2008 
Systemic crisis tested 
AP3 severely in 2008 

2009 
Perseverance pays of

 

CEO’ comments 
headlines over 20 years

2001 – 2020

* ESO, Expert Group on Public Economics (ESO)
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But the issue was not dead. Just a few years later, 
a new inquiry was set up, focusing on the need to 
change the investment rules and the governance of 
the AP funds and the number of funds. Parliament 
agreed that there was a need to review the invest-
ment rules but not to redesign the structure. 

Surprisingly, the inquiry came back to life after a 
few years. It served as the basis for an agreement 
on ‘some adjustments to the pension settlement’ 
announced by the Pensions Group in 2014. The 
moment the proposal was presented, I realised that 
our management mission was going from being 
long-term to being phased out in a few years. It 
would be a great challenge to manage the fund 
under such conditions. These were such fundamen-
tal changes to the governance, management and 
numbers of the AP funds that it was a completely 
different business. 

The proposal was complex, but when the social 
partners gained a deeper insight, their assessment 
was that there was nothing broken that needed 
fixing. Thus, there was no need for major chang-
es. For the same reason, many stakeholders were 
against the proposal when it went out for consulta-
tion and it was never taken further to Parliament. 

Moreover, during this period of various reform 
proposals, the pension system was gradually 
strengthened. In particular, the earnings of the 
AP funds developed positively while management 
costs, as a share of capital, fell. We also got better at 
explaining our earnings and costs. 

We can justifiably 
defend an advanced, 
active management 
strategy.

At AP3, we introduced an evaluation benchmark in 
2012, the long-term static portfolio (LSP). If AP3 
fails to outperform this passive portfolio strategy, 
our strategy should be reconsidered, as our man-
agement is significantly more resource-intensive 
and expensive. Since the introduction of this bench-
mark, AP3 has returned more than 60 percentage 
points more than the LSP. By way of comparison, 
our costs as a percentage of capital accumulated 
over this period were 0.6%. Converted into SEK, 
this amounts to over SEK 110 billion in profit for the 
pension system. In 2021, AP3 achieved the highest 
excess return we have ever had against the LSP, 
5.6 percentage points. We can justifiably defend an 
advanced, active management strategy. 

Healthy competition and the ability to make rel-
evant comparisons between funds’ earnings and 
costs have been important in building robust, 
cost-effective buffer capital management. At 
the same time, integrity has been maintained, i.e. 
defending the mission and aiming only to benefit the 
pension system. Politicians have not always respect-
ed the renunciation of the right to give directives to 
the AP funds or the prohibition from taking econom-
ic or regional policy considerations into account in 
their management. Four boards have been a strong 
guardian in and of itself. 

The pension settlement, which is based on a broad 
political foundation and well-thought-out legisla-
tion, has ensured the long-term sustainability and 
stability of the pension system. At least as far as 
the management of the buffer capital is concerned. 
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Proposals for change that rested on shaky founda-
tions have fallen by the wayside, while the changes 
that actually have been implemented have created 
better conditions for the funds to benefit the pension 
system. The latter changes have concerned the 
modernisation of investment rules and adaptation to 
progressively increasing sustainability requirements. 
Today, the AP funds account for more than 16% of 
total pension assets; when the funds were founded, 
we accounted for 10%. 

The fund capital has grown from SEK 579 billion 
to SEK 2,004 billion today* through successful 
management. At the same time, AP1-AP4 have 
contributed SEK 290.6 billion to the pension system. 
This means that the AP funds have today contrib-
uted to a significant strengthening of the financing 
of the pension system and reduced the risk of auto-
matic balancing in both the short and longer terms. 
Today, we can say that the pension settlement was a 
successful reform, even if there were many reasons 
to question it during the first ten years. Long-term re-
form requires patience and a long evaluation period. 

In the 20 years that AP3 has been active in the 
pension system, a lot has happened both in the 
world around us and at AP3. Just as the National 
Pension Insurance Funds Act was well-thought-out 
from the start, there are some basic features of 
AP3’s operations that were established early on and 
still pertain. The most important of these was that 
we would be able to work as a world-class profes-
sional management organisation and that we would 
be perceived as such by the world around us. I dare 
say our management and earnings are world class 
today. We chose a level of risk that we felt was well 
adapted and, although it is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis, it has been sustainable over the long term. We 
assume ownership responsibility that we stated ear-
ly on. “We want to live up to our role as a clear, con-
structive and informed partner in dialogue,” said the 
fund’s first CEO Thomas Nicolin in one of the first 
CEO statements. Our culture has been characterised 
by a strong sense of responsibility for the important 
social mission we have, but also by respect for the 
market in which we operate. 

We also set out early on an alternative investment 
strategy that was about capitalising on our unique 
long-term mission. It meant that we started at an 
early stage to build a portfolio of private equity funds 
to reach the best managers and achieve a stable cash 
flow, and that we were not in a hurry to employ capital 
in the property market to take advantage of the op-
portunity to make large investments in difficult situa-
tions. When liquidity is at its worst, unlisted assets are 
often good value. We were cautious until 2008, when 
we had the opportunity to make two significant prop-
erty investments, the purchase of AP Properties of 
the old Vasakronan, which the state was selling at the 
time, and the purchase of the properties that formed 
the basis for Hemsö when Kungsleden needed to sell. 
Today, Vasakronan, jointly owned by the four funds, 
is Sweden’s largest and Europe’s most sustainable 
property company, and Hemsö is Sweden’s largest 
property company in nursing homes, education, care 

facilities and premises for the legal sector. Both com-
panies have made a significant contribution by being 
good examples of responsible property management 
and making high returns for the pension system. Over 
the last 10 years, these two companies have returned 
an average of over 20% per annum. 

AP3 has also chosen to develop its alternative 
investment management strategy in a way that 
allows us to have a relatively small management 
organisation internally. We are building depth and 
operational expertise in our corporate manage-
ment areas. AP3 is currently a major shareholder 
of five property companies in different sectors, 
two infrastructure venture capital companies and 
two forestry companies. This allows us to direct 
investment proposals to organisations that are more 
specialised in managing the assets. Our role is to 
develop investment areas and exercise professional 
ownership. In this way, we ensure both breadth and 
depth of expertise, better risk management and 
lower management costs by not having to rely on 
expensive fund structures. 

In managing our listed assets, we have tried dif-
ferent strategies at different stages in the fund’s 
history. Initially, we had relatively active internal 
management of Swedish equities and relatively 
large external management of foreign equities. We 
found it difficult to maintain the right skills when 
remuneration conditions changed and the cost of 
external management was called into question. It 
was also difficult to defend the strategy when man-
agement performance did not meet expectations. 
Even before the 2008 crisis, we had begun a review 
of the strategy. We implemented what is known as 
alpha-beta separation, in which the large capital was 
managed passively, while the active management 
received risk mandates, and the portfolio was divid-
ed into risk classes. This strategy allowed us to de-
velop a strong focus on earnings and risk, but it also 
had its shortcomings. After ten years, when our new 
CIO, Pablo Bernengo, took up his role, he was tasked 
with a fresh review. It resulted in a clearer, simplified 
strategy with active management of equities and 
fixed income and risk and earnings responsibility 
linked to asset classes. We also took a larger share 
of the capital for active management internally. This 
allows us to manage risk better and gives us lower 
costs. However, it requires us to be able to attract 
and retain high quality talent, which can be a particu-
lar challenge in strong markets. 

AP3’s initial ambition was to be an innovative 
organisation and to try out many strategies. We 
dipped our toes to see if we could improve earnings 
without significantly increasing risk at a reasonable 
cost. Some ideas were dismissed on the drawing 
board, others we went into but then decided to 
phase them out because they did not perform well 
enough and some have been so successful that we 
have decided to incorporate them fully. Innovation 
is essential to creating a forward-looking business 
while it has its challenges in terms of complexity. 
With growing capital, more regulation of financial 
markets, demands for sustainability and good 
governance, our strategy has moved towards more 

2010 
More prominent role  

for AP funds in  
the pension system

2011 
Sustainable systems 

take time to build

2012 
2012 - a strong year  

in an uncertain world

2013  
Solid growth in 2013

2014 
Target achieved but 

many challenges remain

2015
Our returns build a 

stronger pension 
system

2016
A good year, but an 

uncertain future

2017 
High returns in a 

‘deceptively’ calm 
market

2018 
A challenging year in 
which diversification 

paid off

2019 
AP3’s best result this 

decade

2020 
High returns strengthen 

the pension system in 
challenging times

*AP1 – AP4 and AP6
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percent 
Annual average return after 

expenses in last 10 years

11.1

SEK bn 
Fund capital at 31 Dec

502.3
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My assessment is 
that the combined 
workforce AP3 has 
today is the most 
expert we have  
ever had. 

AP3 works to ensure that the companies we invest in 
manage risk, seize opportunities and are good long-
term actors in society. Our primary aim is to help 
drive change and transformation where it is needed. 
Where the companies are unable or unwilling to act 
accordingly, the fund may decide not to invest and 
the fund may decide to sell existing holdings.

In 2021, the AP funds’ sustainability work was also 
reviewed, by the Government’s annual evaluation 
and partly by the Swedish National Audit Office’s 
special audit. Overall, the audits and reviews pro-
vide a positive picture of our sustainability work. 
AP3 has already begun to take account of the rec-
ommendations made by the Swedish National Audit 
Office for clearer objectives and more advanced 
reporting in this annual report. 

Over the 20-plus years that AP3 has been in 
operation, the organisation has evolved in line 
with its growing capital and changing strategy, 
and increasing demands from the world around 
it. Our ambition has been to make the most of the 
advantage of having an efficient decision-making 
organisation. We have therefore focused more on 
strengthening and developing skills than on increas-
ing staff numbers. At the end of the fund’s first year, 
the fund capital amounted to SEK 133 billion and 
at this year-end it stood at SEK 502.3 billion. The 
mission was initially managed by 29 employees and 
today there are 61. This means that the assets under 
management per employee have almost doubled, 
while our asset management is now considerably 
more advanced, with significantly higher sustainabil-
ity and control requirements. 

AP3 has made significant productivity gains in 
our more than 20 years of service to the pension 
system. Of course, this requires a high level of ex-
pertise in all positions at the fund. My assessment 
is that the combined workforce AP3 has today is the 
most expert we have ever had. We have a culture 
of mutual trust and a responsible, strong commit-
ment to our important social mission. I would like to 
express my sincere thanks to AP3’s employees, who 
do a fantastic job in both good times and bad, and 
for the support of the Board in our common endeav-
our to create a strong, sustainable contribution to 
the pension system. 

Kerstin Hessius
CEO

simplification. Our knowledge today about what is 
suitable for the portfolio has been built up over a 
long time and when there is a real crisis, we know 
much more about what is resilient and what to pro-
tect. This means that we say no to many business 
proposals, while always listening to ideas. We try our 
best to be open about our strategy and what we are 
interested in. We also cherish the capacity to pick up 
interesting deals in difficult market situations. 

As part of our strategy to simplify and improve, 
we are currently reviewing our IT infrastructure 
and in 2022 we will launch a procurement for a 
new business system. Our aim is to reduce the 
number of systems we work with and to modernise 
the infrastructure. It is a big challenge to change the 
business system for an organisation that is small in 
terms of the number of employees. The last time we 
did it was in 2006. Today, the requirements are also 
much greater. We anticipate that this work will re-
quire considerable focus and resources over several 
years. It takes time and effort, while we look forward 
to a more efficient, more secure IT environment in 
the future. We will do the procurement in coopera-
tion with AP4, strengthening both our expertise and 
our negotiating position. 

The AP funds were also quick to see the benefits of 
working together. One such area was sustainability. 
We established the Council on Ethics of the Swedish 
AP Funds fourteen years ago to strengthen our voice 
and make our work more efficient. We are proud of 
the results achieved by the Council on Ethics, but the 
four AP funds have decided to review how the Council 
on Ethics will work in the future. We do this against 
the background that sustainability is increasingly 
integrated in management and has become a major 
focus of the AP funds’ strategies and processes. This 
is particularly true of AP3. 

We continue to develop our sustainability  strategy. 
At the Board’s inaugural meeting in June, a new 
sustainability policy was adopted which will guide the 
fund’s continued integration of sustainability in its 
management strategy. As a responsible owner and 
investor, AP3 will contribute to combating climate 
change and limiting its effects in line with the Paris 
Agreement. This will be achieved in part by ensuring 
that AP3’s portfolio produces net zero emissions 
by 2050. AP3 will also focus on those areas that the 
fund considers material and in which it has the great-
est potential to make a difference to both the pension 
system and society. Through corporate stewardship, 
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11.9
percent

NORTH AMERICA SWEDEN EUROPE EMERGING MARKETS ASIA-PACIFIC

42.1
percent

37.5
percent

4.5
percent

4.1
percent

AP3 invests more than SEK 500 billion 
globally, but not everywhere 
From a risk perspective, it is essential for AP3 to avoid putting all eggs in one basket. However, we have also chosen to 
limit the diversification of our investments. As a result, a considerable portion of our fund capital is invested in Sweden, 
which is home to many successful companies. Swedish companies are often leaders in sustainability, a priority area 
for AP3. North America, with its large, globally focused capital markets, is another important investment market. Our 
holdings are in listed equities, fixed income and alternative investments. AP3’s alternative investments consist of private 
equity funds, real-estate, infrastructure assets, timberland and insurance risk.
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Investments

Exposure, asset management 

Listed equities

44.9%

Fixed income 
investments 

27.4%

Alternative 
investments 

28.8%

Exposure, asset classes

Equities, 
global 

32.6%

Equities, 
Sweden

12.3%

Real-estate 

16.0%

Insurance risks  

0.7%

Infrastructure  

3.9%
Forests 

2.3%

Government bonds 

16.1%

Inflation- 
linked bonds 

5.6%
Corporate credit 

5.5%

Private equity funds 

5.9%

AP3’s portfolio generated  
a return of 20.8% 

Return and contribution to total portfolio per asset class
(Currencies include currency hedges and exchange rate effects. Only the contribution to 
total portfolio return is shown for currencies and other strategies.)

Return in %

Portfolio contribution in 
percentage points

Equities

11.1

Fixed income 
investments

0.1

Alternative 
investments

7.6

Other strategies

0.1

Currencies

2.0

Return (before 
expenses)

20.8

20.830.70.223.8

AP3’s portfolio generated a return of 20.8% in 2021. Investments in listed equities made the highest 
contribution to the fund’s total return, closely followed by alternative investments. Returns were also 
positive on the fund’s fixed income investments. The Swedish krona weakened, which meant that 
 currency exposure made a positive contribution to the portfolio’s performance. 

AP3’s portfolio comprises three types of investments: listed equities, fixed income and alternative 
investments. These sub-divide into different asset classes (see the chart, below right).
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Mission – contributing to the stability 
of the income pension system 

Sweden operates a public pension system 
that covers everyone who works and pays 
tax. The system is funded by pension 
contributions paid in by employers and 

employees. The public pension system consists 
of a state income pension system which AP3 
helps to finance and a premium pension system.

The public pension system’s assets account for 
more than 75% of Sweden’s combined pension cap-
ital, which also includes occupational pensions and 
private pensions. This figure underlines the impor-
tance of public pensions as a source of pension in-
come. AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4 act as a capital buffer 
for the income pension system. A difference arises 
every year between paid-in contributions and paid-
out pensions. The role of the AP funds is to manage 
this gap. The AP funds also invest their assets in a 
way that contributes to the financial stability of the 
income pension system over time. 

How pensions are financed 
The state income pension system is funded primarily 
by pension contributions. 16% of an individual’s pen-
sionable income is registered by the Swedish Pen-
sions Agency as a pension credit in the individual’s 
personal income pension account. Hence, the individ-
ual “saves” towards his or her own pension. The total 
value of all the credits in the income pension system’s 
personal accounts is referred to as the system’s pen-
sion liabilities. Due to demographic factors, Swedish 
pension contributions have been insufficient to cover 
paid-out pensions since 2009. This is one of the main 
reasons for the current system of buffer funds. The 
capital is currently used to fund the annual deficit, 
which is expected to persist until about 2040. In 2021, 
the AP funds paid SEK 30 billion to help finance total 
pension payments of SEK 332 billion. 

Financial health of the state 
 income pension system 
As of today, the state income pension system is in 
robust financial health. The system’s assets exceed 
its liabilities, producing a balance sheet ratio of 
1.12 (preliminary for 2021). This solid position is 
largely due to the strong returns generated by the 
AP funds in recent years. Indeed, the funds’ share of 
total income pension assets now stands at 18% (up 
from 10% when the pension system was launched 
in 2001). The remaining 84% is comprised of future 
pension contributions. 

Value growth of pension savings 
Provided that the state income pension system 
is not in a balancing phase, the value of pension 

 credits and pensions increases in step with the 
income index so that pensions keep pace with wage 
growth. When the state income pension system’s 
assets fall below its liabilities and the balance figure 
drops below 1.0, the system enters a phase of bal-
ancing to regain financial equilibrium. During such 
periods, pensions and pension credits increase in 
step with the balance index. This rate of increase is 
then below that of the income index and remains so 
until the balance sheet ratio returns to 1.0. 

Other roles for AP6 and AP7 
AP6 also forms part of the capital buffer but plays 
no role in managing annual deficits. AP7 is the state-
owned alternative in the premium pension system 
and manages pension funds for both those who have 
actively chosen the fund and those who do not make 
any choice. The premium pension system is part of 
the public pension system and allows employees to 
choose which funds to invest in. 2.5% of pensionable 
income is assigned to the premium pension system. 
The growth of these pension savings depends on the 
investment choices made by the individual over time.
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0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

Income pension system balance sheet

SEK bn

2,004

9,188

9,991

332
SEK bn 

Paid-out income 
 pensions (including 

administrative 
costs)

SEK bn 
Pension  

contributions

SEK bn 
From the buffer funds 

(AP1-AP4)

302

30

12 AP3 Annual Report 2021

Key financial data and GRIAP3 as a buffer fund Sustainability Fund governance Administration report

State income pension system



AP funds smooth generational differences 
The current Swedish pension model was devel-
oped in the 1990s to confront future demographic 
challenges. In 2001–2008, there was a surplus in 
the state income pension system between paid-
in pension contributions and paid-out pensions. 
During that period, capital was injected into the 
buffer funds. Since 2009, increasing retirements 
have instead led to a deficit, and the buffer capital 
has started to be used. During this period, strong 
investment returns strengthened the system as a 
whole. However, the deficits are projected to persist 
for another two decades. 

The AP funds finance the income pension system deficit.  
The AP funds have made a net contribution of SEK 206 billion
SEK bn
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The value of the income pension to 
increase by 4.1% in 2022 
Since the assets of the state income pension system exceed pension commitments, the value 
of these assets will continue to rise in line with the income index in 2022. The investment returns 
generated by the AP funds have strengthened the financial status of the income pension system. 
The AP funds’ capital buffer is used when a deficit arises between paid-in pension contributions and 
pension commitments. A deficit has existed since 2009 and is expected to persist until about 2040. 

Financial strength vital to keep pensions in line 
with income development 
The state income pension system is a self-financing 
distribution system and falls outside the government 
budget. Its financial health is measured annually by 
comparing assets to liabilities. If the ratio between 
them (the balance figure) falls below 1.0 the system 
enters a phase of balancing to regain financial equi-
librium. This occurred for the first time after 2008, 
prompting the start of a rebalancing period in 2010 
that continued until 2018. The AP funds’ high returns 
in the last decade have strengthened the pension 
system financially. In 2020 the balance sheet ratio 
was 1.0824. 

Impact of wage growth on pensions 
The income index has risen by an annual average of 
2.9% since 2001. The fact that pension system as-
sets currently exceed pension liabilities and the sys-
tem is not in a balancing phase means that pension 
capital can increase in line with the income index. 
When an individual retires, he or she receives an ad-
vance on their saved pension capital in the form of 
a pension that exceeds the value of the capital. This 
sum is repaid by paying out pensions whose value 
is 1.6% below the increase in the income index. For 
2022, the income index increases by 4.1%.
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Performance since 2001 
After two decades as a fund tasked with financing 
the income pension system’s capital buffer, AP3 
has outperformed its ambitious target. The annual 
real return target was 4% up to 2019. As of 2020, the 
target was lowered to 3.5% (see Annual Report 2019, 
page 16). 

The fund’s average annual return stands at 7.0% 
since inception, corresponding to a return of 5.5% 
after inflation. This is substantially higher than the 
income index, which rose by an annual average of 
2.9% during the same period. AP3’s portfolio man-
agement has thus made a strong contribution to the 
financial health of the state income pension system. 
Since 2001, average annual inflation has been low 
at 1.4% and well below the Riksbank’s target level 
of 2%. 

Balancing risk and return 
– age cohort neutrality
Age cohort neutrality is one of the requirements 
of the mission. This requires striking a balance be-
tween investing in high-risk assets to achieve strong 
returns over time and limiting significant drops in 
value in the short run. At the same time, the fund 
must be able to weather the natural variations in 
annual returns. The value of the AP3 portfolio fell 
sharply in 2008 in the wake of the financial crisis, 
but since then returns have been high and relatively 
stable. Indeed, 2021 was the tenth consecutive year 
in which the fund saw positive portfolio returns. 

Aggregate percentage growth of portfolio and benchmarks, 2001–2021

AP3’s performance over 20 years 

%

AP3 Target Income index Consumer price index

The income pension system is currently in a long phase of deficit between pension 
contributions and paid-out pensions that the AP funds are helping to finance. AP3 has 
nevertheless continued to grow fund capital thanks to strong investment returns. 
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AP3 has generated an average annual return since 
inception of 5.5% in real terms, meaning after allowing for 
inflation. AP3’s long-term return target is 3.5% in real terms 
from 2020 (previously 4% in real terms).
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AP3’s investment capital helps fund deficits in 
the state income pension system
In 2021 AP3 paid out SEK 7.5 billion to the state 
income pension system. Since 2009, the fund has 
contributed SEK 72.7 billion to help finance the 
system’s deficit. The annual deficit is projected to 
be nearly 2% of the value of the capital buffer in the 
coming decade. This is on a par with the proportion 
paid out in the 2010s. The combination of a struc-
tural deficit and lower projected investment returns 
means that AP3 expects the capital buffer to grow 
more slowly in the next decade than in the last 10 
years. 

Fund capital at record high 
AP3’s positive return in 2021 lifted fund capital to 
an all-time high of SEK 502.3 billion. The AP funds’ 
capital buffer now accounts for 16% of the income 
pension system’s asset base. However, fund capital 
can decrease even if investment returns are positive. 
This happened in 2018 and was because returns 
were insufficient to cover AP3’s payments to the 
pension system. 

Fund capital growth 2001-2021
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Since 2009, the fund has contributed SEK 72.7 billion to help 
finance the system’s deficit. The annual payment deficit in the 
pension systems is projected to be around 1 – 2% of the value of 
the capital buffer in the coming decade.
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AP3’s sustainability work – the basis 
for long-term value creation 

AP3 has strong reasons for promoting a sustainable development because 
it is a prerequisite for achieving high investment returns over time. For AP3, 
sustainability means operating within the terms of our mission to create value 
through our investments and for society as a whole. The Fund focuses on 
areas where we as an investor can achieve most impact. 

The following pages summarise AP3’s role and work on the green transition 
and other sustainability issues.

AP3’s sustainability 
policy sets clear 

priorities 

page 17

AP3’s climate impact 

pages 26-27
UN global framework 

with its origin in the 1972 
Stockholm Conference

pages 28-29

AP3’s sustainability 
process offers support 
when making difficult 

decisions 

pages 18-19
Advocacy as a 

 responsible owner in 
Sweden and globally 

pages 20-25

16 AP3 Annual Report 2021

Key financial data and GRIAP3 as a buffer fund Sustainability Fund governance Administration report

AP3’s sustainability work



AP3’s Board adopted a new sustainability policy 
in 2021. The policy is based on the mission for the 
Swedish state income pension system and its aim is 
to describe how the fund must manage its assets in 
an exemplary way through responsible investments 
and practices. The fund must focus especially on 
how to promote a sustainable development without 
compromising on returns.

Through the positions adopted by the Board, 
the policy will govern the sustainability work of the 
management organisation and serve as a guide for 
external stakeholders, in both cases providing clarity 
on the purpose of AP3’s sustainability work.

AP3’s sustainability work will: 

• Be based on AP3’s basic assumptions and the AP 
funds’ shared values

• Contribute to the sustainable development of 
 society in the context of the mission to create 
 value for the state income pension system

• Analyse sustainability-related risks and 
 opportunities

•  Be implemented in line with UNPRI’s principles for 
responsible investments. Read more at unpri.org.

• Drive change through shareholder engagement 
with the aim of companies pursuing value- 
creating transition and sustainability work

• Focus on areas in which the fund is judged to be 
able to make the biggest difference

• Be carried out with an understanding that sustain-
ability is a broad area subject to constant develop-
ment and change

Positions on key sustainability issues
AP3’s positions address key issues and areas for 
AP3 to focus on. Fund-level positions are adopted 
by the Board and are intended to guide AP3 at an 
overall level and to address environmental, social 
and corporate stewardship issues. They must also 
contribute to achieving the UN sustainable develop-
ment goals under Agenda 2030.

The policy states, among other things, that AP3’s 
portfolio must deliver net zero greenhouse gas 
emissions by 2050 in line with climate scenarios for 
1.5°C global warming.

An important part of the sustainability work is to 
communicate the fund’s positions, priorities and 
objectives, and to report on the results achieved and 
how the fund approaches monitoring and  evaluation.

AP3’s sustainability work should 
create value for the state income 
pension system and contribute to a 
sustainable development within the 

framework of its mission. 

The mission shapes AP3’s approach to 
sustainability
AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4 share the same
parliamentary mission: to generate high re-
turns for the state income pension system at 
a low level of risk. 

The funds are required to manage their 
assets in an exemplary way through respon-
sible investments and practices. The asset 
management must focus especially on how 
to promote sustainable development without 
compromising on the goal of high returns. 
The AP funds are not permitted to have indus-
trial and trade policy objectives. 

The AP funds’ shared values form part of 
the sustainability policy. As a Swedish govern-
ment body, AP3 is guided by the international 
conventions and guidelines ratified and sup-
ported by the Swedish Parliament. Examples 
include the UNFCCC with the Paris Agree-
ment, the Convention on Biological Diversity 
and Agenda 2030.

AP3’S SUSTAINABILITY POLICY: 

More targeted sustainability work

Read more about 
AP3’s sustainability 

policy at ap3.se.

Governance and implementation of AP3’s approach to 
sustainability

• The Board adopts AP3’s sustainability policy as part of the fund’s 
operating plan

• The CEO is responsible for ensuring that the policy is complied with and 
implemented. 

• AP3’s Sustainability and Corporate Governance Committee (SCGC) 
decides on key sustainability issues

• The Sustainability Advisory Group (AGH) coordinates the preparatory 
analysis work and ensures it is done 

Sustainability work is integrated across all the fund’s management units, 
with the listed equities, fixed income and alternative investment depart-
ments responsible for complying with the policy and contributing to the 
analysis of sustainability-related risks and opportunities. The units are rep-
resented on the SCGC and internal portfolio managers are part of the AGH.

Board of directors CEO

SCGCAGHAsset management
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Clear process facilitates complex 
sustainability work

The outcome of AP3’s advocacy 
must be clearly reported for 
evaluation purposes. 

Corporate engagement is carried out 
directly by AP3, with other investors 
and through the AP funds’ Council 
on Ethics. 

AP3 sets quantitative and qualitative 
goals in selected focus areas for 
governance, monitoring and reporting. 

AP3 is developing focus areas on 
climate, environmental issues, social 
issues, corporate stewardship issues 
and other global sustainable 
development goals. 

AP3 identifies material sustainability 
risks and opportunities across the 
investment universe. 

AP3’s investment universe must 
meet AP3’s minimum requirements. 

As a major investor, AP3 has the opportunity to influ-
ence developments in a sustainable direction. To ex-
ert the greatest impact, sustainability work must be 
focused where AP3 can make the biggest difference 
and generate the most value for the state income 
pension system. To support the difficult decisions 
that sometimes need to be made, AP3 has a clear 
process that draws on the fund’s collective access 
to resources, including external partnerships.

The work must be result-oriented, based on clear 
objectives and through effective advocacy.

The sustainability process consists of clear steps 
that support each other and involve the entire man-
agement organisation.

Sustainability framework 
with minimum requirements 

 
AP3’s ambition is to fulfil its mission as a respon-
sible owner through active corporate stewardship. 
This means that the fund also invests in companies 
and sectors with significant sustainability challenges. 
This does not mean that AP3 can or wants to invest 
in all companies, especially those with operations 
that are not sustainable or are not developing in a 
sustainable direction at all. 

The fund has several reasons for not investing in 
companies. 
AP3 does not invest in companies: 

• which do not comply with international conven-
tions and agreements ratified by the Swedish 
Parliament

• of which the business model is judged to have too 
many transitional barriers 

• which do not meet minimum sustainability 
requirements. This is implemented by requiring 
holdings to pass a minimum level in AP3’s screen-
ing process to be an investable part of AP3’s 
investment universe 

The work on sustainability issues is 
characterised by the fact that the 
area is broad and complex, which 
requires knowledge, analysis, clarity 

and patience to drive sustainable develop
ment. AP3’s sustainability process is de
signed to do just that.

Minimum sustainability requirements

Sustainability risks and opportunities

Focus areas

Goals

Engagement

Performance

Sustainability process
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• which, after a period of engagement, do not 
show that they are moving towards credible 
positive change. 
As a result of the sustainability process, there are 

currently a number of companies that are not in-
cluded in AP3’s investment universe. These include 
companies active in fossil fuels such as coal and 
oil sand. Twenty companies are currently excluded 
for failure to comply with conventions. These are 
related to labour law, inhumane weapons, cannabis 
for non-medical use and biodiversity. 

Sustainability risks and opportunities 

AP3 focuses its sustainability work where risks and 
opportunities are deemed material and where AP3 
has opportunities to make a difference. The fund 
identifies which sustainability risks have the great-
est impact on sustainable development and which 
are deemed to have the greatest impact on AP3’s 
investments.

Focus areas 

To ensure that sustainability efforts are focused on 
the areas deemed to have the greatest impact on 
investments, AP3 works with focus areas. Based on 
the Board’s positions, AP3 is currently working with 
the following focus areas: 

• Environment and climate: AP3 will combat cli-
mate change and mitigate its effects in line with 
the Paris Agreement. AP3 will consider the impact 
of its investments on material portfolio and soci-
etal risks related to biodiversity and ecosystems. 

• Social responsibility: AP3 will work to ensure that 
human rights, particularly as they relate to the 
companies’ activities, are respected, upheld and 
strengthened where necessary. 

• Corporate stewardship issues: AP3 will promote 
compliance with the seven principles of the 
fund’s Stewardship Policy. These principles cover 
shareholders’ rights and obligations, companies’ 
capital structure and boards of directors, audit 
and internal control, executive remuneration, the 
environment and ethics, and disclosure.

Goals 

To drive change, AP3 sets targets and milestones in 
the focus areas. Today, the goals are mainly focused 
on limiting climate impact, and AP3 intends to set 
clear science-based targets in 2022 for the fund’s 
climate work. The Fund also decided in 2021 to set 
specific biodiversity goals in line with what will be 
recommended by the TNFD. 

• Climate goal AP3’s portfolio will deliver net zero 
greenhouse gas emissions by 2050 in line with a 
climate scenario that allows the 1.5 degree target 
to be met. Read more in Climate focus (pages 26-
27) for the climate-related milestones.

• Environment goal: AP3’s ambition is for the port-
folio to contribute to the conservation and positive 
development of biodiversity by 2030. 

• Social responsibility goal: Through the AP funds’ 
Council on Ethics, there are currently objectives 
for safer mining related to tailings dams and in-
creased human rights accountability of large tech 
companies through the drafting of an expecta-
tions document. See pages 22-23.

• Corporate stewardship goal: Compliance with 
the seven principles of the fund’s Stewardship 
Policy. For example, AP3 works to ensure that 
companies have a well-balanced capital struc-
ture with appropriate share issue and buyback 
authorisation, that company boards have a bal-
anced gender balance, that company auditors are 
independent and that management remuneration 
systems contribute to the creation of long-term 
shareholder value. 

AP3’s unique characteristics as an investor and its 
strong global networks enable it to engage in advo-
cacy on a number of fronts. Advocacy is adapted 
to the issue, the fund’s ownership position and coop-
eration opportunities with other investors. See more 
on AP3’s corporate stewardship and partnerships on 
pages 20-25. 

Performance 

The outcome of AP3’s advocacy must be clearly 
reported with the aim of being performance-oriented 
and evaluable. As part of its mission to set an exam-
ple in institutional asset management, AP3 and the 
other AP funds develop common guidelines on how 
to report on sustainability performance. See also 
Corporate stewardship on page 20 and Climate focus 
on pages 26-27. 
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AP3’S MEANS OF ENGAGEMENT: 

Corporate stewardship is AP3’s  
primary means of engagement

AP3 promotes sustainability in many ways, and cor-
porate stewardship plays a central role. Well-man-
aged companies usually manage the major climate 
and social challenges responsibly. Successful 
integration of sustainability in a company’s business 
operations boosts competitiveness and profitability, 
and the fund’s experience shows that well-managed 
companies produce higher risk-adjusted returns 
over time. The stock market usually values these 
companies higher as a result of their better pros-
pects compared to competitors with less focus on 
sustainability.

The higher the ownership, the greater the 
responsibility as a shareholder
AP3’s engagement varies according to ownership. In 
companies in which AP3 owns all or the majority of 
shares, for example the unlisted property companies 
Vasakronan, Hemsö, Trophi, Regio and Trenum, direct 
influence is through board membership. The listed eq-
uity portfolio contains around 1,600 companies and 
ownership varies from small stakes in large foreign 
companies to significant stakes in smaller  Swedish 
companies. In foreign companies, engagement 
usually involves collaboration in the Council on Ethics 
of the Swedish AP funds and with other institutional 
investors. In Swedish companies, more active owner-
ship is exerted, partly through dialogue with company 
boards, executive management and other sharehold-
ers, and partly through voting at general meetings and 
participation in nomination committees.

Engagement on key issues
AP3 exercises corporate stewardship based on the 
conviction that well-managed companies create 
shareholder value and contribute to sustainable 
social development. This may be by influencing 
the structure of corporate remuneration systems, 
raising levels of female representation on corpo-
rate boards, promoting effective capital structures, 
pressing for healthy working conditions and com-
bating financial crime, corruption and money laun-
dering. Climate change remains the major strategic 
issue for companies, but social issues are receiving 
increasing attention, such as employee working con-

ditions and how companies address human rights in 
their operations. 

Sometimes the effects of engagement are directly 
observable, for example when companies consid-
er the fund’s views and amend motions to general 
meetings, but often corporate stewardship is a 
 process that requires patience.

Gradually increasing activity in corporate 
stewardship
AP3 has gradually intensified its corporate stew-
ardship, which has manifested itself in a trend of in-
creasing voting activity at general meetings. In 2021, 
the fund voted at almost 1,200 general meetings, 
including 160 Swedish annual general meetings. 
This corresponds to virtually all companies in the 
Swedish equity portfolio and the vast majority of the 
fund’s foreign portfolio companies. 

More than a quarter of AP3’s capital invested in 
listed companies is in companies on the Stockholm 
Stock Exchange, where the fund has a great oppor-
tunity to exert direct influence by involvement in 
nomination committees. In the nomination commit-
tees in which the fund participated during the year, 
the fund worked to increase the proportion of female 
directors, which increased from an average of 22% 
to 31%. AP3 is convinced that board diversity makes 
companies more attractive as employers and leads 
to better decision-making and higher value growth.

Engagement with foreign companies
In foreign companies, corporate stewardship is 
carried out through company dialogues, support-
ing various investor initiatives and voting at general 
meetings. This year, AP3 voted at more than 1,000 
general meetings. Companies often find it difficult to 
meet the high standards set by AP3 on certain own-
ership issues. AP3 abstained or voted against the 
board’s recommendation on 20% of the motions at 
the meetings, a significantly higher proportion than 
in the Swedish equity portfolio.

During the year, the fund voted against more than 
half of the remuneration motions, as companies 
have difficulty meeting AP3’s requirements for re-
muneration schemes. Remuneration of senior exec-
utives is an area in which there are major differences 
between the situation in Swedish companies and 
that in many foreign companies. 

It is worth noting that the fund voted in favour of 
half of the motions put forward by other sharehold-
ers at general meetings, which is a result of the fact 
that shareholders in foreign companies often put 
forward their own well-thought-out motions. For ex-
ample, the fund voted in favour of several sharehold-
er motions related to companies’ climate work, such 
as requiring companies to disclose any costs they 
incur in lobbying on climate-related issues.

AP3’s corporate stewardship is based on 
being an active, responsible owner that 
demands change where necessary to 
achieve healthy corporate governance. 

Being an engaged, responsible owner means 
voting at general meetings, engaging in dialogue 
with companies and participating with other 
owners and stakeholders in various national 
and international initiatives and contexts that 
promote good corporate governance and a sus
tainable development.

This year, AP3 voted 
at almost 1,200 
general meetings, 
160 of which were 
Swedish. Foreign 
companies often find 
it difficult to meet the 
high standards set by 
AP3 on certain own-
ership issues. AP3 
abstained or voted 
against the board’s 
recommendation on 
20% of the motions at 
the meetings. 

Stewardship report
AP3 compiles an annual 
corporate stewardship 

report that summarises its 
involvement in general 
meetings. The report is 

available at ap3.se
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2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Voting at annual general meetings in Sweden, number 160 71 75 70 62

corresponds to % of the fund’s total holdings of Swedish listed shares (market value) 100% 91% 83% 84% 92%

corresponds to % of the fund’s total holdings of Swedish listed shares  
(number of companies)

97% 51% 54% 39% 39%

Voting at foreign general meetings, number 1,011 999 972 780 837

corresponds to % of the fund’s total holdings of global listed shares (market value) 86% 86% 90% 36% 39%

corresponds to % of the fund’s total holdings of global listed shares (number of companies) 70% 69% 71% 27% 30%

The share is calculated on the basis of market values as at 31 December each year

Voting at general meetings 2017-2021

Swedish voting, summary of decisions

Board motions Shareholder motions

Issue Number AP3 for AP3 against Number AP3 for AP3 against

Directors and discharge from liability 720 99% 1% 3 0% 100%

Incentive plans 164 93% 7%

Adopt financial statements,  
appoint auditors, etc

480 100% 0%

Protection against takeover

Capital structure, organisation, acquisitions 631 97% 3% 4 0% 100%

Environment and health 2 0% 100%

Corporate governance 870 100% 0% 3 0% 100%

Social matters and human rights 3 0% 100%

Total 2,865 99% 1% 15 0% 100%

Global voting, summary of decisions

Board motions Shareholder motions

Issue Number AP3 for AP3 against Number AP3 for AP3 against

Directors and discharge from liability 8,514 92% 8% 126 37% 63%

Incentive plans 1,458 45% 55% 21 29% 71%

Adopt financial statements, appoint auditors, 
etc

1,915 69% 31% 110 66% 34%

Protection against takeover 101 42% 58%

Capital structure, organisation, acquisitions 840 67% 33%

Environment and health 50 48% 52%

Corporate governance 28 50% 50%

Social matters and human rights 26 58% 42%

Total 12,828 81% 19% 361 50% 50%

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Swedish nomination committees in which AP3 participated, number 6 5 6 5 4

Proportion of women on Swedish boards for which AP3 participated  
in the nomination committee, %

31% 22% 24% 18% 27%

Proportion of newly elected women on Swedish boards for which AP3 participated in the 
nomination committee, %

50% 0% 50% 0% 57%

Nomination committees

Voting by market 2021

   USA, 36%
   Japan, 24%
   Sweden, 14%
   UK, 4%
   France, 3%
   Germany, 3%
   Canada, 3%
   Netherlands, 2%
   Switzerland, 2%
   Australia, 2%
   Ireland, 1%
   Others, 8%
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Ethics Environment Human rights

Through dialogues and conversations with compa-
nies, the Council on Ethics influences companies 
and sectors, both for preventive purposes and 
in the event of incidents. The Council on Ethics 
collaborates on the companies included in the AP 
funds’ portfolios of listed companies, mainly the 
foreign holdings. 

Preventive work helps prevent accidents and 
incidents 
The Council on Ethics’ preventive advocacy affects 
several companies and sectors. In 2021, the Council 
on Ethics completed a successful major initiative to 
improve the safety of mine tailings dams. A global 
open database was created, a first global stand-
ard was developed and an institute for the review 
of the standard was established. Another initiative 
concerns tech giants and human rights, with the 
focus on integrity and other issues. The number of 
companies involved in the eight projects varies from 
around 10 to over 500. 

Reactive work influences companies to 
manage and remedy
The Council on Ethics’ audit of nearly 3,200 hold-
ings, at the end of 2021, identified more than 100 

The AP Funds' Council on Ethics is a 
collaboration between AP1AP4 to 
jointly influence companies towards 
sustainable value creation and 

transparent reporting. In 2021, the Council 
on Ethics was involved in eight preventive 
projects in which progress was demonstrat
ed. At the end of the year, active dialogues 
were being conducted with 85 companies on 
all continents. 

COUNCIL ON ETHICS 2021

Dialogues of the Council on 
Ethics protect pension capital 
through engagement

Advocacy dialogues by region
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of the AP funds’ compa-
nies were audited in 2021

3,168

milestones were reached 
during the year through 

dialogues

77

dialogues were closed 
after goals were achieved

12

Dialogues 31 Dec 2021

Number of active dialogues (October reconciliation) 85

Number of milestones achieved during the year in these dialogues 77

Dialogue trend throughout the year

Number of new dialogues initiated 5

Number of dialogues closed with objectives achieved 12

Number of companies recommended for exclusion 0

Audit 2021 2020 2019

Number of companies in the 
portfolios of the AP funds, all 
audited

3,168 2,430 3,557

   of which confirmed violation 23 22 29

    of which with a risk of 
violation

89 72 29

    of which without remark in 
audit

3,056 2,336 3,437

Reactive dialogues
Twice a year, the AP funds’ portfolios are audited to detect suspected violations.  
85 dialogues are ongoing with companies around the world to draw their attention to the shortcomings. 
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Preventive dialogues by the Council on Ethics
Eight preventive projects are now under way with the aim of preventing accidents and incidents. Three of these projects are described in brief below.

What is considered a violation?

The Council on Ethics’ approach is to ensure that there are no 
breaches, i.e. violations, of agreed conventions that Sweden 
has ratified. The breaches relate to climate, the environment, 
human rights and ethics/corporate stewardship. These are 
assessed according to two different degrees of severity.  
Confirmed violation – A violation of an international con-
vention is considered to be confirmed when it is verified and 
assessed against a number of criteria, i.e. the severity of the 
violation in terms of scale, the extent and preventability of the 
violation, how strongly the company is involved or linked to the 
violation, the company’s handling of the situation. 

Risk of violation – includes cases that, after analysis based on 
the above criteria, do not meet all the criteria for a confirmed 
violation, but where the severity is deemed high by the Council 
on Ethics. This category of companies also includes compa-
nies for which a possible violation is under investigation and 
with which a dialogue has not yet been initiated and companies 
with which the Council on Ethics has conducted a dialogue but 
for which the risk is still deemed to be high, which is why the 
Council on Ethics is monitoring the company’s work and the 
results of the measures taken by the company. 

Advocacy dialogues broken down by  
sustainability areas – ESG*

Environment  

13%

Ethics 

27%

Human 
rights  

60%

Preventive projects Sustainability area Background Goals and milestones

Safety in mine 
tailings dams

Human rights The dam structures are ageing and the acci-
dent rate is expected to increase if they are 
not maintained. The consequences when a 
dam bursts are often tragic and far-reaching 
for the environment, flora and fauna and 
people and companies’ operations.

in 2021, the Council on Ethics completed a success-
ful major three-year initiative to build a database 
to monitor safety in mines. The Council on Ethics 
played a leading role in creating this global open 
database of essential information on mine tailings 
dams worldwide. The goal is to ensure that a first 
global standard is set. An institute has been estab-
lished to oversee the database and ensure that the 
global standard for tailings dams is adhered to by 
mining companies.

Tech giants
and human
rights

Human rights,
Governance – business 
ethics

The internet, personal electronic devices 
and social media are part of our economic 
and social future. Technology presents both 
opportunities and challenges for sustainability. 
Challenges include how data is collected and 
the commercialisation of personal data and 
how this is used. 

The Council on Ethics and the Danish Institute for 
Human Rights (DIHR) have drawn up an expecta-
tions and requirements document from investors for 
relevant companies. During the year, dialogues took 
place with the result that several of the companies 
appointed more staff with knowledge about human 
rights and developed clearer policies on how to work.

Transition in 
emission-heavy 
industries

Climate and environ-
ment

Coping with the climate crisis requires a 
major transition. Governments need to put 
in place clear regulatory frameworks that 
enable a fair, smooth transition. Companies 
need to change their business models. Con-
sumers and citizens need to change their 
consumption and behaviour patterns.

In 2020, a collaboration was initiated with, among 
others, IIGCC and CA100+ to develop a plan for how 
investors can best support and facilitate the transi-
tion to a low carbon society within and across sec-
tors. Roundtable discussions are now being held with 
different actors in industry value chains to enable a 
faster technology transition through collaboration.

Read more on the 
website of the 

Council on Ethics at 
etikradet.se. 

companies with a confirmed violation of an interna-
tional convention or a feared risk of violation. Most 
companies thus passed the audit without remark.  
The Council on Ethics engages in dialogue with 
companies with confirmed violations and at risk 
of violation. 

Key data – 77 milestones reached in 2021
Key data for reactive dialogues is reported this year 
with more detailed statistics than before. At the end 
of the year, active dialogues were being conducted 
with 85 companies. In these dialogues, a total of 77 
milestones were reached during the year.

* ESG – stands for Environment, Social and Governance
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CORPORATE STEWARDSHIP THROUGH COLLABORATION:

Initiatives and partnerships 
strengthen the impact of 
 corporate engagement 
AP3 works with other investors to increase the 
opportunities to influence the companies in which 
the fund invests. Below is a selection of the initi-
atives and partnerships in which AP3 is involved. 

Working with other international investors with a 
similar sustainability agenda helps increase the 
ability to influence companies to make positive 
change and increase transparency in reporting. 

Brief summaries of some key partner organisations and initiatives

TNFD – Taskforce on Nature-related  
Financial Disclosures
–  The Taskforce on Nature-related Financial 

Disclosures was launched in summer 2021.  
A framework should be in place by 2023. 
Complete picture of environmental risks and 
opportunities. Supports the fund’s position in 
the Sustainability Policy on biodiversity.

–  Signed in September 2021.

ICGN – International Corporate Governance 
Network
–  A global collaboration to raise standards in 

corporate governance globally. The ICGN works, 
among other things, to enhance shareholders’ 
rights to vote at general meetings and to strengthen 
their position vis-à-vis company management.

–  Member since 2005. AP3 is an active participant 
in the work of the ICGN.

IIGCC – Institutional Investor Group on  
Climate Change
–  A forum for collaboration on climate issues for 

investors. The goal is to present the voices of 
investors on climate issues and engage 
companies, government bodies and investors to 
highlight long-term risks and opportunities due to 
climate change.

–  Member since 2010. AP3 and the Council on 
Ethics participate in several IIGCC projects.

Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change

PAII – Paris Aligned Investment Initiative
–  A member-led initiative launched in May 2019 by 

the IIGCC. Provides a framework for investors’ 
portfolio development towards the Paris target 
and supports the fund’s position in the Sustaina-
bility Policy on Net Zero Commitment.

–  Signed in September 2021.

TCFD – Task Force on Climate-related  
Financial Disclosure 
–  The TCFD’s framework increases companies’ 

transparency and gives investors the information 
they need to assess climate risks and opportunities.

–  Signed in December 2017. The framework is used 
by AP3 to describe and communicate the fund’s 
climate work and the fund encourages its 
portfolio companies to do the same.

Climate Action 100+
–  Dialogue with 160+ companies with the highest 

greenhouse gas emissions in the world. 
Companies are urged to take the necessary steps 
to bring their climate gas emissions into line with 
the Paris Agreement. 615 investors with AUM of 
over USD 55,000 bn.

–  Signed in October 2017. AP3 participates in a 
number of company dialogues and the Council on 
Ethics participates in the CA100+ Accelerator 
(sector-based). TPI – Transition Pathway Initiative

–  Addresses the climate transition for companies in 
particularly vulnerable sectors and methods for 
tracking companies’ progress towards the 1.5 
degree target.

–  Signed in December 2016. AP3 uses TPI’s 
assessment of companies’ transition capacity in 
its investment process.

PRI – Principles for Responsible Investments
–  Aims to encourage investors to integrate ESG in 

financial analysis and decision-making processes.
–  Signed in July 2006. AP3 reports annually to PRI 

on the status and progress of its sustainability 
work. 
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AP3 bases its sustaina-
bility reporting on the AP 
funds’ joint practices on 
the disclosure of respon-
sible investment perfor-
mance. AP3 seeks to fol-
low the Annual Accounts 
Act’s guidelines on 
sustainability reporting 
and the GRI Standards. 
The Fund’s sustainability 
disclosures are on pag-
es 16-29, a TCFD table 
is shown on page27 and 
the GRI Index can be 
found on pages 75-76.

Auditor’s opinion regarding the statutory sustainability report
To the board of the Third Swedish National Pension Fund, corporate identity number 802014-4120

Engagement and responsibility
The board of directors is responsible for the stat-
utory sustainability report for the year 2021 and 
ensuring that it is prepared in accordance with 
AP3’s policies for sustainability reporting.

Scope of the examination
Our examination was conducted in accordance 
with FAR auditing standard RevR 12 “Auditor’s 
opinion on the statutory sustainability report”. 
This means that our examination of the sustain-
ability report is substantially different and less 
in scope than an audit conducted in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing and gen-

erally accepted auditing standards in Sweden.  
We believe that the examination has provided  
us with sufficient basis for our statement.

Statement
A sustainability report has been prepared.

Stockholm, 18 February 2022

Peter Nilsson
Authorised public 
accountant
Appointed by the  
government

Helena Kaiser de Carolis
Authorised public  
accountant
Appointed by the  
government
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CLIMATE FOCUS:

Climate impact and reporting

Development of tools and reporting according 
to TCFD recommendations 
The TCFD framework is a tool for describing and 
communicating AP3’s engagement with climate- 
related risks. AP3 encourages the fund’s invest-
ees and external managers to report according to 
TCFD recommendations for different sectors. The 
main features are that the organisations should 
prepare and ensure: 

• Governance of climate-related risks and oppor-
tunities 

• Strategies for the current and potential impact of 
climate-related risks and opportunities on busi-
ness operations, strategies and financial planning 

• Implementation – processes for identifying, as-
sessing and managing climate-related risks and 
opportunities 

• Metrics and targets for assessing and managing 
relevant climate-related risks and opportunities.

AP3’s governance of climaterelated risks and 
opportunities 
Since the AP funds’ operations are regulated by the 
National Pension Insurance Funds Act, which is 
adopted by the Swedish Parliament, the AP funds 
comply with the international conventions and 
agreements to which Sweden has acceded. The 
UNFCC, with the Paris Agreement, is one such con-
vention, and Sweden has also signed up to the UN’s 
Agenda 2030. These frameworks in turn influence 
the formulation of Sweden’s environmental goals 
and therefore influence how AP3 acts. 

The AP funds have formulated a shared set of 
values and a shared view of what it means to meet 
the requirements of the National Pension Insurance 
Funds Act to be a model investor and of how sus-
tainability work should be monitored and reported. 
It is then up to each fund’s board to determine how 
sustainability work is managed and implemented. 

AP3’s climate strategy 
The sustainability policy has been developed to 
help clarify AP3’s sustainability work. The Board of 
Directors states in the policy that AP3’s main tool for 

Since 2017, AP3 has supported the 
global Task Force on Climate 
related Financial Disclosure (TCFD) 
framework, calling on companies to 

increase transparency and improve report
ing on climaterelated risks. The TCFD also 
works to influence regulators and supervisory 
authorities to ensure that actions are coordi
nated worldwide. 

Progress towards the goals in 2021

3.  AP3’s directly owned unlisted 
investee companies will be sector 
leaders in sustainability

2.  AP3 will double its strategic 
sustainable investments by 2025

–  The AP funds’ efforts to engage with investee companies to reduce carbon 
dioxide emissions continued via both direct dialogue and global collaborations. 

–  AP3 continued to reduce the portfolio’s exposure to companies with high 
carbon intensity.

–  AP3 continued to make progress with the help of the scenario-based analysis 
performed in 2019. 

–  AP3 participated in a project with Sweden’s largest institutional investors to 
evaluate the compliance of a group of 100 companies with the TCFD recom-
mendations.

–  Polhem Infra, which is jointly owned by AP1, AP3 and AP4, made further 
investments in 2021, including in Solör Bioenergi. The AP funds’ joint venture 
4to1 invested in the battery manufacturer Northvolt. 

–  AP3 increased its forestry investments in the US in partnership with Oregon 
company Lone Rock Resources and through AP3’s forestry company Three Tree 
in eastern Texas.

–  AP3’s property and infrastructure companies continue to lead the way in 
sustainability and drive the agenda with the focus on energy efficiency, smart 
material selection, resource efficiency, green tenancies and green finance.

–  Vasakronan continued its path towards becoming climate-neutral. Vasakronan 
and Hemsö were both awarded for their sustainability work in 2021.

1.  The AP3 portfolio will 
contribute to reducing the risk 
of global warming 

AP3’s progress towards climate goals due to be achieved by 2025. 

In 2021, the Board 
adopted the following 
policies directly related 
to sustainability: 

 Risk policy 
 Sustainability policy  
 Stewardship policy  
 Goals and manage- 

 ment principles  
 Investment guide- 

 lines for management 
 activities 
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influencing development in a sustainable direction 
is to be a responsible shareholder operating through 
active corporate stewardship. The fund will engage 
with companies facing sustainability challenges and 
be instrumental in the transition process. 

In the area of climate change, the sustainability 
policy states that AP3 will contribute to climate 
change mitigation and adaptation in line with 
the Paris Agreement and that AP3’s portfolio will 
achieve net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 
2050. Following the Board’s position, AP3’s organi-
sation decided to join PAII, the Paris Aligned Invest-
ment Initiative. 

Implementation and risk management
It is imperative for AP3 to understand where invest-
ment opportunities are located and how the fund’s 
assets can guide progress in the right direction. 
Implementation takes place in different ways in 
different parts of the portfolio: 
 

• In the listed equities portfolio, AP3 engages 
with investee companies to encourage them to 
minimise their climate footprint and transition to 
sustainable practices. The fund’s advocacy work 
is carried out both to drive transition and to limit 
direct investment risks. 

• Advocacy work is carried out by AP3 mainly in 
relation to Swedish companies, and with others at 
international level. 

• The portfolio’s carbon footprint is also influenced 
by limiting or avoiding exposure to companies and 
sectors where the prospects for transitioning to a 
sustainable model are small. 

• A key part of the climate strategy involves incor-
porating sustainability in the business strategies 
and operations of AP3’s real-estate investees. 
Buildings are high consumers of resources in 
terms of energy, materials and waste. It is of 

AP3’s carbon footprint for listed equities1 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Equity portfolio’s total emissions (million tonnes of CO2e) 0.8 0.9 1.1 1.1 1.2

AP3 vs MSCI ACWI (%) -63% -57 % -49 % -48 % -45 %
Change in portfolio’s total carbon emissions from prior year (%) -18% -14 % 1 %
of which change due to changes in portfolio holdings (% points) -12% -10 % 2 %
of which change due to changes in investee emissions (% points) -6% -4 % -1 %

Relative carbon emissions² (tonnes CO2e/SEK million) 3.5 5.8 7.4 9.7 9.4
Carbon intensity³ (tonnes CO2e/SEK million) 9.5 10.6 13.6 15.1 15.7
Portfolio weighted carbon intensity (TCFD)4 (tonnes CO2e/SEK million) 8.6 7.1 9.3 13.2 14.8

Change in portfolio’s carbon intensity (TCFD) from prior year (%) 21% -24 % -30 %
of which change due to changes in portfolio holdings (% points) 8% -13 % -19 %
of which change due to changes in investee emissions (% points) 13% -11 % -11 %

Market value of AP3 directly owned equity portfolio covered by data (SEK bn) 215.0 159.4 144.6 108.9 126.1
Percentage of market value for which CO2e data is reported (%) 80% 84 % 82 % 78 % 83 %

1) Total carbon emissions: Total of equity share of each investee plus relative share of carbon emissions (scope 1 and scope 2).
2) Relative carbon emissions: Total of equity share of each investee plus relative share of carbon emissions.
3) Carbon intensity: Total of equity share of each investee as a ratio of investee’s total revenue.
4)  Portfolio weighted carbon intensity (TCFD): Total of investees’ carbon intensity (emissions relative to revenue) weighted by each investee’s share of portfolio.
Sources: Trucost S&P Global and AP3

great importance to AP3 that the fund’s directly 
owned property companies are sector leaders in 
sustainability. 

• Investments that clearly help reduce climate risks 
and promote sustainable development. These 
asset classes include green bonds and other stra-
tegic sustainable investments, particularly those 
classed as alternative investments. 

Metrics and goals – AP3’s climaterelated 
 disclosures 
As of 2014, AP3 applies specific climate goals. 
These have helped to spur internal sustainability 
engagement and to build stakeholder trust. In early 
2019, AP3 adopted new sustainability goals that are 
due to be reached by 2025. 

See the summary of climate-related goals on  
page 26. 

PAII
PAII is a collaborative 
forum in which AP3 
aims to achieve net 

zero greenhouse gas 
emissions from its 

portfolio by 2050, to 
ensure that data and 
tools are available to 

monitor progress, and 
to self-report under the 

TCFD framework. 
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The 2015 Paris Agreement was the real starting 
point for the world’s countries to come together to 
tackle climate change. The signatories, 194 coun-
tries, undertake to limit greenhouse gas emissions, 
to contribute to mitigation actions and to ensure that 
countries with more resources help countries with 
less resources. 

In 2021, AP3 continued to raise its ambition in the 
area of climate change by joining the Paris Aligned 
Investment Initiative (PAII) Net Zero Asset Owner 
Commitment. The 2020s is the decade of transition, 
and this now informs AP3’s investments. 

From Stockholm 1972 to Stockholm 50+ 
The first global environmental conference was held 
in Stockholm in 1972. Since then, the international 
community, under the auspices of the United Na-
tions, has continued to rally the world's countries to 
work towards sustainable development in a range of 
areas through several global initiatives: 

• The Stockholm Conference decided to establish 
the United Nations Environment Programme 
(UNEP). 

• UNEP, with the World Meteorological Organization 
(WMO), established the Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change (IPCC) in 1988 to provide 
scientific evidence for how the climate is evolving 
and what needs to be done to influence change. 
The IPCC has been a UN body since 1988. 

In 2022, the UN is hosting Stockholm 50+ to mark 
five decades of UN global environmental work. 

Rio 1992 to Kunming 2022
In 1988, the UNEP also initiated the work that led to 
the Convention on Biological Diversity, which was 
presented at the 1992 Rio de Janeiro Conference 
on Environment and Development. The Conven-
tion on Biological Diversity (CBD) held its COP15 
in Kunming, China, in the autumn. The conference 
resulted in the Kunming Declaration, in which world 
leaders state that the biodiversity crisis is a global 
societal threat. The conference is scheduled to con-
tinue in May 2022, when details of countermeasures 
will be negotiated. 

In 1992, the United Nations Framework Convention 
on Climate Change (UNFCCC) was also adopted, 
which includes the 2015 Paris Agreement. The UN-
FCCC administers the Paris Agreement and in 2021 
the important climate summit COP26 was held. 

IPCC Sixth Assessment Report, Climate 
Change, 2021 – a sciencebased reality check 
The UN’s IPCC Sixth Assessment Report, Climate 
Change, released in August 2021, sets out in more 

detail how human activities are affecting climate 
change, that the pace of change is faster than feared 
and that it may be impossible to meet the Paris 
Agreement targets unless swift, large-scale action 
is taken to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Over 
the past decade, research has improved our under-
standing of how different ecosystems and climate 
impacts relate to each other, and more advanced 
models have been developed. This has led to a 
better understanding of causality, which also allows 
for better forecasting. The IPCC’s scientific reports 
have had a major impact on how the international 
community views developments today. A key mes-
sage is that it is still possible to influence develop-
ments and that it is not too late.

COP26 in Glasgow 
COP26 concluded that significantly greater action 
is needed and that emphasis must also be placed 
on a fair distribution of commitments between 
resource-rich and resource-poor countries. Poorer 
countries can now point to earlier promises that are 
not yet close to being met. The final agreement of 
COP26 contains steps towards achieving the goals 
of the Paris Agreement. Carbon-based fuels are 
specifically mentioned and coal is to be ‘phased 
down’ if not ‘phased out’. Agreement was reached 
on reducing the greenhouse gas methane, stopping 
deforestation and how this can be done. Perhaps 
most importantly, agreements were reached on how 
to report and monitor, and the conditions were creat-
ed for global emissions trading.

AP3 sets goal of investment portfolio being 
greenhouse gas neutral by 2050 
In 2021, AP3’s Board of Directors adopted a sus-
tainability policy that includes a position that AP3’s 
portfolio of investments must be greenhouse gas 
neutral by 2050. At the same time, AP3 is setting 
new goals for work on nature resources and biodi-
versity as an integral part of achieving climate and 
environmental goals.

Timeline 

1972  
The Stockholm 
 Conference is the UN’s 
first global environ-
mental conference.

1992  
The Rio Conference re-
sults in the Convention 
on Biological Diversity. 
In the same year, the UN 
Framework Convention 
on Climate Change is 
adopted.

2015  
The Paris Agreement 
is drawn up at the 21st 
session of the UNFCCC 
in Paris. The Swedish 
Parliament approves the 
agreement in 2016.

2021  
The IPCC’s Sixth 
Assessment Report, 
Climate Change, is 
released and the 26th 
session of the UNFCCC 
takes place in Glasgow. 

2022  
Preparations are under 
way for the continuation 
of the 15th follow-up 
meeting on the Conven-
tion on Biological Diver-
sity, at which new goals 
are expected to be set. 

From the 1972 Stockholm Conference 
to the decade of transition
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The Paris Agreement and Agenda 
2030 are important frameworks in 
Sweden’s environmental work

The Paris Agreement and Agenda 2030 
guide global collaboration between 
governments, civil society and the 
business sector. The 17 Sustainable 

Development Goals (SDGs), which are intended 
to be achieved by 2030, seek to abolish pov
erty, limit climate change and create an equal 
and sustainable world.

The Swedish Parliament has endorsed the Paris 
Agreement and the Sustainable Development Goals 
in Agenda 2030. The frameworks are integrated in 
Sweden’s sustainability work and environmental 
goals adopted by the Swedish Parliament. They are 
key elements in shaping AP3’s sustainability work 
in areas in which the fund’s advocacy can make a 
difference, create value for the pension system and 
contribute to societal development.

The Paris Agreement sets out not only increas-
ingly ambitious commitments for countries to help 
keep global warming well below 2 degrees Celsius, 
but also more specifically how this will be achieved. 
Every country has an obligation to report every five 
years on what it is doing to limit greenhouse gases, 
what it is doing to mitigate their harmful effects 
and how it is helping other countries, for example 
through technology transfer. Countries that are 
more advanced have a duty to help countries that 
are starting from a less favourable position.

AP3 contributes to Agenda 2030 through active 
corporate stewardship and by making investments 
that help to drive the shift to a sustainable economy. 
Here are some examples of the fund’s corporate 
stewardship and investments during the year that 
we believe have a positive impact on selected SDGs:

Goal 5: Gender equality 
By voting for board members, AP3 works to ensure 
a more even gender balance on company boards. 

Goal 6: Clean water and sanitation 
AP3 has invested in water infrastructure, 
focusing on water supply and water treatment.

Goal 7: Affordable and clean energy
Property companies are increasingly investing in 
solar energy as the technology is developed, 
including AP fund-owned Vasakronan. AP3 also 
invests in private equity funds and listed 
companies specialising in renewable energy. The 
Skaftåsen wind farm, which generates about 535 
GWh of electricity, became operational in 2021.

Goal 8: Decent work and  
economic growth
Working conditions and health and safety are 
important issues that AP3 prioritises. The fund 
engages with investees to combat unsafe working 
conditions, workplace accidents, discrimination 
and child labour. The Council on Ethics initiated 
a project to influence human rights in the form 
of privacy protection in the tech sector. An 
expectations document was formulated with 
the Danish Institute for Human Rights.

Goal 9: Industry, innovation  
and infrastructure
AP3’s investments and corporate governance 
help to make resource use more efficient, to raise 
production capacity, and to stimulate innova-
tions and solutions that contribute to the shift 
to a sustainable economy and sustainable 
value creation. 

Goal 11: Sustainable cities  
and communities
The property company Vasakronan is a leader in 
energy-saving and efficient offices and is thus a 
role model for AP3’s other property companies. 
AP3’s property companies Hemsö, Trophi, Regio 
and Trenum are committed to resource efficiency 
and social responsibility, which also boosts 
profitability and produces more attractive 
properties. One example is Hemsö, which is 
creating added value through the Skolgårdslyftet 
project, with the aim of improving schools’ 
outdoor environments so that they better 
promote children’s development and learning.

Goal 12: Responsible  
consumption and production 
AP3 owns 240,000 hectares of forest, more than 
95% of which is environmentally certified. 60% of 
the timber is used as building materials, furniture 
and furnishings, while 40% is used for paper and 
paper-related products.

Goal 13: Climate action
in 2021, AP3 joined PAII, committing to work 
towards the achievement of the Paris Agreement 
goals. AP3 contributes through significant 
investments in forests and green bonds, 
including work on both climate and biodiversity. 
 

Goal 15: Life on land
Sustainable forestry is good for the climate. AP3 
owns 240,000 hectares of production forest that 
is sustainably managed and 28,000 hectares of 
forest with various forms of extended protection.
 
Goal 16: Peace, justice and  
strong institutions 
Tackling financial crime, corruption and money 
laundering is a key pillar of the fund’s corporate 
stewardship. The aim is to prevent financial 
damage to investee companies and investors 
and to minimise the risk of loss of public 
confidence in the financial markets. 
 
Goal 17: Partnerships for the goals 
Collaboration and partnerships are important for 
a pension fund like AP3. Existing climate change 
initiatives: Climate Action 100+, the Task Force 
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), 
the Transition Pathway Initiative (TPI), the Institu-
tional Investor Group on Climate Change (IIGCC) 
and constructive collaborations with pension 
funds and investors in Sweden and abroad. 
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Fund governance 

The fund governance report provides information 
on the governance of the AP funds. The governance 
framework is set by the National Pension Insurance 
Funds Act (2000:192). The report also presents 
AP3’s Board of Directors, committees and executive 
management, how internal and external control works 
and how AP3 is evaluated.

How AP3 is governed

31page

The work of the board in 
2021, annual calendar and 

attendance of members

33page

Internal and  
external control

35page

Review of AP3’s  
management

37page
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Governance, Board of Directors, 
executive management and  
control functions

How AP3 is governed

Parliament

National Pension Insurance  
Funds Act

Government

AP3 board of directors

External auditors

CEO

AP3 executive management

Risk and audit committee

Remuneration committee

Swedish public

Compliance

Risk control

Internal audit

Board administration 
The National Pension Insurance Funds Act gives the 
board of directors full and collective responsibility 
for AP3’s operations and administration, within the 
parameters set by Parliament. Board responsibilities 
and activities not prescribed by statute are set out in 
the board’s work plan, which is approved annually by 
the directors. 

The National Pension Insurance Funds Act re-
quires the board to establish an operating plan. This 
must contain guidelines for investing activities and 
for the fund’s sustainability work, including exercising 
voting rights, and a risk management plan. Beyond 
this, the board’s primary tasks are to set operating 
targets, to recruit and monitor the performance of 
the CEO, to manage strategic documents, to make 
decisions on overall fund strategy – including risk 
appetite, exposure and risk limits, budget approval 
and monitoring – and to monitor results of opera-
tions and the overall focus on sustainability issues. 

At every board meeting the directors discuss 
current asset allocations and any potential changes 
to the portfolio. Implementation is delegated to the 
CEO. Effective control and monitoring are necessary 
to ensure that board decisions are implemented, 
that risk management is effectual and that the fund 
operates in an appropriate manner. 

The risk policy (the risk management plan) sets 
the structure for internal control and risk monitoring. 

Government body governed by National 
Pension Insurance Funds Act 
Like the other AP funds, AP3 is a government body. 
Its operations are almost exclusively governed 
by the National Pension Insurance Funds Act 
(2000:192). The government has waived its regula-
tory oversight over the funds, which thereby differ 
from other government bodies in that each fund’s 
board of directors appoints the CEO and each fund’s 
operations are audited by an external auditor. 

Board of directors 
The AP3 board has nine members, all appointed 
by the government. Two directors are nominated 
by employee organisations and two directors by 
employer organisations. The government chooses 
the chairman and deputy chairman from its own ap-
pointees. The Policy for Governance and Evaluation 
of the AP Funds stipulates that no director may hold 
board membership for more than eight years. 

The National 
Pension Insurance 

Funds Act 
(2000:192) is also 
known as the AP 

Funds Act. 

This fund governance report was pre-
pared in conformity with the Annual 
Accounts Act and relevant parts of the 
Swedish Code of Corporate Govern-

ance. It includes information about the fund’s 
governance, the work and remuneration of the 
Board of Directors, and a summary of board 
activities during the year.
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The board is tasked with approving the sustainability 
and stewardship policy and managing other stew-
ardship policy issues such as the fund’s focus areas 
for each AGM season. When it comes to steward-
ship, the board does not normally decide the Fund’s 
actions in individual cases. Such matters are dele-
gated to the CEO. However, any decision to exclude 
a company from the fund’s investment universe will 
be taken at board level. The CEO and other AP3 em-
ployees also attend board meetings as experts or in 
a reporting capacity. 

Review of the board of directors 
The board conducts an annual review of its own 
performance. The review for 2021 was carried out 
internally by the board based on a number of dis-
cussion questions.

Remuneration of directors 
The government sets the fees and other remu-
neration payable to directors. Board fees are SEK 
200,000 per year for the Chairman, SEK 150,000 
for the Deputy Chairman and SEK 100,000 for other 
directors. The government has an annual fund of 
SEK 100,000 to remunerate directors for commit-
tee work and other assignments. In 2020 the board 
used this fund to pay fees of SEK 26,520 to the chair 
of the risk and audit committee and SEK 21,220 to 
other audit committee members, and fees of SEK 
10,300 to each remuneration committee member 
(including the chair).

Board committees 

1  The risk and audit committee has a financial reporting advisory and 
oversight role on behalf of the board. It supervises financial reporting 
and monitors risk and the audit process. The Fund’s auditors attend 
the audit committee meetings at which the final audit, the adminis-
tration audit and the audit plan are discussed. The committee also 
oversees the effectiveness of internal control and risk management, 
prepares for board decisions on risk management and risk tolerance, 
monitors financial reporting, receives reports on financial control and 
follows up the fund’s annual analysis of operational and enterprise 
risks. It also prepares the internal audit plan for board approval and 
receives reports from the internal auditors on their work. The commit-
tee reports to the board when necessary, ensures any observations 
or deficiencies are addressed and scrutinises the impartiality and 
independence of the auditors. The committee members in 2021 were 
Malin Björkmo (chair) and Johan Bygge. Peter Englund (until 31 May) 
was replaced by Carina Wutzler from 1 June.

 
2  The remuneration committee is tasked with ensuring that salaries 

and other remuneration in the fund are market-based, competitive, 
appropriate and reasonable. It also oversees and monitors the imple-
mentation of government guidelines for employment terms for senior 
officers in the AP funds. The committee prepares issues relating to the 
salary and other benefits for the CEO. The committee also prepares 
the remuneration framework for other employees on behalf of the 
board and evaluates the fund’s performance-based remuneration sys-
tem. In 2021 the committee members were Christina Lindenius (chair), 
Torbjörn Hållö and Ylva Hedén Westerdahl.

The board has two committees – the risk and audit committee 
and the remuneration committee. 
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The board’s calendar is governed by the 31 
May date for the government’s appointment of 
directors and the fund’s financial year, which 
runs from 1 January to 31 December. The 
annual accounts must be submitted to the 
government by the end of February to ensure 
sufficient time to review them and evaluate the 
AP funds’ performance by 1 June. 

Board administration in 2021

EU

EU

EU

RiRU 

RiRU 

RiRU 

RiRU 

However, the board returned to in person meetings 
as of the October board meeting. 

Some important projects within the fund also 
had a significant impact on the work of the board. 
In 2020, work began to develop the fund’s sustain-
ability strategy. This work continued in 2021 and 
various elements of the project were discussed at 
almost all board meetings. A new sustainability poli-
cy was adopted at the inaugural board meeting. The 
2020 budget decision allocated funds for a major 
overhaul of the fund’s IT system structure. This pro-
ject, which will run for several years, is being moni-
tored by the board. In 2022, the fund’s current lease 
will expire. The board has actively followed the work 
on the future premises of the fund. At the August 
meeting, the board authorised the CEO to finalise an 
extension of the lease with the landlord Vasakronan. 

Six meetings are scheduled annually, and this was 
the case in 2021. One of the meetings is a longer 
strategy session that addresses key strategic issues 
and themes. The board year is shown in the annual 
calendar below. The pandemic made it impossible 
to conduct board meetings in person in the normal 
way in the first part of the year. Attendance was pri-
marily via digital video link, a setup that worked well. 

  = Board meeting RiRU  = Risk and audit committee EU  = Remuneration committee

Inaugural board meeting, 
operating plan, goals 

& management princi-
ples, government review, 

 portfolio oversight, 
 compliance report.

Interim report, operating 
plan report from the 

control functions, 
including risk tolerance 
follow-up and corporate 

stewardship.

Annual strategy meeting 
of the board, quarterly 
report and report from 
the control functions, 

including risk tolerance 
follow-up.

Budget, talent manage-
ment, management audit, 
operational risk, portfolio 

oversight, compliance 
report.

Annual report, audit, 
remuneration issues, 

report from the control 
functions including risk 

tolerance follow-up, 
Risk and Compliance 

annual plan, evaluation 
of administration and 
sustainability goals, 

internal audit annual plan

Alternative investments 
and growth plans, 

quarterly report, report 
from the control 

functions, including risk 
tolerance follow-up and 

board review.

Jan

July

AprilOct
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Board meetings in 2021

Board meeting  
attendance (no. held) Remuneration committee Risk and audit committee

Christina Lindenius 6 of 6 Chair (3 of 3)
Peter Englund (until 31 May 2021) 2 of 2 Member until 31 May  

(1 of 1)
Johan Bygge 6 of 6 Member (4 of 4)
Malin Björkmo 6 of 6 Chair (4 of 4)
Magnus Emfel 5 of 6
Hillevi Engström (until 31 May 2021) 1 of 2
Ylva Hedén Westerdahl 6 of 6 Member (3 of 3)
Torbjörn Hållö 6 of 6 Member (3 of 3)
Annelie Söderberg (from 1 June 2021) 4 of 4
Carina Wutzler 5 of 6 Member from 1 June  

(1 of 2)
Peter Wågström (from 1 June 2021) 4 of 4

new risk-free rates in 2022. The fund’s preparations 
were monitored during the year by the Risk and Au-
dit Committee. The entire board was informed about 
the reform and its causes, and the internal prepara-
tory work, at the December meeting. 

In the context of the extension, the premises will be 
converted to meet current and future needs better, 
and also to adapt them to new requirements. The 
board also actively followed the preparations to 
return to more normal working conditions after 
the pandemic.

Focus in 2021 
A combined inaugural meeting and strategy meeting 
was held in June. In addition to sustainability issues, 
the strategy meeting addressed internal versus 
external management, geographical allocation and 
weighting of the equity portfolio and inflation risks. 

Two investments were discussed in detail by 
the board. The investment in Northvolt was made 
through 4to1 Investments, a company jointly owned 
by AP1 and AP4. The second investment concerns a 
major forestry investment in the US.

The Board also decided on a revised definition 
of the risk tolerance for available liquidity and the 
assets that ensure liquidity to meet the available 
liquidity requirement. In addition to the Govern-
ment’s review, the board also discussed the Swedish 
National Audit Office’s review of the AP funds’ sus-
tainability work.

During the year, the board received various in-
depth presentations on management. The review 
of alternative investments included a review of 
the asset classes of regulated infrastructure and 
insurance linked securities (ILS). One of the biggest 
changes in the financial market for many years is the 
IBOR reform, i.e. the transition to risk-free reference 
rates. Interbank offered rates (IBOR), which are cur-
rently used as reference rates in a variety of financial 
contracts, will be gradually phased out globally and 
replaced by risk-free rates. Several key reference 
rates [LIBOR (USD), LIBOR (EUR)] will be replaced by 
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Internal and external control

tion to KPMG, which conducted two audits in 2021, 
an audit of processes related to compliance with the 
Market Abuse Regulation and an audit of the first and 
second lines of defence of the fund. KPMG identified 
areas for improvement that the fund then addressed.

External auditors 
AP3’s auditors are appointed by the government, 
which selected PwC as auditor of the AP funds after 
a public procurement process. The auditors are 
Helena Kaiser de Carolis and Peter Nilsson. Peter 
Nilsson is also responsible for coordinating the audit 
process between the AP funds. The auditors’ work 
includes reviewing AP3’s operating activities, includ-
ing internal control, administration, annual financial 
statements and accounting records. They express 
an opinion on the accounting records and the ad-
ministration based on their audit. Their mandate 
also includes verifying that AP3 follows the account-
ing and valuation policies agreed jointly by the AP 
funds and that the accounting records provide a true 
and fair view of the fund’s operating activities.

Risk management 
Every year, the Board of Directors sets the fund’s 
operational objectives for the real return on assets 

Board responsibilities include maintaining effective 
internal control. To ensure this, the board adopts 
general policies that describe the framework of 
AP3’s internal governance and control, on the basis 
of which the CEO establishes instructions. 

Internal control 
AP3 follows the three lines of defence principle, un-
der which the fund’s asset management teams are 
responsible for identifying and managing the risks 
that arise in day-to-day operations. The second line 
of defence comprises the fund’s independent risk 
control and compliance departments, which monitor 
and check that this is done appropriately. 

The control departments report regularly to the 
risk and audit committee and the board at their 
scheduled meetings. When a significant incident 
occurs or the need arises, the board is informed 
immediately. Internal audit is the third line of de-
fence. Its role is to carry out controls to ensure that 
AP3’s internal governance and control environment 
are fit for purpose and effectual and that the Fund 
is aligned with the policies approved by the board. 
Internal audit reports are reviewed by the risk and 
audit committee and reported to the board. 

The fund has outsourced the internal audit func-

Read more about 
internal risk 

management on 
pages 49-50

The first line of defence is the investment organisation, which includes all asset management units 
and supporting business functions. Responsibility for risk management thus exists where the risk 
arises. Controls are are performed continuously along the entire transaction flow. Each employee 
and head of department is responsible for identifying and managing risk within their own area of 
responsibility.

1

2

3

Three lines of defence for managing risk

The second line of defence comprises the risk control and compliance functions. The control teams 
ensure that the organisation and its relevant parts stay within stipulated limits and comply with applicable 
restrictions and instructions while the first line of defence manages identified risks effectively. The 
compliance function oversees regulatory compliance and monitors operational risks. The risk control 
function supervises financial risks. The risk control and compliance functions are both independent and 
organisationally separate from the parts of the organisation that make investment decisions. The CRO, 
who is responsible for the risk control function, and the Compliance Officer report to the CEO and to the 
board of directors.

The third line of defence is internal audit. The internal audit function is in charge of safeguarding the 
quality of the fund’s risk management by performing regular audits and evaluations of relevant areas 
to ensure they are effectual and appropriate. The results of these valuations are used to strengthen 
the processes of the other lines of defence. AP3 subcontracts internal audit to an external audit 
firm appointed by the board. The firm reports to the board and the risk and audit committee and is 
independent of AP3 and its operating activities. The risk and audit committee commissions an annual 
review of internal audit.
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Limits regulated by law for financial risks

Liquidity risk Total risk level Currency exposure Voting restriction
Ceiling of Swedish  
listed equities 

No more than 40% of the 
fund’s assets may be 
invested in illiquid assets 
at the time of investment.

At least 20% of the fund’s 
assets must be invested 
in fixed income securities 
with low credit and 
 liquidity risk.

Currency exposure may 
not exceed 40% of the 
fund’s assets.

The fund may not hold 
more than 10% of the 
 voting rights in a single 
listed company.

The fund’s investments 
in Swedish regulated 
 markets may not exceed 
2% of the total market 
value.

 

under management to be achieved over time. This is 
based on an overall assessment of the fund’s ability 
to maximise the benefits of its role as a buffer fund 
in the state income pension system without expos-
ing the capital to risks that jeopardise age cohort 
neutrality. The operational objective is expected to 
be achieved through the investment of the fund’s 
capital, which exposes it to a range of financial risks. 
The over-all limits on the fund’s financial risk expo-
sure are set out in the National Pension Funds Act, 
as briefly described below. Based on these limits 
and the level of the operational objective, the board 
formulates an overall risk appetite that indicates 
which risks and to what extent these are accepted 
to achieve the objectives. The risk appetite is then 
specified through the board’s risk tolerance, which 
indicates the limits within which the various risks 
must be located, and these are then monitored and 
reported back on to the board every quarter. 

The management policy is a steering document 
that describes the main operational risks, the 
board’s risk appetite and how risks should be man-
aged, monitored and controlled. The CEO is respon-
sible for day-to-day management and compliance 
with board guidelines. The CEO is tasked with ensur-
ing good governance and control and is responsible 
for risk control and reporting. 

Risk 
philosophy

Risk appetite

Risk tolerance

Internal instructions, processes and risk mandates

Level of detail
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Return  
against target

Compared  
to LSP

Benchmark  
group, CEM

Evaluation 
against  
sustainability
goals

1   Return against target 
AP3 evaluates the returns achieved against the long-term return 
target, which was 4% real return until 2019 and is 3.5% real return 
from 2020. The evaluation has been carried out both since its 
inception in 2001 and on an ongoing basis over 10-year periods. 
Average real return since inception stands at 5.5% per annum. In 
the last 10 years, this figure has been considerably higher, reach-
ing 9.8% per annum. 

2   Return compared to long-term static 
portfolio (LSP) 

AP3’s earnings are compared to the return 
on a portfolio that represents the cheapest 
available asset management alternative. 
The LSP has a 55:45 mix of listed equities 
and bonds, is rebalanced monthly and has 
no transaction costs. The LSP represents a 
portfolio with a level of long-term risk on a par 
with that of the Fund. Potential return on this 
level of risk varies over time but in the long run 
there should be a reasonable chance of reaching 
the target set by the board. Benchmarking performance 
against the LSP evaluates the efficacy of AP3’s chosen ap-
proach to invest in a more advanced asset management model 
and put greater reliance on active management. In 2021 the AP3 
portfolio generated a return of 20.7% after expenses, compared to 
15.1% for the LSP. In monetary terms, this represents a difference 
of SEK 23.7 billion. Since the introduction of the LSP in 2012, 
AP3’s investment management has outperformed the LSP by 61 
percentage points, which represents a gain of SEK 111.9 billion for 
the pension system. 

The 2020 survey by Canadian consultancy CEM Benchmarking showed 
that AP3’s expenses were on average 26% lower than those of international 
peers with a similar profile in the prior five years. The Fund has participated 
in CEM’s annual international survey since 2005. The survey benchmarks 
AP3 against other international pension funds with similar profiles. 

Since the launch of the benchmarking process in 2012, AP3’s investment 
returns have outperformed the LSP by 61 percentage points, 
 

AP3 expenses versus benchmark group, indexed 2005–2020AP3 performance versus LSP, indexed 2012–2021 
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How AP3’s asset management 
is evaluated
Evaluations apply four metrics that are based on 
the fund’s financial and sustainability goals. 

3   Key figures benchmarked against peer group 
AP3 aims to meet a high international standard in asset man-
agement and benchmarks its costs and expenses against global 
peers. Consultancy firm CEM Benchmarking compares AP3’s cost 
base with that of other funds which share a similar profile in terms 
of assets under management, target returns and overall mission. 
From 2016 to 2020, AP3’s expenses were 26% lower than the 

benchmark group average.

 4   Evaluation of sustainability goals
AP3’s overall sustainability goals for 2025 

reflect the fund’s belief that setting measura-
ble targets drives positive change. The goals 
address the areas in which AP3 is best placed 
to exert an impact on climate change without 
compromising its mission to maximise in-
vestment returns. They involve mitigating the 

risk of global warming by halving the portfolio’s 
carbon footprint, by conducting scenario-based 

analysis of climate-related risks, by doubling 
holdings of green bonds and strategic sustainable 

investments and by driving the development of green 
properties. See page 26. 

AP3’s corporate stewardship objectives include requirements 
for change to achieve effective corporate governance. AP3 will 
work to ensure compliance with the seven principles of the fund's 
Stewardship Policy, which means, for example, that companies 
should have a balanced capital structure with appropriate share 
issue and buy-back powers, that company boards should have a 
balanced gender balance, that company auditors are independent 
and that management remuneration systems contribute to long-
term shareholder value creation.

AP3 LSP AP3 Benchmark group
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JOHAN BYGGE 
Deputy Chairman, elected 2019 
 
Other current assignments: Chairman of 
Nobina AB, Scandi Standard and Guard 
Therapeutics International. Director of Getinge 
AB, Capman OYJ, Praktikertjänst, Lantmännen, 
Baltic Deep Water Life and supervisory board 
member at Centre for Business and Policy 
Studies (SNS).

Previously: Deputy Group Controller at 
Ericsson. Senior positions at Electrolux 
including CFO and Deputy Managing Director, 
CFO of Investor, COO of EQT. Director of AP1, 
Swedish Central Bank’s Jubilee Fund, I-Med 
Australia, 3 Scandinavia, Anticimex, ILA 
Vietnam, Swiss AG and Sanitec OY.

BSc, Stockholm School of Economics.  
Year of birth 1956. 

AP3 board of directors

CHRISTINA LINDENIUS 
Chairman, elected 2017 
 
Other current assignments: CEO of Swedish 
insurance industry and employers’ association 
FAO, and head of Svensk Försäkring i 
Samverkan (SFIS). Chairman of Min Pension 
i Sverige, Swedish Motor Insurers (TFF), 
Svensk Försäkring Administration and National 
Government Service Centre. Board member at 
Försäkringsbranschens Pensionskassa (FPK), 
Centrum för AMP and Swedish International 
Olympic Committee Supervisory Board. 

Previously: Director-General of Premium 
Pension Authority, Deputy Director at the 
Ministry of Finance and Head of Department at 
Swedish Central Bank.

BSc Uppsala University, Master Programme in 
International Economics, SAIS, John Hopkins 
University, Washington DC.  
Year of birth 1964.

MAGNUS EMFEL 
Elected 2019 
 
Other current assignments: Chief Economist, 
WWF Foundation.

Previously: Positions at Social Venture Network 
Sweden, Swedish Forum for Sustainable 
Investment, SWESIF and Etikakademin.

BSc Stockholm University and IHM Business 
School. Year of birth 1965.

MALIN BJÖRKMO 
Elected 2016 
 
Other current assignments: Corporate 
governance and financial regulatory affairs 
adviser. Director of Handelsbanken Fonder, 
Trygg-Stiftelsen, Lumera, Euro Accident 
Livförsäkring, Infranode and Gamla 
Livförsäkringsaktiebolaget SEB Trygg Liv. 
Deputy Chairman of Disciplinnämnden för 
Försäkringsdistribution.

Previously: Area Director of Swedish Financial 
Supervisory Authority, Head of State Ownership 
Department at Government Offices, CEO 
of Storebrand Liv Sweden, Head of Asset 
Management at Skandia Liv.

Lic Econ, Stockholm School of Economics.  
Year of birth 1962.

TORBJÖRN HÅLLÖ 
Elected 2018 
 
Other current assignments: Economist at 
Swedish Trade Union Confederation (LO) and 
Deputy Head of LO’s Economic Policy Unit.

BSc Gothenburg School of Business, 
Economics and Law, BA Lund University.  
Year of birth 1976.

YLVA HEDÉN WESTERDAHL 
Elected 2019 
 
Other current assignments: Director of 
Forecasting and Acting Director-General of 
National Institute of Economic Research. 
Director of Swedish National Debt Office.

Previously: Director of National Accounts at 
Statistics Sweden, Director of Macroeconomic 
Affairs Unit of Ministry of Finance, Director 
of Monetary Policy Research Unit at Swedish 
Central Bank.

Ph.D. (Econ), University of London.  
Year of birth 1965.
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Executive management

KERSTIN HESSIUS 
CEO 
Joined AP3 in September 
2004

Other current 
assignments: Director 
of Vasakronan, Hemsö, 
Trenum, Handelsbanken 
and Riksbankens 
Jubileumsfond. 

Previously: CEO of 
Stockholmsbörsen, Deputy 
Governor of the Swedish 
Central Bank, CEO of 
Östgöta Enskilda Bank 
Asset Management, Nordic 
Head of Fixed Income 
Alfred Berg, CEO of Alfred 
Berg Transferator. 

BSc. Year of birth 1958.

ANNELIE SÖDERBERG 
Elected 2021 
 
Other current assignments: Head of 
Negotiation, Swedish Association of Health 
Professionals.

Previously: Deputy Chairman of PP Pension, 
director of Monyx, CEO of Bankanställdas 
Pensionstjänst and CEO of Svenska 
Lärarfonder.

University courses in business administration, 
marketing and labour law. Year of birth 1959.

PABLO BERNENGO 
Chief Investment Officer,  
Joined AP3 in November 
2019

Previously: CEO Öhman 
Fonder, CIO Öhman 
Fonder, Portfolio Manager 
DNB/Skandia/Carlson 
Investment Management. 

BSc. Year of birth 1974.

CARINA WUTZLER 
Elected 2020 
 
Other current assignments: Mayor, 
Commissioner and City Councillor of Vellinge 
Municipality. Director of Vellinge Koncern and 
Vellinge Kommunlokal, board member of the 
Swedish Association of Local Authorities and 
Regions’ Negotiation Board and Sobona.

University studies in public and municipal 
administration in Lund. Year of birth 1970.

EVA BORIC 
Chief Financial Officer  
and Chief Risk Officer 
Joined AP3 in August 2018

Previously: Senior risk 
management positions 
at SEB. Development 
specialist at Nasdaq OMX.

BSc. Year of birth 1976.

LIL LARÅS 
LINDGREN 
Head of Communications 
Joined AP3 in February 
2014

Other current 
assignments: Director of 
Urban Design architectural 
firm and Swesif Sweden’s 
Sustainable Investment 
Forum.

Previously: Senior 
communications positions 
at Ericsson, Attendo, Tetra 
Pak, Hemfrid, Swedish 
Travel and Tourism 
Council, Philipson Bil 
and communications 
consulting. 

Degrees from RMI Berghs 
and Uppsala University. 
Year of birth 1962.

ZORICA BODIROZA 
Head of Human 
Resources  
Joined AP3 in January 
2016

Other current 
assignments: Small 
assignments for Bodiroza 
HR Performance.

Previously: Senior human 
resources positions at 
Ericsson, AstraZeneca, 
Coca-Cola, Hi3G Access 
and Carlson Rezidor and 
consulting in business 
transformation and human 
resources.

BA Stockholm University 
and Executive MBA Henley 
Risk Management School. 
Year of birth 1967.

PETER WÅGSTRÖM 
Elected 2021 
 
Other current assignments: Chairman of 
Arlandastad Group, Brunkeberg System and 
Assentio. Director of Amasten Fastighets AB, 
Eastnine and NIAM.

Previously: President and CEO of NCC and 
senior positions in the construction and 
property sector.

MSc in Engineering, Royal Institute of 
Technology, Stockholm. Year of birth 1964.
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Administration report 2021

The return for 2021 was 20.7% after expenses, and at year-end fund capital 
stood at SEK 502.3 billion. In the last 10 years AP3 has achieved an average 
annual real return of 9.8%. The Fund's real return target is an annual average of 
3.5% over time. Expenses in relation to fund capital amounted to 0.08% in 2021. 

SEK bn  
Fund capital at  

year-end

502.3
Total return after 

expenses

20.7%
SEK bn 

Disbursed to the pension 
system in the year

7.5
SEK bn 

Net result for 2021

86.8

40

Key financial data and GRIAP3 as a buffer fund Sustainability Fund governance Administration report

AP3 Annual Report 2021

Administration report



Net result for 2021 
Net profit was SEK 86,841 million (37,179), repre-
senting a return of 20.8% (9.8) before expenses and 
20.7% (9.7) after expenses. 

Real return (adjusted for inflation) was 16.2% (9.1). 
The inflation rate in 2021 was 3.9% (0.5). The fund's 
long-term target since 2020 has been an average 
annual real return of 3.5%. Prior to that, the long-term 
return target was 4.0% in real terms. The new target 
better reflects the needs and risks of the Swedish 
pension system. In the last 10 years, the Fund has 
achieved an average annual real return of 9.8% (7.7). 

The average annual nominal return for this 10-year 
period stands at 11.1% (8.7), compared with the 2.7% 
(2.7) average increase in the income index over the 
same period. By outperforming its long-term target 
for real return, AP3 has made a positive contribution 
to the pension system during this period. 

Fund capital stood at SEK 502,287 million 
(422,974) at year-end, an increase of SEK 79,313 
million on the previous year. 

The Fund made a net payment of SEK 7,528 
million (7,902) to the pension system in 2021. 
Since 2009, AP3 has paid SEK 72,653 million to the 
Swedish Pensions Agency to help finance the deficit 
between pension contributions and disbursements 
and the agency’s administrative costs. 

Income
Income after commission expenses was SEK 
87,075 million (37,401). Income consisted primarily 
of realised and unrealised changes in the value of 
financial assets, which are measured at fair value at 
the reporting date. Other income consisted of net 
interest income, dividends received and net currency 
income. Changes in foreign exchange rates had a 
positive impact of SEK 4,425 million (-4,897) on the 
net result. Net currency income consists of changes 
in exposure to different currencies, primarily through 
the Fund’s foreign investments. 

Commission expenses totalled SEK 142 million 
(126) in 2021 and are recognised as a deduction 
from income because they are directly attributable 
to the cost of acquiring income. These costs com-
prise management fees for external mandates, fund 
management fees, custody fees and costs of hold-
ing collateral during clearing. Commission expenses 
totalled 0.03% (0.03) of average fund capital. 

Operating expenses
Operating expenses were SEK 234 million (222). 
SEK 147 million (138) of operating expenses consist-
ed of staff costs. Operating expenses were 0.05% 
(0.06) of average fund capital for the year. 

Risk exposure
AP3 tracks portfolio risk exposure daily using a 
variety of methods and metrics. One metric is value 
at risk (VaR). A VaR with a 95% confidence level 
indicates a 95% probability that the daily negative 
change in portfolio value will not exceed the meas-
ured amount. At year-end, VaR for the total portfolio 
stood at SEK 2,955 million (2,220). The listed equi-
ties asset class has the largest exposure and is also 
the portfolio’s largest source of risk. Diversification 
between asset classes and geographic markets 
helps to reduce overall portfolio risk. 

Significant events after the reporting date
No significant events occurred after the 
reporting date. 

Change in fund capital

SEK m 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
Fund capital at 1 Jan 422,974 393,696 340,668 345,239 324,375 303,031 288,332 258,475 232,956 214,106
Pension contributions 75,597 73,872 72,344 69,552 66,850 64,174 61,373 58,880 56,839 55,441
Pension disbursements -82,889 -81,564 -78,678 -76,109 -73,999 -70,595 -66,142 -63,777 -63,488 -59,009
Administration fee to the Swedish Pensions Agency -236 -210 -185 -216 -226 -216 -176 -224 -230 -220
Net result for the year 86,841 37,179 59,549 2,202 28,239 27,981 19,643 34,977 32,398 22,638
Total fund capital at 31 Dec 502,287 422,974 393,696 340,668 345,239 324,375 303,031 288,332 258,475 232,956

Expenses in last 10 years

SEK m 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
Commission expenses, SEK m 142 126 122 117 152 180 170 162 155 119
Operating expenses, SEK m 234 222 212 202 195 186 192 178 173 183
Asset management costs, SEK m 377 348 334 320 347 366 362 340 328 302
Commission cost ratio, % 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.05 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.05
Operating cost ratio, % 0.05 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.07 0.07 0.08
Asset management cost ratio, % 0.08 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.10 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.13 0.14
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Long-term return target
AP3’s board has set a long-term target for an aver-
age annual real return of 3.5%. It applies from 2020 
and was previously 4%. The target is set using the 
Fund's ALM analysis, which is carried out every 
three years (most recently in 2019). The target is a 
reasonable balance of expected return and risk, given 
the Fund's remit for income pension systems to gen-
erate a high return, while neutrality across genera-
tions/age cohorts is expected to be achieved. 

The portfolio’s asset classes
AP3 invests mainly in risk assets in order to achieve 

its return target over time. The Fund’s asset classes 
are listed equities, fixed income and alternative 
investments. Fixed income investments consist of 
bonds, other fixed income securities and cash. Alter-
native investments consist of private equity funds, 
real-estate, infrastructure assets, timberland and 
insurance risk. The Fund’s absolute return strate-
gies, which consist of both internal risk mandates 
to which no capital is allocated, and investments 
in hedge funds, are classed as ‘other strategies’. 
Currency risk management is a specific area that is 
managed and reported separately. 

AP3’s portfolio

Currencies

AP3 portfolio structure showing asset classes and sub-groups. 

Listed equities Absolute return strategies

Risk premium strategies

Total  
AP3 portfolio

Other strategies

Infrastructure

Timberland

Insurance risk

Alternative credits

Private equity funds

Real-estate

Alternative investments

Government bonds

Inflation-linked bonds

Investment grade  
(IG) bonds

Sub-IG/unrated bonds

Fixed incomeListed equities

Exposure, asset classesExposure, asset management

Equities
44.9%

Fixed income 
investments 
27.4%

Alternative 
investments 
28.8% Equities  

Sweden 
12.3%

Insurance risk 
0.7%

Timber-
land 
2.3%

Infra-
structure 
3.9%

Real-estate 
16.0%

Inflation- 
linked bonds 
5.6%

Equities  
global 

32.6%

Government bonds 
16.1%

Credits
5.5%

Private equity funds
5.9%
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AP3’s investments generated a return of 20.8% 
before expenses. The main contributors were listed 
equities, at 11.1 percentage points, and alternative 
investments, at 7.6 percentage points. The Fund's 
currency exposure contributed 2.0 percentage 
points to the portfolio's return because of the weak-
ening in the Swedish krona. 

The major factor influencing market performance 
in 2021 was the economic recovery that followed 
the global recession in 2020. Real growth was high 
during the year, as expected, although the pandemic 
remained a factor. In many parts of the world, the eco-
nomic upturn led to strong demand for goods, energy 

Returns by asset class
and labour, causing inflation to rise rapidly. Several 
central banks raised interest rates during the year, al-
though the major central banks in the US and Europe 
only started to move towards a less expansionary 
monetary policy towards the end of the year. The con-
tinued expansionary monetary policy during the year 
contributed to high returns on financial investments.

Sweden and the Riksbank did not deviate from this 
trend, and the Swedish economy performed strong-
ly without the Riksbank changing its policy. 

The year ended with uncertainty about a new 
coronavirus variant that was spreading rapidly 
around the world.

Equity markets 2021 (local currency)
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Listed equities
Listed equities returned 23.8% (15.1) and contributed 
11.1% (8.0) to the total portfolio return. AP3’s expo-
sure to listed equities accounted for 44.9% (45.6) 
at year-end and represents the portfolio’s largest 
asset class and its largest source of risk. Exposure 
to listed equities varied from 43.9% to 48.2% during 
the year. 

The economic recovery led to strong equities 
gains in many regions and sectors. Consumer 
spending, in particular, became a strong driver as 

Portfolio structure

Market value (SEK m) Exposure (%) Return (%) Contribution (%)
Listed equities 233,995 44.9 23.8 11.1

Sweden 62,905 12.3 32.5 3.9
Global 171,089 32.6 20.7 7.2

Fixed income investments 123,255 27.4 0.2 0.1
Government bonds 67,539 16.2 -2.1 -0.3
Inflation-linked bonds 28,663 5.6 5.2 0.3
Credits 27,053 5.5 0.5 0.0

Alternative investments 144,848 28.8 30.7 7.6
Real-estate 80,129 16.0 34.4 4.7
Private equity funds 29,762 5.9 62.8 2.6
Infrastructure 19,613 3.9 3.6 0.1
Timberland 11,729 2.3 5.1 0.1
Insurance risk 3,615 0.7 3.7 0.0

Other strategies 194 -0.7 0.1
Currency 2.0
Total 502,287 100.4 20.8 20.8

government stimulus measures reached private in-
dividuals. Many industries benefited, such as IT, con-
sumer goods, banking, energy and pharma ceutical 
companies, as well as real-estate.

Once again, the US and Europe performed best, 
with Sweden at the top; markets where AP3 has its 
largest exposures. Performance was much weaker 
in emerging markets, which have not had the same 
focus on economic stimulus. 

Return on listed 
equities

23.8%

return before  
expenses

20.8%
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Fixed income investments
Fixed income investments returned 0.2% (5.1), repre-
senting a contribution of 0.1 percentage points (1.6) 
for the entire portfolio. 

This asset class accounted for 27.4% (31.0) of the 
portfolio's exposure. Fixed income exposure varied 
from 24.2% to 31.8% during the year. At year-end, 
the fixed income portfolio was structured as follows: 
59% government and government-backed bonds, 
20% credit bonds, and 20% inflation-indexed bonds. 
Some 70.6% (22) of fixed income investments were 
in bonds assigned the top AAA credit rating by 
Standard & Poor’s and 70.8% (66) of the portfo-
lio had AAA or AA ratings. The National Pension 
Insurance Funds Act requires a minimum 20% of 
fund capital to be invested in low-risk bonds. AP3’s 
holdings in this category averaged 24.7% (25.5) of 
fund capital in 2021. 

Bond yields rose rapidly at the start of the year as 
economies around the world began to recover. This 
was largely driven by rising inflation expectations 
as energy and other commodity prices rose. For a 
long time, there was an expectation that the major 
central banks would not tighten monetary policy, 
despite rising inflation expectations. As a result, real 
interest rates remained very low throughout the year 
and monetary policy very expansionary, which also 
supported the credit market. 

Towards the end of the year, persistently high infla-
tion led the US Federal Reserve to announce a rapid 

end to bond purchases and an increase in the policy 
rate in 2022. However, this only led to marginally 
higher short-term interest rates.

Since the 2008/09 financial crisis, regulators 
around the world have increased the requirements 
for how benchmark interest rates are established. 
This has included the decision to replace the London 
interbank LIBOR rates with reference rates. The 
IBOR reform, as the change is called, is being imple-
mented at different times in different markets. For 
AP3, this has meant that new calculation methods 
and discount curves have had to be developed to 
calculate the value of floating-rate securities. Chang-
es in value due to the IBOR reform are expected to 
be marginal for the majority of the Fund's float-
ing-rate securities. However, for both accounting 
and liquidity reasons, it is important to adapt all rel-
evant systems to the new reference rates and calcu-
lation methodology in a timely manner. The reform 
also has the potential to affect fundamental agree-
ments on derivatives trading. The Fund is therefore 
reviewing the OTC derivatives trading agreements 
with all counterparties to ensure that their handling 
of IBOR reform is in line with market practice. 

Holdings of green bonds increased during the 
year to 18% (15) of fixed income investments, which 
equates to SEK 23 billion (19). The Fund aims to 
have at least SEK 30 billion invested in green bonds 
by 2025. 

Yield curves in 2021 (10-year government bonds)

Sweden US Germany UK Japan Italy US (real yield curve)
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Alternative investments
Alternative investments generated a return of 30.7% 
(9.1), corresponding to a contribution of 7.6 percent-
age points (2.3) to total return. 

Of the 28.8% (24.9) of the AP3 portfolio that is held 
in alternative investments, 26.6 percentage points 
(22.5) relate to unlisted investments. Exposure to 
alternative investments varied from 23.8% to 28.9% 
during the year. 

Real-estate accounts for more than half the 
Fund’s alternative investments, with this exposure 
accounting for 16.0% (14.4) of the total portfolio. 
Real- estate investments consist of direct invest-
ments in property companies Vasakronan, Hemsö, 
Trophi, Regio and Trenum, the listed property com-
pany Sagax, and smaller investments in real-estate 
funds. Vasakronan, Sweden’s largest real-estate 
company, is owned jointly by AP1, AP2, AP3 and 
AP4. It invests chiefly in office and retail properties 
in central locations in Swedish cities. Vasakronan 
generated a return of 23.4% (5.6). Hemsö, which 
specialises in public-services properties, generated 
a return of 42.1% (17.8%). AP3 funded a capital injec-
tion of SEK 850 million in 2021 to finance Hemsö’s 
continued expansion. AP3 is the majority share-
holder in Hemsö, which is jointly owned with Sagax. 
Trophi, Regio and Trenum recorded returns of 34.5% 
(13.1), 20.7% (4.9) and 16.9% (9.3) respectively. 
Publicly listed company Sagax generated a return of 
81.1% (25.8). Together, the Fund’s property holdings 
produced a return of 34.4% (11.6). 

AP3 owns a mature and diverse portfolio of private 
equity funds. During the year, the Fund made new 

investment commitments to 18 funds. Investments 
in private equity funds totalled SEK 29.8 billion (17.8) 
at year-end and generated a return of 62.8% (15.1). 

AP3’s infrastructure investments totalled SEK 19.6 
billion (15.9). They comprise the co-ownership of two 
companies, Ellevio and Polhem Infra, and invest-
ments in infrastructure funds. Ellevio owns and man-
ages local and regional electricity grids and is owned 
by AP3, Omers Infrastructure, Folksam and AP1. 
Polhem Infra is an unlisted company owned by AP1, 
AP3 and AP4. It was founded in 2019 to invest in sus-
tainable infrastructure. In 2021, the company com-
pleted the acquisition of Telia Carrier, a world leader 
in digital highways for data traffic. The purchase 
means that Polhem Infra becomes the owner of more 
than 74,000 km of fibre network with 320 connection 
points worldwide. The company is being acquired for 
a value of just over SEK 9 billion on a debt-free basis. 
Infrastructure investments recorded a return of 3.7% 
(-2.3) during the year. AP3’s infrastructure invest-
ments account for 3.9% (3.8) of the total portfolio. 

The Timberland asset class consists of co-owned 
companies and holdings in funds. In 2021, timber-
land in Texas worth USD 500 million was acquired 
in a strategic partnership with Hancock Natural 
Resource Group. Timberland investments generated 
a return of 5.1% (13.4). 

Insurance risk consists of exposures to underlying 
risk arising from natural disasters, weather events 
and epidemics. Insurance-related investments to-
talled SEK 3.6 billion (4.8) at year-end and generated 
a return of 3.7% (-3.5).

return on alternative 
investments

30.7%

Other strategies
The other strategies asset class consists of internal 
‘absolute return strategies’ and external investments 
in hedge funds. Internal absolute return strategies 
are based on risk mandates instead of capital alloca-
tions. The mandates are for trading equities, bonds 
and currencies. Other strategies contributed 0.1 
percentage points (0.0) to overall return. 

percentage point contribution 
from other strategies to the 

Fund’s overall return.
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Currency
Currency contributed 2.0 percentage points (-2.1) 
to overall return. 

AP3’s currency exposure was 21.1% (17.5) at year-
end. Currency exposure varied from 17.1% to 22.2% 
during the year. 

The currency asset class relates to AP3’s net in-
come from currency exposure after hedging against 
changes in currency values relative to the Swedish 
krona and from direct currency strategies. Currency 

positions are taken to increase returns and to reduce 
risk in the overall portfolio. The Swedish krona weak-
ened against most major currencies during the year, 
with the biggest change being a 10% increase in the 
US dollar’s value against the krona. A weaker krona 
results in positive currency returns because the 
Fund’s foreign exchange investments gain in value 
when measured in Swedish kronor. 

Exposure by asset class 

31 Dec, 2021 Listed equities Fixed income
Alternative  

investments Other strategies Currency¹ Total AP3

Exposure, SEK m 225,379 137,566 144,861 -3,566 105,981 504,239
Exposure, % 44.9 27.4 28.8 -0.7 21.1 100.4

 

31 Dec, 2020 Listed equities Fixed income
Alternative  

investments Other strategies Currency¹ Total AP3

Exposure, SEK m 192,865 131,288 105,314 -5,498 74,039 423,969
Exposure, % 45.6 31.0 24.9 -1.3 17.5 100.2

 Returns by asset class

31 Dec, 2021 Listed equities Fixed income
Alternative  

investments Other strategies Currency¹ Total AP3

Return, % 23.8 0.2 30.7 0.1 - 20.8
Contribution to total return, 
percentage points 11.1 0.1 7.6 0.1 2.0 20.8
Share of total return, % 53.2 0.3 36.6 0.3 9.4 100

31 Dec, 2020 Listed equities Fixed income
Alternative  

investments Other strategies Currency¹ Total AP3

Return, % 15.1 5.1 9.1 0.0 - 9.8
Contribution to total return, 
percentage points 8.0 1.6 2.3 0.0 -2.1 9.8
Share of total return, % 82.1 15.9 23.5 -0.3 -21.4 100.0
 

Asset classes 

1)  Currency exposure shows the ratio of assets held in foreign currency and cannot be added to total exposure. 

percentage points – the 
contribution of currency 
to the Fund's total return
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10-year summary, portfolio

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
Income and flows
SEK bn
Net result for the year 86.8 37.2 59.5 2.2 28.2 28.0 19.6 35.0 32.4 22.6
Net flow to pension system -7.5 -7.9 -6.5 -6.8 -7.4 -6.6 -4.9 -5.1 -6.9 -3.8
Fund capital at 31 Dec 1 502.3 423.0 393.7 340.7 345.2 324.4 303.0 288.3 258.5 233.0

Return and expenses, total portfolio
%
Return before expenses 20.8 9.8 17.7 0.7 8.9 9.5 6.9 13.8 14.2 10.7
Operating expenses 0.05 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.07 0.07 0.08
Commission expenses 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.05 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.05
Total operating and commission expenses 0.08 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.10 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.13 0.14
Return after expenses 20.7 9.7 17.6 0.6 8.8 9.4 6.8 13.7 14.1 10.7
Rate of inflation 3.9 0.5 1.8 2.0 1.7 1.7 0.1 -0.3 0.1 -0.1
Real return after expenses 16.2 9.1 15.6 -1.4 6.9 7.6 6.7 14.1 14.0 10.7
SEK bn
Income (incl. commission expenses) 87.1 37.4 59.8 2.4 28.4 28.2 19.8 35.2 32.6 22.8
Operating expenses 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1
Result after expenses 86.8 37.2 59.5 2.2 28.2 28.0 19.6 35.0 32.4 22.6

Annualised nominal return after expenses
%
Five years (2017–2021) 11.3 9.1 8.5 7.8 10.5 10.9 8.4 8.8 9.3 1.9
Ten years (2012–2021) 11.1 8.7 8.7 8.5 6.1 5.7 5.7 6.8 6.5 6.7

Risk
Risk (1-yr standard deviation) for total 
portfolio, %

5.2 10.8 4.2 5.4 3.5 6.2 7.0 4.7 4.9 5.3

Sharpe ratio 4.0 0.9 4.3 0.3 2.8 1.6 1.0 2.8 2.8 1.8
Risk (10-yr standard deviation), % 6.3 7.0 6.0 6.3 7.6 8.0 8.1 7.8 7.9

Currency exposure
% of total portfolio2 21.1 17.5 19.5 17.7 15.0 17.5 22.8 24.4 20.4 22.0

External management
% of total portfolio 31 29 31 26 25 29 31 33 35 36

Employees
No. of employees at 31 Dec 61 60 58 59 57 57 51 57 53 56

1) Fund capital at inception on 1 January 2001 was SEK 134.0 billion.
2) Excluding exposure to SEK-listed companies with foreign domicile.
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Responsible management that delivers high-cost 
effectiveness and stability over time is key for AP3. 
Cost efficiency is always in the spotlight and the Fund 
carefully monitors expenditures in multiple ways. 

An annual budget provides oversight and control 
of asset management costs. Asset management 
costs comprise operating expenses, which are the 
Fund’s internal costs, and commission expenses, 
which are the costs of external management and 
for managing securities and collateral. Analysing 
any deviations that arise between budget and actual 
outcomes provides valuable information that is used 
to guide management of the Fund. Changes from 
year to year are a source of insight for management 
and the board of directors on the Fund’s cost base. 
Naturally, costs tend to rise over time due to inflation 
and the growth of the Fund’s capital. This makes 
it important to measure costs in relation to fund 
capital using a metric known as the asset manage-
ment cost ratio. This also facilitates benchmarking 
against other funds.

Lower costs than international peers
As part of efforts to ensure that AP3’s asset 
management is cost-effective by international 
standards, since 2005 AP3 has participated in an 
annual survey performed by Canadian consultancy 
CEM Benchmarking. A large number of funds from 
all over the world participate in the survey, which 
benchmarks AP3 against funds of a similar size 
and profile, as well as against European funds. The 
study also compares returns, portfolio structure, 
management style, risk and other parameters. 
CEM’s analysis shows that AP3 generates high 
returns at a low cost. The most recent CEM study, 

Costs and expenditure
Cost control 

1   Budget oversight

2   Analysis of changes 
in absolute figures

3   Costs in relation to 
fund capital

4   Benchmarking 
against international 
peers

from 2020, showed AP3’s expenses to be 26% lower 
than the benchmark group average over the previ-
ous five years. 

Operating expenses
Operating expenses, comprising the internal costs 
of running the Fund, totalled SEK 234 million (222). 
This is 0.05% (0.06) in relation to fund capital. Op-
erating expenses arise from asset management, 
administration and operational management and 
are divided into staff costs and other administrative 
expenses. Staff costs include employee salaries, 
social insurance fees, pension contributions, along 
with other expenses such as training and recruit-
ment of personnel. Staff costs account for the 
major share of operating expenses and in 2021 to-
talled SEK 147 million (138). The average number of 
employees in 2021 was 60 (60). Other administrative 
expenses consist of costs for office space, IT and 
market data services. See Notes 6 and 7 for further 
information on operating expenses.

Commission expenses
Commission expenses totalled SEK 142 million 
(126) and relate to costs directly attributable to the 
external management of fund capital. They are rec-
ognised separately in income. In 2021 they stood at 
0.03% (0.03) of fund capital. AP3 uses external man-
agement when it is more cost-effective than internal 
management or when, for various reasons, internal 
management is difficult. External management fees 
are charged as a percentage of each portfolio’s 
value, meaning that they are directly related to the 
size of the underlying capital. At year-end, 31% (29) 
of fund capital was externally managed. Commis-
sion expenses also include custody account bank 
fees and charges for managing collateral, which 
together amounted to SEK 15 million (14). These 
are costs for managing and maintaining custody 
of the Fund’s securities, derivatives and associated 
collateral. See Notes 4 and 5 for further information 
on operating expenses. 
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Operating expenses Commission expenses

Other costs, fees and remuneration
Transaction costs relate to purchases and sales of 
securities and are the difference between the buying 
and selling rates. These types of costs are recog-
nised as part of an asset’s cost or as a deduction 
from sales income. Equity trading also results in 
brokerage fees. These totalled SEK 73 million (69) in 
2021. Transaction costs have an impact on the net 
results of all asset classes. 

Performance-based remuneration is a type of 
profit sharing paid to external managers in return 
for investment returns that exceed agreed goals. 
These fees are expensed directly against investment 
returns and are recognised under net income from 
financial transactions in the income statement. 
Performance-based fees totalled SEK 99 million 
(133). See Note 5 for further information on perfor-
mance-based remuneration. Tax costs that the Fund 
is entitled to reclaim under double taxation treaties 
are recognised in the balance sheet as a claim and 
hence have no effect on income. 

Asset management costs 2012–2021

SEK m

2020
2021
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The board sets the Fund’s operating targets and is 
ultimately responsible for its administration and con-
trol. The operational target is to achieve a real return 
of 3.5% on assets under management over time. 
The target return has been set on the basis of an 
overall assessment of the Fund's ability to maximise 
the benefits of its role as a buffer fund in the income 
pension system without exposing the capital to risks 
that jeopardise its neutrality across generations/age 
cohorts. A key part of this assessment is the ALM 
analysis that the Fund carries out every three years 
(most recently in 2019). 

This operational objective is expected to be 
achieved through the investment of the Fund's 
capital, which exposes it to a range of financial risk. 
AP3’s operations also involve non-financial risk. 

The board establishes a risk framework under the 
auspices of the National Pension Funds Insurance 
Act that further specifies the financial risk that the 
board accepts in order to achieve the operational 
target. The CEO is responsible for day-to-day man-
agement and compliance with board guidelines, 
and for ensuring good governance and control, and 
risk reporting. The Chief Investment Officer (CIO) 
manages risk in the overall portfolio structure and 
is responsible for delegating day-to-day portfolio 

Risk management
management within the framework set by the board 
and the CEO. Each head of department and port-
folio manager is responsible for managing the risk 
within his or her mandate to achieve targets within 
set limits. 

The risk management committee (RMC) is the 
Fund’s decision-making body for handling issues 
relating to risks in day-to-day asset management. 
The RMC consists of the CEO, CIO, CRO (chair), 
Compliance Officer and Head of Risk Control. The 
committee considers matters relating to the Fund’s 
overall risk management and control in advance of 
board decisions. The CEO takes decisions regarding 
operational risk issues in the Fund after consulting 
with the RMC. 

AP3’s risks 
The risks to which the Fund is exposed in its opera-
tions have been classified under three main areas: 
Enterprise risk relates to the Fund’s mission, objec-
tives and administration. Financial risk arises in rela-
tion to investing activities. Non-financial risk relates 
to processes, systems, human resources, reputation 
and legal and regulatory compliance. In addition to 
these, there are also sustainability risks.
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Financial risk 
Financial risk arises in the Fund’s core business, 
which is the management of investments in differ-
ent asset classes. These risks are taken consciously 
to generate returns and are managed through dif-
ferent types of risk limits. The most significant risks 
are market risk (market volatility), credit risk and 
liquidity risk. Market risk consists mainly of equity 
price risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk 
and inflation risk.

AP3 divides credit risk into issuer risk, counter-
party risk and settlement risk. Issuer risk is the risk 
that a borrower cannot meet its obligations, coun-
terparty risk is the risk that a counterparty cannot 
meet its obligations in a bilateral financial contract, 
and settlement risk arises from the settlement of 
financial contracts if the parties' obligations cannot 
be met simultaneously. Liquidity risk is the risk that 
the Fund will not be able to meet its obligations as a 
buffer fund or have sufficient liquidity in its portfolio 
to maintain room for manoeuvre. It also includes 
consideration of the risk of AP3 being forced to 
divest illiquid assets. 

Non-financial risk 
Non-financial risks exist in all parts of the Fund’s 
operations and are the risk of non-compliance with 
external and internal regulations to which operations 
are subject, the risk of adverse publicity or events 
that damage trust or confidence in the Fund, or the 
risk of losses arising from inadequate or deficient 
processes, systems, staff or external events such 
as fraud. 

Such loss may consist of financial loss or fore-
gone earnings, additional work, loss of reputation 
and/or damage to trust in operations. 

AP3 conducts an annual evaluation to identify and 
evaluate all non-financial risks. The results of this 
annual self-assessment and any planned measures 
are presented to the risk and audit committee. 

Sustainability risk
AP3's sustainability risk is primarily associated with 
the investments the Fund makes. The risk can be 

classified as related to climate, environmental, social 
and governance issues. Within these categories, 
the Fund highlights focal areas deemed to have the 
greatest material impact on portfolio performance 
and where AP3 also has the greatest opportunity to 
influence performance in a sustainable direction. 
AP3's current focal areas are:

 ● Climate – Climate change has a significant poten-
tial impact on AP3's investments and the possi-
bility of achieving high financial returns over time. 
AP3 aims to help combat climate change and mit-
igate its effects in line with the Paris Agreement. 
AP3's portfolio will produce net zero greenhouse 
gas emissions by 2050.

 ● Environment – climate change and other human 
impacts mean there is an increased risk that 
the overall natural resource needs of today will 
become more difficult to meet. AP3 will consider 
the impact of its investments on material portfolio 
and societal risks related to biodiversity and eco-
systems. AP3's aim is for the portfolio to contrib-
ute to the conservation and positive development 
of biodiversity by 2030.

 ● Social issues – AP3 endeavours to ensure 
human rights, particularly those related to the 
companies' activities, are respected, upheld and 
strengthened where necessary. The Swedish 
AP funds’ Council on Ethics has ensured that 
objectives have been set for safer mining related 
to tailings dams and increased human rights ac-
countability of large tech companies through the 
establishment of an expectations document and 
its communication to companies.

 ● Corporate governance issues – Well-managed 
companies are essential for limiting sustainability 
and business risk in companies' operations. AP3's 
direct corporate governance work promotes com-
pliance with the seven principles of the Fund's 
Stewardship Policy. These principles cover share-
holders' rights and obligations, capital structure 
and boards of directors, audit and internal control, 
executive remuneration, environment and ethics, 
and disclosure.
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Risk type Board’s risk tolerance Metric used Results in 2021

Market risk Optimise exposure through a 
diversified portfolio that generates 
high returns over the long term 
and whose losses are managea-
ble in normal circumstances. 

• Percentage per asset class 

• Value at Risk 

• Tracking error 

• Sensitivity analysis 

• Stress tests 

• Stop loss

Market risk is the dominant risk in 
the AP3 portfolio. It is monitored 
on a daily basis for the entire 
portfolio and for individual aspects. 
A strong year on the stock market, 
with lower volatility than in the pre-
vious year, contributed to reducing 
the Fund's market risk in 2021. 

Credit risk Optimise credit exposure through 
diversification by country, 
segment and credit rating. Limit 
counterparty risk through central 
clearing and agreements on 
pledged collateral. 

• Share of credits 

• Issuer limits 

• Rating limits

Credit exposure remains well 
balanced and primarily focused 
on investment grade issuers in 
developed markets. 

Liquidity risk AP3 must always have available 
liquidity to settle its commitments 
as a capital buffer for the pension 
system and to have investment 
flexibility in the portfolio.

• Payment readiness 

• Percentage of liquid/illiquid 
assets 

• Securities lending limits

A good liquidity position during 
the year has created flexibility in 
the portfolio and ensured healthy 
payment readiness to meet the 
Fund’s commitments.

Operational, reputational and 
compliance risk 

Limit operational risk and pre-
serve the Fund's reputation.

• Number of incidents 

• Limit breaches 

• Staff turnover

The Fund has strengthened its 
monitoring and evaluation of oper-
ational risk and incidents through 
a new risk and incident reporting 
system. The number of incidents 
has remained low during the year 
and the Fund has a healthy risk 
culture. 

Market risk Credit risk Liquidity risk Operational risk Compliance risk Reputational risk

Enterprise risk  
Enterprise risk is fund-wide risk relating to AP3’s mission, objectives and administration.  

AP3 manages enterprise risks using asset liability management (ALM) to, for example, analyse the risk of a change in the  
Fund’s operating conditions. The board uses this ALM analysis to set long-term operating targets.

Financial risk Non-financial risk
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At the end of the year, AP3 had 61 employees (60), of 
whom 26 (26) were women. The employee turnover 
in 2021 was 6.7% (5.0). During the year, 5 (2) people 
were recruited to the Fund and 4 (3) people left.

The ongoing pandemic had an impact on the 
year and meant that a lot of work was carried out 
remotely in accordance with the Public Health 
Agency's recommendations to minimise the spread 
of infection. AP3 has provided employees with 
the necessary equipment to carry out their work 
securely, efficiently and ergonomically from home. 
During the year, work was undertaken to define 
AP3's approach to work in the ‘new normal’, when 
pandemic have been lifted. This work has involved 
all staff through a survey, interviews and workshops 
with the Fund's managers. This work has resulted 
in a more flexible solution in terms of working from 
the office and remotely. 

AP3 continues to focus on offering and nurtur-
ing a corporate culture that promotes personal 
development and encourages employees to show 
initiative and to work across established boundaries. 
Diversity and gender equality remain key to AP3’s 

Employees
ability to achieve its objectives. Because the Fund 
believes diversity creates added value and supports 
AP3’s mission. 

Our learning and development forum, the AP3 
Academy, has undertaken mandatory training and 
other fund-wide development initiatives to support 
our short- and long-term skills development.

AP3 follows the government’s guidelines on pay 
levels, which stipulate that pay should be compet-
itive but not market-leading. It is important that 
salary levels are able to attract the right people 
when recruiting, developing and retaining relevant 
skills within the Fund. Issues relating to employment 
and remuneration are dealt with by the remuneration 
committee, which comprises three board members. 
In addition to a fixed monthly salary, employee pay 
also includes variable pay, pension benefits and 
other benefits consisting of health insurance, group 
insurance and a fitness allowance. The CEO, execu-
tive management, the Compliance Officer and Head 
of Risk Control are not part of the variable remunera-
tion programme.
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In 2016, the AP funds formed a Collaboration 
 Council charged with creating better, more effec-
tive cooperation across areas outside investment 
management or where there is a risk of competi-
tion between the AP funds. The work is carried out 
within nine functional collaboration groups with an 
overall focus on identifying areas where there is 
clear potential for collaboration and where cooper-
ation between the AP funds can lead to increased 
cost-effectiveness for the Swedish pension system. 
A further aim of the collaboration is to harness 
this added value by sharing experience knowledge, 
which, together, can provide the AP funds with a 
broader and deeper knowledge base. 

Role of the Collaboration Council 
The Collaboration Council is the umbrella body 
whose overall role is to ensure and create the con-
ditions for cooperation between the AP funds. To 
achieve this, the Collaboration Council has estab-
lished a shared structure and working methodology, 
with annual plans that are followed up twice a year. 
The council is also responsible for reporting the 

ongoing work and results of the groups to relevant 
stakeholders. At year-end, the council reports to 
each of the funds’ CEOs. This report also forms the 
basis of the government’s annual assessment of the 
AP funds. 

2021 collaboration project
In 2021, the collaboration groups continued to 
use online platforms to meet and share informa-
tion. These digital forums have further facilitated 
effective collaboration and interaction. For large 
collaborative groups such as Back Office/Business 
Controls, the digital approach has enabled more par-
ticipants from each AP fund to participate in training, 
information meetings and discussions. 

Several aspects of the Covid-19 situation have 
involved a significant transfer of experience between 
the AP funds. This has included how the return to 
the office after the pandemic has gone. Another 
area where the AP funds continually collaborate is 
in the procurement and evaluation of products and 
services. In 2021, joint procurement of recruitment 
services, procurement services, health insurance 
and occupational pension consultancy and adminis-
tration was undertaken. 

The AP funds have also collaborated on the 
procurement of communication services for the 
 Council on Ethics. Cooperation has also included 
the establishment of joint investment structures 
between some of the AP funds, such as 4 to 1 In-
vestments, as well as cooperation on international 
tax issues. In the area of IT, the AP Funds have col-
laborated on information security, with AP1, AP3 and 
AP4 initiating the recruitment of a Chief Information 
Security Officer (CISO) to implement an information 
security management system in accordance with 
Swedish Civil Contingencies Agency requirements. 
AP3 and AP4 have also jointly carried out a needs 
analysis and established the basis for the procure-
ment of a new portfolio management system.

The AP funds (AP1–AP4 and AP7) 
formed a Collaboration Council 
charged with creating better and more 
effective cooperation across areas out-

side investment management. The objective 
can be summarised in terms of the benefits of 
knowledge and resource efficiency. 

Cooperation between the AP funds

Cooperation takes 
place in the following 
areas: 

 Back Office/Business 
 Support 
 Compliance 
 HR 
 IT 
 Legal Affairs 
 Communications 
 Accounts 
 Risk and Performance 
 Systems Management 

 
In addition to these 
functional groups, coop-
eration also take place 
through the AP funds’ 
Council on Ethics (AP1–
AP4) and Innovation 
Forum (AP1–AP4, AP7). 
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Common understanding of SFDR reporting

AP3 meets stakeholder demand for greater transparency
Key focal areas in sustainability
Stakeholders were also asked to rank 12 selected 
sustainability areas based on how important they 
felt each area was for the AP funds to consider in 
their asset management and advocacy work with 
companies. Five areas were considered equally 
important to all stakeholders: business ethics, anti- 
corruption, long-term returns, human rights and 
climate impact.

Communication and follow-up, 2021–2022
The stakeholders proposed that the AP funds could 
improve their communication through greater trans-
parency. AP3 has therefore chosen to increase ac-
cessibility, which means making information more 
easily available online. In particular, there was a de-
sire to see more transparency around the AP funds' 
dialogue with companies, which AP3 presents in its 
annual corporate governance report, which provides 
more detailed statistics on voting and advocacy. The 
advocacy work of the AP funds' Council on Ethics is 
also more clearly quantified. See pages 20–23 and 
etikrådet.se. 

Regular dialogue with stakeholders is important in 
driving changes that create value, and the AP funds 
are endeavouring to follow up and deepen their en-
gagement with selected stakeholders. In 2021, AP3 
continued to increase the accessibility and clarity of 
its communication on how AP3 works with sustain-
ability, how advocacy takes place and how informa-
tion is presented.

The AP funds are enhancing their reporting 
In 2018, the EU launched an action plan to increase 
the share of sustainable investments, promote a 
long-term approach and make sustainability clearer, 
with the overall goal of making the EU climate neu-
tral by 2050. As part of this, the EU has introduced a 
number of regulations to strengthen its action plan. 
One of these is the Sustainable Finance  Disclosure 
Regulation (SFDR), which came into force in March 
2021. The main purpose of the Disclosure  Regulation 
is to boost transparency on sustainability issues 
and to increase comparability between financial 
market participants with regard to the integration of 
sustainability risks and the consideration of negative 
impacts on sustainable development in processes. 

The AP funds are not directly covered by the 
 Disclosure Regulation but will develop their reporting 
with the aim of reviewing how the funds can report 
in line with the new standard set by the Regulation.

Stakeholder engagement with materiality 
analysis
Joint work on stakeholder engagement was carried 
out by AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4 and the AP funds' 
Council on Ethics in autumn 2020. This dialogue is 
held every few years. Stakeholder engagement is 
important in helping guide the funds’ sustainability 
efforts. This is done to examine how stakeholders 
regard the AP funds’ mission and activities relating 
to sustainability and return on investments. 

The stakeholder engagement, in the form of a 
questionnaire, was sent to more than 200 people 
in the AP funds' eight main stakeholder groups, i.e. 
clients (the Pensions Group, finance and social in-
surance committees and the Financial Markets De-
partment), portfolio companies, suppliers, industry 
peers, beneficiaries, social actors, interest groups 
and employees.

Overall, the dialogue showed variation in stake-
holders' knowledge and frameworks regarding 
the AP funds and the Council on Ethics. How-
ever, it was found that they have a relatively good 
knowledge of the AP funds' activities and a high 
level of confidence that the AP funds are fulfilling 
their mission. A majority also expressed a high 
degree of confidence in the funds’ efforts on and 
integration of sustainability in their investment 
management. The stakeholder dialogue revealed 
room for the AP funds to improve in managing and 
communicating the sustainability-related risks that 
arise in their investments.
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Income statement

SEK m Note 2021 2020
Income
Net interest income 2 1,633 2,149
Dividends received 5,847 4,375

Net income from listed shares and investments 3 49,050 25,950
Net income from unlisted shares and investments 4 27,685 6,702
Net income from fixed income assets 252 3,370
Net income from derivatives -1,675 -122
Net income from currencies 4,425 -4,897
Net commission expenses 5 -142 -126
Total income 87,075 37,401

Operating expenses
Staff costs  6 -147 -138
Other operating expenses 7 -87 -84
Total operating expenses -234 -222
Net result for the year 86,841 37,179
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Balance sheet 

SEK m Note 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Assets
Shares and investments
 Listed 8, 19 249,343 202,410
 Unlisted 9, 19 125,339 86,677
Bonds and other fixed income assets 10, 19 137,981 126,068
Derivatives 11, 19, 21 416 9,671
Cash and cash equivalents 1,898 1,107
Other assets 12, 21 5,600 5,577
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 13 1,057 1,030
Total assets 521,634 432,541

Fund capital and liabilities
Liabilities
Derivatives 11, 19, 21 6,888 384
Other liabilities 14, 21 12,368 9,120
Deferred income and accrued expenses 15 91 63
Total liabilities 19,347 9,567

Fund capital
Fund capital at 1 Jan 422,974 393,696
Net payments to pension system 16 -7,528 -7,902
Net result for the year 86,841 37,179
Total fund capital 502,287 422,974
Total fund capital and liabilities 521,634 432,541

Memorandum items 17, 22
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The Third Swedish National Pension Fund (AP3), corporate identity 
number 802014-4120, is one of the funds that manage the capital buffer 
of the Swedish pension system. AP3 is headquartered in Stockholm. The 
board of directors approved the annual financial statements for 2021 on 
18 February 2022. The income statement and balance sheet are subject to 
government approval.

1  Accounting and valuation policies 

The National Pension Insurance Funds Act (2000:192) requires the annual 
accounts to be prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles, which involves recognition of fund assets at market value. AP1, 
AP2, AP3 and AP4 have agreed and applied shared accounting and valua-
tion policies, which have been applied and summarised below. 

The AP funds are gradually adapting their accounting and valuation 
principles to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Full 
adjustment to IFRS would not significantly affect reported income and 
capital. AP3 meets the qualification requirements for designation as an 
investment company as per IFRS 10. The only difference with currently 
applicable IFRS is that AP3 does not prepare a statement of cash flows or 
apply IFRS 16.

Transaction date accounting
Purchases and sales of securities and derivatives on the money, bond, 
equity and currency markets are recognised in the balance sheet at the 
transaction date, that is the point when material rights, and therefore risks, 
are transacted between the parties. Receivables and liabilities that fall 
between the transaction and settlement dates are reported under other 
assets and other liabilities, respectively. Other transactions, especially 
relating to unlisted equities, are recognised in the balance sheet at the 
settlement date, in conformity with market norms.

Net accounting
AP3 recognises assets and liabilities net in the balance sheet where there 
is a legal right to offset transactions and an intention exists to provide net 
cash consideration or to realise the asset and receive consideration for the 
liability simultaneously. 

Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are shown in Swedish kronor at the ex-
change rate on the transaction date. Assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currency are recognised in Swedish kronor at the exchange rate on 
the reporting date. 

Changes in the values of foreign currency-denominated assets are divid-
ed into the part that is attributable to the change in the value of the asset or 
liability in local currency and the part caused by exchange rate movements. 
Exchange rate gains or losses arising due to exchange rate changes are 
recognised in the income statement under net income from currencies.

Shareholdings in subsidiaries and associates
Shareholdings in, and loans to, subsidiaries and associates are recognised 
at fair value, in conformity with the National Pension Insurance Funds Act. 
Fair value is measured using the same methods as for unlisted shares and 
investments. There is no requirement to prepare consolidated financial 
statements. Loans to subsidiaries and associates that are intended to be 
held to maturity are measured at fair value under the fair value option in 
IFRS 9. However, the entire change in value is recognised as part of the 
equity holding under net income from unlisted shares and investments.

Measurement of financial instruments
All AP3’s investments are measured at fair value. Realised and unreal-
ised changes in value are recognised in the income statement. Hence, 
items presented under net income per asset category include realised 
and unrealised income. Equity instruments are held for trading and are 
therefore measured at fair in the income statement. Debt instruments are 
held for trading and are therefore measured at fair value in the income 
statement. Loans to subsidiaries and associates are intended to be held to 
maturity, but the fair value option is used to comply with the requirement 
of the  National Pension Funds Insurance Act that these instruments are 
measured at fair value. Where the financial statements refer to benchmark 
 indices, please consult the AP3 website for information on the specific 

index. The AP funds track all their assets on a fair value basis. The methods 
for measuring the fair value of the Fund’s investments are described below.

Listed shares and investments
Shares and units traded on a regulated market or trading platform are 
measured using the official market price, at the relevant date, quoted by the 
relevant index vendor. This price is usually the mid-rate. Holdings not in-
cluded in an index are valued at listed prices observable in an active market. 
Brokerage fees are recognised under net income from listed equities.

Unlisted shares and investments
Shares and investments not traded on a regulated market or trading 
platform are measured at fair value based on the valuation received from 
the counterparty or other external party. Valuations are updated when new 
valuations are received and are adjusted for cash flows up to the reporting 
date. AP3 may revise a valuation where strong grounds exist for believing 
that the valuation is wrong. Fair value measurement of unlisted shares and 
investments follows the International Private Equity and Venture Capital 
Valuation (IPEV) guidelines or equivalent valuation principles and, in the 
first instance, is based on transactions with third parties. However, other 
valuation methods can be applied.

Unlisted property shares are measured on the basis of their net asset 
value, provided they have not been transacted on a secondary market. 
Holdings in unlisted property companies are measured to reflect deferred 
tax liability and at the value applied in property transactions. This differs 
from the value that property companies apply in their financial statements. 

Bonds and other fixed income assets
The fair value of bonds and other fixed income assets is measured using 
the official market price at the reporting date (usually the bid rate) quoted 
by the Fund’s index supplier. Holdings not included in an index are valued 
at listed prices observable in an active market. Where an instrument is 
not traded on an active market and reliable market prices are unavailable, 
the instrument is measured using generally accepted valuation models, 
whereby cash flow is discounted according to the relevant valuation curve. 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method, 
based on amortised cost. Amortised cost is the discounted present value 
of future payments, where the discount rate corresponds to the effective 
interest rate at the time of purchase. Acquired premiums and discounts 
are therefore accrued as interest income until the instrument matures or 
until the coupon rate changes. Changes in value arising due to movements 
in interest rates are recognised under net income from fixed income 
assets, while changes in value arising from exchange rate movements are 
recognised under net income from currencies.

Derivatives
The fair value of derivatives is measured using rates at the reporting date. 
In cases where instruments are not traded in an active market and no 
reliable market prices are available, valuations are made using generally 
accepted theoretical models whose inputs consist exclusively of observa-
ble market data.

Derivative contracts with a positive fair value at the reporting date are 
recognised as assets, while contracts with a negative market value are 
recognised as liabilities. Changes in value arising from exchange rate 
movements are recognised in the income statement under net income 
from currencies, while other changes in value are recognised under net 
income from derivatives. 

Buybacks
In a true buyback (repurchase), the asset remains on the balance sheet 
and cash received is recognised as a liability. The divested security is 
recognised under pledged assets in the balance sheet. The cash value dif-
ference between spot and forward legs accrues during the maturity period 
and is reported as interest. 

Securities lending
Loaned securities are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value and 
consideration received is recognised as interest income in the income 
statement. Collateral received for loaned securities may consist of 
securities and/or cash. Where AP3 has the right of disposal over cash 
collateral received, this is recognised in the balance sheet as an asset 
and a corresponding liability. In cases where AP3 does not have the right 
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of disposal over the asset, the loaned security is recognised not in the 
balance sheet but separately under pledged assets, contingent liabilities 
and commitments. The value of loaned securities and the collateral paid to 
secure them is also recognised under this item.

Items recognised directly in fund capital
Payments to and from the pension system are recognised directly in 
fund capital.

Commission expenses
Commission expenses are recognised as a deduction from operating 
income in the income statement. They consist of external costs for asset 
management services, such as custody account fees and fixed commis-
sion to external managers, and fixed commission for exchange-traded 
funds. Performance-based fees, payable when a manager outperforms an 
agreed level that gives rise to profit sharing, are recognised as a deduction 
from net income for the relevant asset class in the income statement.

Management fees for unlisted shares and investments are recognised 
at cost and included in unrealised income.

Operating expenses
All management expenses, excluding brokerage fees, fees to external 
managers and custodian fees, are recognised as operating expenses. 
Investments in equipment and proprietary and purchased computer soft-
ware are normally expensed as they arise.

Taxes
AP3 is exempt from all income tax on investments in Sweden. 
Dividend and coupon taxes payable in some countries are recognised on a 
net basis in the relevant income category in the income statement. 

As of 2012, AP3 is VAT-registered and liable to pay value added tax on 
purchases outside Sweden. AP3 is not entitled to reclaim VAT outlays. VAT 
is expensed under the relevant item.

Rounding off
Minor discrepancies may occur in the tables in this report due to the 
rounding up or down of individual figures. Figures are shown in millions of 
kronor (SEK m) unless otherwise stated. 

2  Net interest income 

SEK m 2021 2020
Interest income

Bonds and fixed income assets 1,500 2,014
Securities lending, equities 44 45
Securities lending, bonds 74 74
Other interest income 20 18
Total interest income 1,638 2,151

Interest expense
Other interest expenses 4 2
Total interest expense 4 2

Net interest income 1,633 2,149

 

3  Net income from listed shares and units 

SEK m 2021 2020
Income from listed shares and investments 49,123 26,019
Brokerage fees -73 -69
Net income from listed shares and units 49,050 25,950

4  Net income from unlisted shares and units 

SEK m 2021 2020
Net capital gain 4,262 921
Unrealised changes in value 23,423 5,781
Net income from unlisted shares and units 27,685 6,702

External management fees for unlisted assets are recognised in the cost 
of the asset and, therefore, under unrealised net income from unlisted 
assets. Thus, repaid management fees have a positive impact on unreal-
ised income. 

In 2021, SEK 587 million (457) was paid in management fees for unlist-
ed assets, of which SEK 577 million (446) allowed for repayment. During 
the year, SEK 327 (47) million was also repaid. The net charge to income 
from unlisted shares and investments was SEK 260 million (409).

5  Commission expenses 

SEK m 2021 2020
External commission, listed assets 119 104
External commission, unlisted assets 9 8
Other commission expenses incl. custodian bank 
costs

15 14

Total commission expenses 142 126

Performance-based fees of SEK 99 million (133) relating to listed equities 
are not recognised in commission expenses. Performance-based fees 
reduce net income for each asset class.

Underlying fees for total return swaps (TRS) are not recognised in com-
mission expenses but instead as a change in value under net income from 
derivatives. Underlying TRS costs were SEK 0 million (1) in 2021.
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Staff costs in SEK thousand, 2021
Salaries and 

remuneration
Variable  

remuneration
Operating  
expenses

of which salary  
sacrifice

Social security expenses 
incl. special payroll tax Total

Chairman of the board,  
Christina Lindenius

210 66 276

Other directors 940 279 1,219
Total 1,150 345 1,495

CEO Kerstin Hessius 4,040 2,508 998 1,878 8,426
Executive management excl. CEO
Pablo Bernengo 3,444 977 1,319 5,740
Eva Boric 2,075 636 806 3,517

Lil Larås Lindgren 1,419 632 108 599 2,651

Zorica Bodiroza 1,546 509 609 2,663
Total executive management  
excl. CEO

8,484 2,754 108 3,333 14,570

Other employees 63,339 4,019 25,004 3,417 26,889 119,250
Total employees 75,863 4,019 30,266 4,522 32,100 142,247
Other staff costs 3,372
Total staff costs 77,013 4,019 30,266 4,522 32,445 147,114

Staff costs in SEK thousand, 2020
Salaries and 

remuneration
Variable  

remuneration
Operating  
expenses

of which salary  
sacrifice

Social security expenses 
incl. special payroll tax Total

Chairman of the board,  
Christina Lindenius

210 66 276

Other directors 940 259 1,199
Total 1,151 325 1,476

CEO Kerstin Hessius 3,963 2,444 998 1,838 8,246
Executive management excl. CEO
Pablo Bernengo 3,353 751 1,236 5,340
Eva Boric 2,038 568 778 3,385

Lil Larås Lindgren 1,504 515 597 2,616

Zorica Bodiroza 1,515 493 614 2,622
Total executive management  
excl. CEO

8,410 2,327 3,225 13,962

Other employees 59,312 4,998 22,194 3,095 25,251 111,755
Total employees 71,684 4,998 26,966 4,093 30,314 133,963
Other staff costs 2,491
Total staff costs 72,835 4,998 26,966 4,093 30,640 137,929

 

6  Staff 

2021 2020

Total
of which 

women Total
of which  

women
Average number of employees 60 25 60 25
No. of employees at 31 Dec 61 26 60 26
No. in executive management 
at 31 Dec

5 4 5 4
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Board of directors 
The government sets the remuneration of directors. As of 2020, annual 
fees of SEK 200 thousand are paid to the Chairman, SEK 150 thousand to 
the Deputy Chairman and SEK 100 thousand to other directors. The gov-
ernment has approved additional remuneration of up to SEK 100 thousand 
for directors who sit on the remuneration committee and audit committee. 
Remuneration of SEK 100 thousand (100) was paid for committee engage-
ments in 2021.

Committees 
The remuneration committee had three members in 2021. It makes rec-
ommendations to the board on the CEO’s salary and benefits, and AP3’s 
salary structure prior to salary reviews. It also makes recommendations 
to the board of directors on the performance-based variable remuneration 
programme. Decisions on these matters are taken by the board. The risk 
and audit committee comprises three members. The role of the risk and 
audit committee is to monitor and issue recommendations to the board 
on financial reporting, accounting, internal control, risk management and 
external audit.

CEO’s remuneration 
The board of directors sets the salary and benefits of the CEO. Under the 
terms of the CEO’s employment contract, AP3 pays retirement pension and 
sickness insurance premiums totalling 30% of gross salary. In the event of 
termination of contract, the notice period is six months for both AP3 and the 
CEO. If AP3 terminates the CEO’s contract, 18 months’ severance pay may be 
payable. Severance salary and pay are to be offset against any income from 
new employment or business activity. No contract provisions exist for early 
retirement. In 2021, the CEO received taxable benefits of SEK 6 thousand (5). 
The CEO does not participate in the performance-based incentive scheme.

Executive management committee excl. CEO 
The executive management committee consists of the CEO, CIO, Head of 
Business Support & Control and CRO, the Head of Communications and 
the Head of Human Resources. 

The employment terms and conditions of executive management reflect 
collective wage agreements with the Employers’ Organisation of the Swedish 
Banking Institutions and three trade union members of the SACO confeder-
ation: JUSEK, the Swedish Association of Graduates in Business Adminis-
tration and Economics, and the Swedish Association of Graduate Engineers. 
Hence, there are no special agreements on termination, severance pay or 
early retirement for any members of executive management. Executive 
 management committee members received benefits ranging from SEK  
5 thousand (5) to SEK 23 thousand (6) in 2021. Executive management does 
not participate in the performance-based variable remuneration scheme.

Remuneration
AP3 follows the government’s guidelines for employment conditions for 
AP fund employees, which state that remuneration should be competitive 
without being market-leading. The remuneration committee handles remu-
neration issues on behalf of the board. Remuneration and other terms of 
employment for AP3's Chief Executive Officer (CEO) are set by the board 
of directors. The remuneration committee approves the remuneration and 
benefits of other senior executives, based on the CEO’s recommendations. 
The board also sets the remuneration framework for other employees.

As in previous years, AP3 participated in the Willis Towers Watson 
remuneration survey in order to benchmark staff salaries against other 
financial market personnel. By taking part in the survey, the Fund seeks 
to ensure that its salary levels remain in line with the government’s 
guidelines. The survey showed that the majority of AP3 personnel receive 
remuneration at or around the benchmark group median level. The board 
of directors concludes that the pay structure and remuneration levels for 
the CEO, senior managers and other employees are market-based, com-
petitive without leading the market, and reasonable and appropriate. The 
board is also of the opinion that the Fund complies with government pay 
guidelines and that no exceptions exist which require separate reporting.

Performance-based remuneration programme 
The board of directors has approved a variable remuneration programme 
modelled on government guidelines issued in April 2009 and adjusted for 
guidelines on remuneration in insurance and other financial entities issued 
by the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority in March 2010. The pro-

gramme applies from 2021 and gives employees in the asset management 
department the opportunity to receive variable, performance-based remu-
neration of up to two months’ additional salary upon fulfilment of previously 
specified criteria. 60% of variable remuneration is not paid until three years 
after the year in which it is earned. Employees in administrative departments 
have the opportunity to receive variable remuneration of one month’s salary. 
AP3’s overall net result must be positive before variable remuneration is 
payable to any employee. The CEO, members of the executive management 
committee, and the Compliance Officer and Head of Risk Control and Return 
Analysis are not part of the variable, performance-based remuneration 
programme. AP3 reserved SEK 4.0 million (5.0) in the 2021 accounts for the 
payment of variable remuneration, based on the fulfilment of contractually 
agreed targets. This reserved amount was equivalent to the payment of an 
average of 0.8 months’ salary (1.0) in variable performance-based remuner-
ation to each employee covered by the programme. 

Sickness absence 
Total sickness absence in 2021 was 1.3% (0.5). The figures were 0.2% (0.2) 
for male employees and 2.8% (0.8) for female employees. 

Other 
Under the guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative, companies should 
disclose whether freedom of association exists and if any employees are 
younger than 18. In compliance with Swedish law, AP3 allows freedom of 
association. The employment terms and conditions of AP3 employees are 
governed by collective wage agreements with the Employers’ Organisation 
of the Swedish Banking Institutions and three trade union members of 
the SACO confederation: JUSEK, the Swedish Association of Graduates in 
Business Administration and Economics, and the Swedish Association of 
Graduate Engineers. AP3 has no employees aged under 18.

7  Other operating expenses 

SEK m 2021 2020
Costs for premises 13 12
Market information and data costs 53 54
Services purchased 17 12
Other 4 5
Total other administrative expenses 87 84

The above purchased services include fees to audit firms. Services 
purchased include fees of SEK 0.5 million (0.9) for Swedish Government 
Offices consulting services.

SEK thousand 2021 2020
Audit assignments

PwC 750 738
Other services by audit firms
PwC - -
Total fees to audit firms 750 738

8  Listed shares and investments 

SEK m, fair value 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Swedish equities 71,939 57,119
Investments in Swedish funds - -
Foreign equities 135,261 108,948
Investments in foreign funds 42,143 36,343
Total listed shares and investments 249,343 202,410

A list of the five largest Swedish and foreign equity holdings is shown 
on page 74. A list of all AP3’s equity holdings is available at ap3.se. See 
Notes 1 and 17 for information on securities lending. Collateral received 
in relation to securities lending totalled an average of 103% of the market 
value of the assets loaned.
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9  Unlisted shares and investments 

As of 31 December 2021, AP3’s investment in unlisted securities, directly 
and via private equity firms and funds, were as follows. The breakdown 
below shows the five largest holdings in terms of invested capital.

Shares and investments in Swedish subsidiaries and associates

Corporate  
identity number

Registered  
office

Number of 
shares

Share 
of equity/ 

voting rights
Fair 

value
100% 

equity, 2021
100 % 

profit, 2021
Vasakronan Holding AB 556650-4196 Stockholm 1,000,000 25% 25,253 85,290 16,421
Hemsö Fastighets AB 556779-8169 Stockholm 70,000,700 70% 21,760 28,350 8,189
Hemsö Intressenter AB 556917-4336 Stockholm 25,000 50% 4,663
Hemsö Norden KB 969769-2961 Stockholm 50% 677 1,355 454
Trophi Fastighets AB 556914-7647 Stockholm 1,000,000 100% 9,096
Fastighets AB Regio 559013-4911 Stockholm 4,000,014 96%/98% 5,390
Polhem Infra KB 969789-2413 Stockholm 33% 2,949 8,541 405
Polhem Infra AB 559183-3917 Stockholm 20,000 33% 0 1 0
Ellevio Holding 1 AB 559005-2444 Stockholm 10,000 20% 2,160
Trenum AB 556978-8291 Gothenburg 500 50% 1,922
Gysinge Skog AB 559164-0817 Stockholm 25,000 50% 1,603
4 to 1 Investments AB 559313-2490 Stockholm 6,250 25% 1
4 to 1 Investments KB 969795-3033 Stockholm 25% 828
Total shares and investments in 
 Swedish subsidiaries and associates

76,302

Shares and investments in foreign subsidiaries and associates

Registered  
office

Number of 
shares

Share 
of equity/ 

voting rights
Fair 

value
ThreeTree Holdings LLC US 10,000 100% 6,639
OMERS Farmoor 2 Holdings B.V. Netherlands 149 100%/49% 2,917
Total shares and investments in foreign subsidiaries and associates 9,557

Five largest holdings in other Swedish unlisted shares and investments

Registered  
office

Share 
equity Cost, 2021

Verdane Capital X Stockholm 7% 295
Verdane Capital IX Stockholm 10% 233
Altor Fund IV Stockholm 2% 209
Verdane Edda Stockholm 8% 201
Verdane Capital VIII Stockholm 15% 147

Five largest holdings in other foreign unlisted shares and investments

Registered  
office

Share 
equity Cost, 2021

Mirova Core Infrastructure Fund II SCS Luxembourg 8% 916
Innisfree PFI Secondary Fund 2 (ISF2) London 18% 898
Hermes Infra Spring II Guernsey 26% 677
Vauban Core Infrastructure Fund III SCS Luxembourg 4% 561
Resonance Industrial Water Infrastructure Fund Limited Guernsey 25% 495

A breakdown of all holdings, including the initial year of investment and the size of investment commitment, is available at ap3.se.

SEK m, fair value 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Shares and investments in Swedish subsidiaries 
and associates

76,302 56,228

Shares and investments in foreign subsidiaries 
and associates

9,557 3,957

Other unlisted Swedish shares and investments 2,494 2,069
Other unlisted foreign shares and investments 36,986 24,423
Total unlisted shares and investments 125,339 86,677
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10  Bonds and other fixed income assets 

Bonds and other fixed income securities by issuer category

SEK m, fair value 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Government of Sweden 5,401 6,998
Swedish municipalities - -
Swedish mortgage lenders 5,208 4,673
Other Swedish issuers
 Financial institutions 1,905 1,795
 Non-financial institutions 17,044 17,819
Foreign governments 71,902 63,195
Other foreign issuers 36,090 30,136
Total 137,550 124,616
Fixed income funds 430 1,452
Total 137,981 126,068

Bonds and other fixed income securities by class of instrument

SEK m, fair value 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Inflation-linked bonds 28,717 26,415 
Other bonds 100,207 88,464
Commercial paper 149 1,289
Unlisted promissory notes 8,477 8,448
Total 137,550 124,616
Fixed income funds 430 1,452
Total 137,981 126,068

SEK 6,725 million (3,566) of bonds and other fixed income securities 
relates to reinvested cash collateral received for securities lending. See 
Notes 1 and 17 for information on securities lending. Collateral received 
in relation to securities lending totalled an average of 103% of the market 
value of the assets loaned.

11  Derivatives, gross 

31/12/2021 31/12/2020

SEK m
Positive 

fair value
Negative
fair value

Positive 
fair value

Negative
fair value

Equity-linked instruments
Options, cleared Held, buy 26 - 24 -

Held, sell - - - -
Issued, buy - - - -5
Issued, sell - -8 - -16

Forwards 0 0 - -
Swaps - -1 1 -
Total 26 -9 25 -21
of which cleared 26 -8 24 -21

Fixed income and credit-related instruments
Options, cleared Held, buy - - - -

Held, sell - - - -
Issued, buy - - - -
Issued, sell - - - -

FRAs/forwards 0 0 3 -3
CDS - - - -
Swaps 46 -72 287 -40
Total 46 -72 290 -43
of which cleared 0 0 3 -3

Currency-related instruments
Options, OTC Held, buy 93 - 146 -

Held, sell 99 - 152 -
Issued, buy - -76 - -137
Issued, sell - -59 - -80

Forwards 152 -6,672 9,058 -103

Swaps - - - -
Total 344 -6,807 9,356 -320

Effect of netting - - - -
Total derivatives 416 -6,888 9,671 -384
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AP3 is mandated to use derivative securities to improve the efficacy of 
asset management or to manage risk.

Equity and interest rate derivatives are preferably traded on stand-
ardised markets through cleared products, which limits counterparty 
risk to the clearing house. Currency and credit derivative markets are 
over-the-counter markets, which means that trades executed there are not 
standardised or subject to clearing. Thus, counterparty or settlement risk 
generally arises. Counterparties for non-cleared transactions are limited 
and sanctioned by the board of directors and all exposure to such limits is 
continuously monitored. AP3 uses standardised market contracts, includ-
ing ISDA agreements, for OTC trading. 

Issued put options are positions in different options strategies taken 
to manage portfolio risk. Where a put option requires AP3 to deliver an 
underlying security, AP3 always holds enough of that security to meet its 
delivery obligation.

More information on AP3’s risk management in relation to derivatives 
can be found in the risk management plan at ap3.se.

12  Other assets 

SEK m 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Securities settlements 111 204
Buybacks 1,062 781
Reinvested cash collateral 4,427 4,591
Other current receivables 0 0
Total other assets 5,600 5,577

13  Prepaid expenses and accrued income 

SEK m 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Accrued interest income 618 628
Accrued dividends 97 86
Reimbursements 279 252
Prepaid expenses 54 54
Accrued premiums on equity loans 10 10
Total prepaid expenses and accrued income 1,057 1,030

14  Other liabilities 

SEK m 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Accounts payable 18 18
Securities settlements 127 158
Payroll taxes 1 0
Staff PAYE taxes 3 3
Buybacks 1,062 781
Cash collateral received 11,153 8,155
Other liabilities 5 4
Total other liabilities 12,368 9,120

15  Deferred income and accrued expenses 

SEK m 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Accrued external asset management costs 66 39
Other accrued expenses 14 13
Variable remuneration incl. social security 
expenses

11 11

Total deferred income and accrued expenses 91 63

40% of a payment of variable remuneration earned in 2019 was made in 
2020. The outstanding balance will be paid in 2022. 40% of a payment of 
variable remuneration earned in 2020 was made in 2021. The outstand-
ing balance will be paid in 2023. A provision for variable remuneration 
was also made in 2021. 40% of this amount will be paid in 2022 and the 
outstanding balance in 2024.

16  Fund capital 

Net payments to the pension system

SEK m 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Fund capital at 1 Jan 422,974 393,696
Pension contributions 75,597 73,872
Paid-out pensions in 2021 -82,885 -81,564
Transfer of pension rights to the EU -1 -2
Settlement of pension rights -3 2
Administration fee to the Swedish Pensions 
Agency

-236 -210

Total net payments to the pension system -7,528 -7,902
Net result for the year 86,841 37,179
Fund capital at 31 Dec 502,287 422,974

17  Pledged assets, contingent liabilities and commitments 

Pledged assets, contingent liabilities and equivalent collateral

SEK m 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Pledged assets for buybacks
Collateral received 5,489 5,372
Collateral pledged 1,062 781
Pledged assets for derivatives trading
Cash collateral received - 7,637
Cash collateral pledged 1,671 -
Loaned securities for which cash collateral 
received
Loaned securities 11,154 8,157
Cash collateral received 11,153 8,156
Securities loaned against collateral received in 
securities
Loaned securities 72,509 70,884
Collateral received in securities 72,954 75,201
Total issued collateral and securities 86,397 79,822

Outstanding commitments

SEK m 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Unlisted equities 9,491 8,771
Property, infrastructure and timberland funds 2,175 2,262
Subscription commitments 12,853 14,097
Total commitments 24,519 25,129
Total memorandum items 110,915 104,952

The collateral shown above is presented in Notes 10, 12 and 14.
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18 Currency exposure

Assets subject to currency exposure at 31 Dec 2021

SEK m USD EUR GBP JPY Other Total
Shares and investments 126,666 29,271 8,826 11,309 38,443 214,515

Exposure to SEK-listed companies with foreign domicile - 2,778 1,130 - 1,470 5,377

Bonds and other fixed income securities 81,732 6,402 3,611 2,069 510 94,325

Derivatives -194 -27 23 110 -1 -89
Other investment assets 8,193 920 3,087 101 613 12,914
Foreign currency exposure, gross 216,398 39,344 16,677 13,589 41,035 327,042
Currency hedges -163,271 -27,539 -9,639 -6,696 -8,538 -215,683
Total currency exposure 53,126 11,805 7,038 6,893 32,497 111,358

Assets subject to currency exposure at 31 Dec 2020

SEK m USD EUR GBP JPY Other Total
Shares and investments 87,419 22,915 8,295 10,671 38,394 167,694

Exposure to SEK-listed companies with foreign domicile - 1,589 1,100 - 1,891 4,580

Bonds and other fixed income securities 72,785 6,725 3,018 2,087 565 85,179

Derivatives -107 -132 21 -2 22 -198
Other investment assets 4,679 739 2,756 147 230 8,551
Foreign currency exposure, gross 164,775 31,836 15,190 12,902 41,102 265,806
Currency hedges -138,955 -26,821 -8,525 -7,380 -5,505 -187,187
Total currency exposure 25,820 5,015 6,665 5,522 35,597 78,619

19  Financial instruments, price and valuation hierarchy 

Investment assets per valuation category at 31 Dec 2021

SEK m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Listed shares and investments 249,343 - - 249,343
Unlisted shares and investments - - 125,339 125,339
Bonds and other fixed income assets 129,473 - 8,507 137,981
Derivatives, positive market value 26 390 - 416
Total investment assets 378,842 390 133,846 513,079
Derivatives, negative market value -8 -6,880 - -6,888
Total 378,834 -6,490 133,846 506,190

Investment assets per valuation category at 31 Dec 2020

SEK m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Listed shares and investments 202,410 - - 202,410
Unlisted shares and investments - - 86,677 86,677
Bonds and other fixed income assets 117,581 - 8,488 126,068
Derivatives, positive market value 27 9,644 - 9,671
Total investment assets 320,017 9,644 95,165 424,827
Derivatives, negative market value -24 -360 - -384
Total 319,993 9,284 95,165 424,443

Change in Level 3 assets, 2020–2021

SEK m
Listed equities 

and investments
Unlisted equities 
and investments

Bonds and other 
fixed income assets Derivatives Total 

Carrying amount at 1 Jan - 86,677 8,488 - 95,165
Invested - 15,568 322 - 15,890
Sold/repaid during year - -2,776 -303 - -3,080
Realised change in value - 208 0 - 208
Unrealised change in value - 25,661 1 - 25,663
Transfer from Level 1 or 2 - - - - -
Transfer to Level 1 or 2 - - - - -
Carrying amount at 31 Dec - 125,339 8,507 - 133,846
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Change in Level 3 assets, 2019–2020

SEK m
Listed equities 

and investments
Unlisted equities 
and investments

Bonds and other 
fixed income assets Derivatives Total 

Carrying amount at 1 Jan - 78,099 8,270 - 86,369
Invested - 7,421 448 - 7,869
Sold/repaid during year - -1,585 -200 - -1,785
Realised change in value - -18 19 - -
Unrealised change in value - 2,760 -49 - 2,711
Transfer from Level 1 or 2 - - - - -
Transfer to Level 1 or 2 - - - - -
Carrying amount at 31 Dec - 86,677 8,488 - 95,165

AP3 measures all holdings at fair value using a three-level hierarchy of 
price sources and measurement methods. Fair value is defined as the 
amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled in a 
normal transaction between market participants at the time the valuation 
is made. 

Level 1: Holdings shown in the benchmark indices that AP3 uses for 
liquid instruments in equities and fixed income securities are measured 
initially at the prices stated by index vendors. Where such holdings are not 
included in an index or the index vendor’s price is not deemed to be relia-
ble, measurement is at list prices observable in an active market. An active 
market relates to a market where prices are set more than once a week. 
Observable prices are always the preferred measurement option and apply 
to the majority of AP3’s assets. However, when such prices are not availa-
ble, the next step in the valuation hierarchy is used for measurement.

Level 2: Reliable listed prices are unavailable for some holdings, notably 
some fixed income securities and most derivatives not traded over an 
exchange or handled by a clearing house. Measurements are based on 
generally accepted models that use observable market data to establish 
fair value. Valuation risk for this group is deemed to be limited. This group 
also includes certain types of transaction in which AP3 relies on price 
information from one or more external counterparties to establish fair val-
ue. In the case of assets whose price is deemed less reliable, for instance 
due to low market activity, AP3 obtains a third-party valuation to test the 
reasonableness of its own valuation.

Level 3: Some holdings must be valued using models based on non-ob-
servable market data. These are subject to a higher degree of assessment 
and hence higher uncertainty. In AP3’s case, they relate mostly to holdings 
in private equity funds and of unlisted shares in property companies.

AP3 measures private equity fund holdings using valuations received 
from external managers. AP3 requires that fund managers comply with 
IPEV valuation principles and that their funds are reviewed by an estab-
lished audit firm. Valuations from fund managers are usually received 
within 90 days after the end of the quarter, which means that the declared 
values of AP3’s holdings as of 31 December are based on fund managers’ 
reports dated 30 September and adjusted for cash flow during the fourth 
quarter. AP3 assesses the reliability of these valuations to determine 
whether any adjustments are necessary to achieve a more accurate fair 
value. No adjustments were deemed necessary as of 31 December 2021. 
Valuations primarily reflect the underlying profitability of the companies, 
as well as how the equity market values comparable companies. Projected 
discounted future cash flow is of less importance from a valuation perspec-
tive because the AP3 private equity portfolio largely consists of buyouts. 

The table provides a breakdown of all AP3’s investment assets by valua-
tion category. 75% (75) of these assets can be valued at observable prices 
in an active market. A 10% write-down of the hardest-to-value assets, that 
is those at Level 3, would reduce AP3’s fund capital by -2.7% (-2.2). AP3 
valuation risk is deemed to be limited.

20  Financial risk 

Risk measured as value at risk for the AP3 portfolio

SEK m
Min.  
level

Max.  
level Average 31 Dec 31 Dec1

2021 1,693 3,902 2,671 2,955 2,990
2020 1,602 12,129 4,458 2,220 5,680

1) This column shows VaR for equally weighted historical data.

AP3’s holdings are exposed to market and credit risks that can result in 
changes in value when equity prices, fixed income yields, credit spreads 
and foreign exchange rates change. AP3 uses the value at risk (VaR) 
metric to aggregate risk across all risk categories. At year-end, risk meas-
ured as VaR totalled SEK 2,955 million (2,220) for the total portfolio. AP3 
calculates VaR with a 95% confidence interval and a time horizon of one 
day. This means that negative changes in value should not exceed VaR 
on 19 days out of 20, assuming that market conditions follow historical 
patterns. AP3 bases VaR estimates on historical market data dating back 
360 days. Historical data is weighted exponentially, meaning that market 
events in the preceding 80 days have overriding influence. The measure-
ment method used is known as Monte Carlo simulation and is a random 
modelling of changes in value based on historical data. The table above 
shows maximum and minimum VaR and both average risk and year-end 
risk for the AP3 portfolio. The table also shows VaR at 31 December. 
Historical data is equally weighted, meaning that every day of the period 
has equal significance.

AP3’s risk measured as VaR varied from SEK 1,693 million (1,602) to 
SEK 3,902 million (12,129) during the year. Differences in the level of risk 
were due primarily to changes in market volatility, and to a lesser extent to 
changes in portfolio structure. 

Risk exposure by asset class is shown on page 46. 

Daily value at risk (VaR) for the AP3 portfolio, 2021
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1 Jan Exponentially weighted historical data
Equally weighted historical data

SEK m

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

66 AP3 Annual Report 2021

Notes to the financial statements

Key financial data and GRIAP3 as a buffer fund Sustainability Fund governance Administration report



Exposure to credit risk at 31 Dec 20211 Credit rating

SEK m AAA AA A BBB ‹BBB-2 
Government bonds 91,072 1,307 2,330 845 -
Mortgage bonds 5,691 - - 163 -
Corporate bonds 1,230 3,788 6,048 9,607 5,680
Deposits and buybacks - - 4,427 - -
Derivatives, net - - 23 - -
Gross exposure 97,992 5,095 12,828 10,615 5,680
Collateral received - - - - -
Net exposure 97,992 5,095 12,828 10,615 5,680

Exposure to credit risk at 31 Dec 20201 Credit rating

SEK m AAA AA A BBB ‹BBB-2 
Government bonds 25,397 58,337 2,292 962 -
Mortgage bonds 4,942 - - 1,183 -
Corporate bonds 517 2,490 3,637 11,856 4,406
Deposits and buybacks - - 4,591 - -
Derivatives, net - 1,594 7,721 - -
Gross exposure 30,855 62,421 18,241 14,001 4,406
Collateral received - 1,297 6,340 - -
Net exposure 30,855 61,124 11,901 14,001 4,406

1)  Includes investments in listed fixed income securities; deposits and buybacks; non-cleared derivatives where AP3 has a claim on the counterparty; and repayments of cash 
collateral received for securities lending. The table only shows exposure versus credit risk and cannot be read against the balance sheet.

2) Also includes unrated securities.

AP3’s liquidity risk is limited by the National Pension Insurance Funds Act, which requires the AP funds to hold at least 20% of their fund capital in fixed 
income securities with low credit and liquidity risk. AP3’s holdings in this category averaged 24.7% (25.5) of fund capital in 2021. 

21   Financial assets and liabilities offset in the balance sheet or subject to netting agreements

31/12/2021

Assets, SEK m Gross amount

Amount offset 
in balance 

sheet

Net balance  
in balance 

sheet

Offsetting of  
financial  

instruments  
per agreement

Collateral 
received

Net amount 
after 

offsetting Other¹
Total in  

balance sheet
Derivatives 390 - 390 366 - 24 26 416
Asset repurchases 1,062 - 1,062 1,062 - - 4,427 5,489
Non-settled transac-
tions

- - - - - - 111 111

Total 1,452 - 1,452 1,428 - 24 4,564 6,016

31/12/2021

Liabilities, SEK m Gross amount

Amount offset 
in balance 

sheet

Net balance  
in balance 

sheet

Offsetting of  
financial  

instruments  
per agreement

Collateral 
pledged

Net amount 
after 

offsetting Other¹
Total in  

balance sheet
Derivatives 6,880 - 6,880 366 1,671 4,843 8 6,888
Debt repurchases 1,062 - 1,062 1,062 - - - 1,062
Non-settled transac-
tions

- - - - - - 127 127

Total 7,942 - 7,942 1,428 1,671 4,843 135 8,077

1) Other instruments in the balance sheet not subject to agreements that allow netting.
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31/12/2020

Assets, SEK m Gross amount

Amount offset 
in balance 

sheet

Net balance  
in balance 

sheet

Offsetting of  
financial  

instruments  
per agreement

Collateral 
received

Net amount 
after 

offsetting Other¹
Total in  

balance sheet
Derivatives 9,644 - 9,644 329 7,637 1,678 27 9,671
Asset repurchases 781 - 781 781 - - 4,591 5,372
Non-settled transac-
tions

- - - - - - 204 204

Total 10,426 - 10,426 1,111 7,637 1,678 4,822 15,247

31/12/2020

Liabilities, SEK m Gross amount

Amount offset 
in balance 

sheet

Net balance  
in balance 

sheet

Offsetting of  
financial  

instruments  
per agreement

Collateral 
pledged

Net amount 
after 

offsetting Other¹
Total in  

balance sheet
Derivatives 360 - 360 329 - 31 24 384
Debt repurchases 781 - 781 781 - - - 781
Non-settled transac-
tions

- - - - - - 158 158

Total 1,141 - 1,141 1,111 - 31 182 1,323

1) Other instruments in the balance sheet not subject to agreements that allow netting.

22  Related-party transactions 

This note describes how AP3’s results and financial position are impacted 
by transactions and outstanding dealings, including commitments, with re-
lated parties as defined in IAS 24. Parties related to AP3 are companies in 
which AP3 has a shareholding that gives it significant or decisive influence 

or in which AP3 employees hold senior positions. AP3 rents its premises 
from Vasakronan at market rates. See Note 6 for salaries and remunera-
tion to AP3’s board of directors and executive management.

Related party, SEK m 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Vasakronan Holding AB
Interest income 9 9
Rent of premises -10 -10
Commitment to purchase, at Vasakronan’s 
request, commercial paper issued by the com-
pany for a maximum total amount of: 4,500 4,500

Hemsö Fastighets AB
Commitment to purchase, at Hemsö Fastighet 
AB’s request, commercial paper issued by the 
company for a maximum amount of: 5,000 5,000
Capital increases during the year 700 700

Hemsö Intressenter AB
Interest income 98 98
Shareholder loans 1,470 1,470
Capital increases during the year 150 150

Trophi Fastighets AB
Interest income 23 24
Shareholder loans 448 613
Commitment to purchase, at Trophi Fas-
tighets AB’s request, commercial paper issued 
by the company for a maximum total amount 
of: 2,000 2,000
Fastighets AB Regio
Capital increases during the year 100 -

Ellevio AB
Interest income 263 248
Shareholder loans 4,645 4,382

Related party, SEK m 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Trenum AB
Interest income 21 23
Shareholder loans 1,983 1,983
Capital increases during the year - 50
Commitment to purchase, at Trenum AB’s re-
quest, commercial paper issued by the company 
for a maximum total amount of: 

1,000 -

Polhem Infra AB
Capital increases during the year 0 0

Polhem Infra KB
Capital increases during the year 2,320 90
Investment commitments 353 2,597

Aphelaria AB
Capital increases during the year - 0

ThreeTree Holdings LLC
Capital increases during the year 5,149 1,266

4 to 1 Investments KB
Capital increases during the year 834 -
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Signatures of board of directors and CEO

Stockholm, 18 February 2022

 Christina Lindenius
Chairman

Johan Bygge
Deputy Chairman

Malin Björkmo Magnus Emfel Ylva Hedén Westerdahl

Torbjörn Hållö Annelie Söderberg Carina Wutzler

Peter Wågström Kerstin Hessius
CEO

 

 

Our auditors’ report was submitted on 18 February 2022.

Peter Nilsson
Authorised public accountant
Appointed by the government

Helena Kaiser de Carolis
Authorised public accountant
Appointed by the government 
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Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Third Swedish 
 National Pension Fund for the 2021 financial year. The Fund’s finan-
cial statements are included on pages 40–69 of this  document.

In our opinion, the financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the National Pension Insurance Funds Act 
(2000:192) and present fairly, in all material respects, the finan-
cial position of the Third Swedish National Pension Fund as at 31 
December 2021 and of its financial performance for the year then 
ended, according to the National Pension Insurance Funds Act. 
The statutory administration report is consistent with the other 
parts of the financial statements.

We, therefore, recommend that the income statement and 
 balance sheet be adopted.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Stand-
ards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing standards 
in Sweden. Our responsibilities according to those standards are 
described in more detail in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section 
below. We are independent of the Third Swedish National Pension 
Fund in accordance with professional ethics for accountants in 
Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with those requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Other information than the financial statements 
This document also contains other information than the annual 
report and this can be found on pages 1–39 and 72–79.

The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer are 
 responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover this 
other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion regarding this other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the information identified above and con-
sider whether the information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements. In this procedure we also take into account 
our knowledge otherwise obtained in the audit and assess wheth-
er the information otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we, based on the work performed concerning this informa-
tion, conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the board of directors and the CEO
The board of directors and the CEO are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and that they give a fair 
presentation in accordance with the National Pension Insurance 
Funds Act. The board of directors and the CEO are also respon-
sible for such internal control as they deem necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or mistake.

In preparing the financial statements, the board of directors and 
the CEO are required to assess the Fund’s capacity to continue its 
operations. They disclose, as applicable, matters related to such 
assessments and using the going concern basis of accounting.

The going concern basis of accounting is, however, not applied if 
the board of directors and the CEO intend to liquidate the Fund or 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements as a whole are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or mistake, and to issue an audi-
tor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and 
generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always iden-
tify a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or mistake and are considered to be material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As a part of the audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
 professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or mistake, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than one resulting 
from mistake, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, inten-
tional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

• Obtain an understanding of the Fund’s internal control rele-
vant to our audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal 
control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting principles used 
and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the board of directors and the CEO.

Auditor’s report
for the Third Swedish National Pension Fund (AP3), Corporate 
Identity Number 802014-4120
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the board of directors’ and 
the CEO’s application of the going concern basis of accounting 
in preparing the financial statements. We also draw a con-
clusion, based on the evidence obtained, as to whether any 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclo-
sures are inadequate, to modify our opinion about the financial 
statements. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit. We must also inform of 
significant audit findings during our audit, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identified.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Opinion
In addition to our audit of the financial statements, we have also 
audited the inventory of the assets managed by the Third Swedish 
National Pension Fund.  
We have also examined whether there are any qualifications re-
garding the board of directors’ and the CEO’s administration of the 
Third Swedish National Pension Fund for the 2021 financial year.

The audit has resulted in no grounds for qualification regarding 
the inventory of the assets or the administration of the Fund.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
section below. We are independent of the Third Swedish National 
Pension Fund in accordance with professional ethics for account-
ants in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibil-
ities in accordance with those requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of the board of directors and the CEO
The board of directors and the CEO are responsible for the finan-
cial statements and for the administration of the Fund’s assets 

according to the National Pension Insurance Funds Act.
The board of directors is responsible for the Fund’s organisation 

and the administration of the Fund’s affairs. This includes contin-
uous assessment of the Fund’s financial situation and ensuring 
that the Fund’s organisation is designed so that the accounting, 
management of assets and the Fund’s financial affairs otherwise 
are controlled in a reassuring manner. The CEO is responsible for 
the ongoing administration according to the board of directors’ 
guidelines and instructions and must among other matter stake 
measures that are necessary to fulfil the Fund’s accounting in 
accordance with law and handle the management of assets in a 
reassuring manner.

Auditor’s responsibilities
Our responsibility concerning the audit of the administration and, 
thereby, our opinion on the administration of the company, is to 
obtain audit evidence to assess with a reasonable degree of assur-
ance whether there is any reason for qualification in respect any 
member of the board of directors or the CEO of the Third Swedish 
National Pension Fund for the 2021 financial year.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always identify actions 
or omissions that can give rise to qualification.

As a part of an audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. The 
examination of the administration is based primarily on the audit 
of the financial statements.

Additional audit procedures performed are based on our profes-
sional judgment, with the starting point being risks and materiality. 
This means that we focus the examination on such actions, areas 
and relationships that are material for the operations and where 
deviations and violations would have particular significance to the 
Fund’s situation. We examine and test decisions undertaken, sup-
port for decisions, actions taken and other circumstances that are 
relevant to our opinion on the administration.

Stockholm, 18 February 2022

Peter Nilsson
Authorised public accountant
Appointed by the government

Helena Kaiser de Carolis
Authorised public accountant
Appointed by the government
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assets, which now stand at SEK 15 trillion.
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Change in fund capital

SEK m 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Fund capital at 1 Jan 1 422,974 393,696 340,668 345,239 324,375
Net flow to pension system -7,528 -7,902 -6,520 -6,773 -7,375
Net result 86,841 37,179 59,549 2,202 28,239
Fund capital at 31 Dec 502,287 422,974 393,696 340,668 345,239

1) Fund capital at inception in 2001 was SEK 133,975 million.

Market value per asset category

SEK bn 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2017
Listed equities 1 Sweden 62.9 52.1 48.8 37.3 44.5

Europe 32.6 28.5 23.0 17.3 26.9
North America 98.5 72.2 57.4 44.1 54.0
Asia 16.4 16.0 19.3 11.2 7.6
Emerging markets 22.2 24.1 24.9 18.3 19.8
Global 1.4

Total listed equities 234.0 193.0 173.5 128.1 152.9

Fixed income 1

Nominal Sweden 27.3 41.5 32.7 37.3 45.8
Eurozone 7.1 6.3 0.0 0.0 0.4
UK 3.7 3.1 8.3 8.2 9.0
US 53.9 44.8 52.7 58.4 44.8
Japan 2.1 2.1
Emerging markets 0.4 0.4

Inflation-linked bonds Sweden 4.0 3.8 4.9 4.9 4.8
Eurozone - - - - 0.0
Japan - - - 0.0 0.2
US 24.7 22.6 23.8 19.0 15.8

Total fixed income 123.3 124.6 122.3 127.9 120.8

Alternative investments 1

Property and infrastructure Vasakronan 25.3 21.0 20.6 17.7 15.2
Hemsö 28.6 20.2 17.1 14.0 11.8
Farmoor 2.9 2.8 3.2 3.2 3.1
Regio 5.4 4.5 3.8 3.3 2.3
Sagax 7.3 4.0 3.2 1.5 1.1
Trenum 3.9 3.4 2.8 2.2 1.6
Trophi 9.5 7.5 6.7 6.2 5.3
Ellevio 6.8 6.4 6.2 6.1 5.4
Polhem Infra 2.9 0.5 0.3
4 to 1 0.8
Timberland and agricultural land 11.7 6.0 4.7 5.3 5.0
International property funds 2 6.3 6.5 8.2 6.7 6.2

Total property and infrastructure 111.5 82.7 76.9 66.4 57.0

Unlisted equities 29.8 17.8 15.5 13.1 10.3
Other assets 3 3.6 4.8 5.6 5.3 4.1
Total alternative investments 144.8 105.3 97.9 84.7 71.4
Other strategies 0.2 0.1 - - -
Total 502.3 423.0 393.7 340.7 345.2

1)  Cash used for position-taking in forwards has been divided among the relevant asset classes in the table.  
This means the figures in the table are not fully comparable with those in the balance sheet.

2) Includes infrastructure funds.
3) Other assets include investments in convertible debentures and insurance-related risk.

Key financial data
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Five largest holdings in Swedish listed companies

Name
Number of 

shares
Share of 

equity
Share of vot-

ing rights

Market 
value,  

SEK m
Sagax AB 24,227,658 5.43 3.52 7,389
Investor AB 15,880,150 0.52 0.37 3,662
Atlas Copco AB 12,196,687 0.48 0.08 3,151
Volvo AB 5,900,223 0.60 0.26 2,558
Telefonaktiebolaget 
LM Ericsson AB

22,345,154 0.67 1.07 2,232

Five largest holdings of foreign listed companies

Name
Number of 

shares

Market 
value,  

SEK m
Apple Inc 3,403,275 5,471
Microsoft Corp 1,671,885 5,091
Alphabet Inc 149,638 3,923
Amazon.com Inc 111,603 3,369
Nestlé SA 1,535,110 1,944

Ten largest recipients of brokerage fees in 2021 (alphabetical order)

• ABG 

• Bank of America

• Bernstein

• Carnegie

• Citi

• DNB

• JP Morgan

• Nordea

• SEB

• UBS

Five counterparties that handled the largest volumes of AP3’s fixed 
income trading in 2021 (alphabetical order)

• Bank of America

• Danske Bank

• JP Morgan

• Nordea

• SEB

Five counterparties that handled the largest volumes of AP3’s foreign 
exchange trading in 2021 (alphabetical order)

• Barclays

• BNP Paribas

• Citi

• Danske Bank

• SEB

Allocation of fund capital between internal and external management mandates at 31 Dec 2021

Mandate Market value, SEK m Share of fund capital, %
External discretionary mandates
Equity mandates
Passive mandates
BlackRock Investment Management Asia-Pacific 4,604
BlackRock Investment Management North America – Mid cap 11,095
Enhanced mandates
BlackRock Investment Management Japan 10,957
BlackRock Investment Management North America – Large cap 37,216

63,872 13%

Fund investments
Listed assets
Equity funds 28,118
Fixed income funds 426
Absolute return strategies and hedge funds 14,094

Unlisted assets
Private equity funds 29,762
Infrastructure funds 6,113
Property funds 202
Timberland funds 11,729

90,445 18%

Internal management mandates
Listed shares and investments 149,617
Fixed income and credits 114,742
Insurance-related risk 3,615
Unlisted holdings in property companies 85,307

353,281 70%

Other assets and liabilities 1 -5,311 -1%

Total fund capital 502,287 100%

1) Consist primarily of cash and currency hedges.
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GRI reporting
AP3 has a long tradition of taking close account of environmental, social 
and governance (ESG) aspects in its operations. The Fund manages 
sustainability internally through investment analysis, governance and by 
focusing on environmental and ethical issues through participation in the 
Council on Ethics of the Swedish AP Funds. 

Different sections of the organisation hold responsibility for sustain-
ability. The asset management department has responsibility for sustain-
ability in investment activities and a sustainability committee leads the 
Fund’s work in terms of sustainability.

About the report
AP3’s sustainability report has been prepared insofar as is possible to 
comply with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) standards, option Core, 
and the Financial Services Supplement (FS). The report applies the 2016 

GRI standards. The report covers AP3’s operating activities to the same 
degree as in the financial statements and with no limitations. 

Significant reporting areas and indicators were selected on the basis 
of both the requirements and expectations of AP3’s stakeholders and 
the Fund’s own priorities, thus establishing a common view with regard 
to materiality. 

Some of the GRI disclosures are incomplete according to the standards. 
AP3 intends to develop further its disclosures, data and procedures in 
relation to sustainability reporting. The GRI disclosures have not been 
reviewed by a third party.

The GRI index shows where GRI disclosures can be found in AP3’s 2020 
annual report (AR) and on the websites of the Fund and the Council on 
Ethics of the Swedish AP Funds.

Disclosure Page number/reference
Organisational profile
102-1  Name of the organisation AR p. 2
102-2 Activities, brands, products and services AR p. 10–12
102–3 Location of organisation's headquarters AP3 sells no products or services. The Fund manages pension capital on behalf of 

the state income pension system.
102-4 Countries where the organisation operates AR p. 58
102-5 Ownership and legal form AR p. 10. AP3’s sole office is in Stockholm.  

The Fund invests globally in different asset classes.
102-6 Markets served AR p. 31
102-7 Scale of the organisation AR p. 10-11
102-8 Information about employees and other workers AR p. 47, 56-57
102-9 Supply chain AR p. 60-61
102-10 Significant changes to the organisation and its supply 

chain
AR p. 10, 59

102-11 Precautionary Principle AR p. 10
102-12 External initiatives on sustainability to which the organi-

sation subscribes or which it endorses
AR p.17

102-13 Memberships of associations AR p. 17, 24, 29
Strategy
102-14 Statement from senior decision-maker AR p. 6-9
Ethics and integrity
102-16 Valuations, principles, standards and norms of behaviour AR p. 5-9, 17, 22, 29 andhttps://www.ap3.se
Governance
102-18 Governance structure AR p. 17-18, 31-36
Stakeholder engagement
102-40 List of stakeholder groups AR p. 55
102-41 Collective bargaining agreements AR p. 61
102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders AR p. 55
102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement AR p. 55
102-44 Key topics and concerns raised AR p. 55
Reporting practice
102-45 Entities in the financial statements AR p. 58
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GRI indicator Page number/reference
GRI 201: Economic performance

Sustainability  
management approach

103-1, 2, 3 Explanation of the materiality of the topic, the management 
approach and evaluation of the management approach.

AR p. 6-9, 12, 17-18

Economic performance 201-1 Economic value generated and distributed AR p. 14-15, 56
GRI 205: Anti-corruption
Sustainability  
management approach

103-1, 2, 3 Explanation of the materiality of the topic, the management 
approach and evaluation of the management approach.

AR p. 20, 22-24, 29, 55

Anti-corruption 205-3 Incidents of corruption No incidents of corruption occurred in 2021.
GRI 305: Emissions
Sustainability  
management approach

103-1, 2, 3 Explanation of the materiality of the topic, the management 
approach and evaluation of the management approach.

AR p.16–19, 24, 26–27 and https://www.ap3.se

Emissions 305-1-4 Direct greenhouse gas emissions AR p. 27 and https://www.ap3.se
GRI 401: Employment
Sustainability  
management approach

103-1, 2, 3 Explanation of the materiality of the topic, the management 
approach and evaluation of the management approach.

AR p. 31, 53, 60-61

Employment 401-2 Benefits provided to full-time employees AR p. 60-61
GRI 412: Human rights assessment
Sustainability  
management approach

103-1, 2, 3 Explanation of the materiality of the topic, the management 
approach and evaluation of the management approach.

AR p. 16-19, 20, 24, 29

Human rights assessment412-3 Investment decisions that include demands relating to 
human rights

AR p. 21-23, 29, 50, 55

GRI FS: Product portfolio
Product portfolio FS6 Percentage of the portfolio by specific region, size and sector AR p. 5, 10-11
GRI FS: Active ownership
GRI FS: Active ownership FS10 Companies with which the institution has engaged on envi-

ronmental or social issues
AR p. 20–23, 26–27 andhttps://www.ap3.se and 
http://etikradet.se/etikradets-arbete/

FS11 Percentage of assets subject to positive and negative envi-
ronmental or social screening

AR p. 17–19, and https://www.ap3.se/ andhttps://
etikradet.se/etikradets-arbete/arbetsprocess/

Disclosure Page number/reference

102-46 Defining report content and topic boundaries AR p. 5, 10, 17-18, 55, 75
102-47 List of material topics AR p. 76
102-48 Restatements of information No changes
102-49 Restatements of financial accounts No changes
102-50 Reporting period 1/1–31/12 2021
102-51 Date of most recent report February 2021
102-52 Reporting cycle Annual
102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the report AR p. 2 andinfo@ap3.se
102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance with the GRI stand-

ards
AR p. 75

102-55 GRI reporting AR p. 75-76
102-56 External assurance AR p. 75
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Glossary (definitions of financial terms and risk and return metrics)

Active management 
Form of management based on taking active 
positions to achieve higher returns than the 
benchmark index. Active positions are taken 
by being overweight or underweight in assets 
relative to the benchmark index or reference 
portfolio. Positions are based on assessments 
of market outlooks. 

ALM 
Asset liability management analysis undertaken 
to establish an optimal strategic portfolio struc-
ture that best corresponds to the Fund’s role in 
the pension system.

Alternative investments 
In AP3’s case, alternative investments consist 
of private equity funds, property, infrastructure 
assets, timberland and insurance-related risk.

National Pension Insurance Funds Act 
Government statute (2000:192) that estab-
lished and regulates the AP funds. The act 
was passed by Parliament in 2000 as part 
of a five-party agreement to introduce a new 
income pension system. 

Contribution to return 
Describes the proportion of total return generat-
ed by a specific portfolio or investment decision. 
It is usually measured in percentage points. The 
sum of all contributions to return corresponds 
to total return in percent. 

Automatic balancing
When the assets of the income pension system 
are insufficient to cover pension commitments, 
pensions indexing is reduced until the assets 
once again exceed pension commitments.

Buffer funds 
Consists of AP1–AP4 and AP6. The funds’ role 
is to even out temporary variations between 
pension contributions and disbursements 
and to assist in the long-term financing of the 
pension system.

Buy-out 
Acquisition of a majority of the shares in a 
mature company. 

CDS 
Credit default swap. See credit swap. 

Clearing 
All activities that take place after a transaction 
is completed in a marketplace and prior to sett-
lement. Includes reporting, risk measurement 
and netting. 

Clearing house 
An institution with regulatory approval to con-
duct clearing operations. Most countries only 
have one or very few. In Sweden, clearing is via 
Stockholmsbörsen, which acts as the counter-
party for all derivatives traded on the exchange.

Compliance
The role of checking and monitoring that a com-
pany and its employees comply with applicable 
laws and regulations.

Derivatives 
Financial instrument whose price is determined 
by underlying value. Options, forwards and 
swaps are generally classed as derivatives. The 
value of a derivative depends partly on changes 
in the underlying value of the instrument.

ESO
Expert Group for Studies on Public Economics.

Management expense ratio 
Asset management costs in relation to average 
fund capital.

Age cohort neutrality 
The management of pension capital shall not 
benefit any single generation or age cohort at 
the expense of another. All age cohorts must be 
treated equally.

UN Sustainability development goals
The 17 2030 Sustainability Development Goals 
aim to: Eradicate extreme poverty. Reduce 
inequalities and injustice in the world. Promote 
peace and justice. Solve the climate crisis.

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 
The GRI issues guidelines for structured and 
comparable sustainability reporting by compa-
nies and organisations. 

Illiquid assets 
Assets that are not listed on a market with 
continuous pricing and are the opposite of 
liquid assets.

Index investing
Management designed to ensure only marginal 
deviations over time from a chosen bench-
mark index.

Income index 
Key metric that measures average annu-
al income growth in Sweden. Is used as a 
benchmark for indexing pensions provided that 
automatic balancing has not been activated. 

Investment grade 
Bonds which have a credit rating of BBB or 
 higher. They usually carry a low credit risk. 

IPEV 
The International Private Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation Board is an international 
organisation for private equity and venture cap-
ital firms. It issues valuation guidelines based 
on IFRS and US GAAP, which are regarded as 
industry standards. 

ISDA agreement 
Bilateral agreement between two over-the-
counter counterparties that regulates the events 
that could be expected to occur between them. 

Benchmark index 
Used to evaluate the return on a portfolio. 
Usually takes the form of a standardised market 
index. Is also known as the reference index. 

Credit swap 
Derivative contract between two parties, A and 
B, in which A pays B an interest premium for a 
specific period of time. B only pays a premium 
to A in the event that a predefined asset-related 
event occurs. The size of this premium is the dif-
ference between the nominal underlying value 
of the derivative contract and the market value 
of the asset in question (credit default swap).

Convention violations
When a company or country breaches interna-
tional conventions, treaties and agreements – 
often those of the United Nations. 

Liquid assets 
See illiquid assets.

Liquidity premium
A higher return that investors often receive for 
investing in assets that can be hard to sell com-
pared to more “liquid” comparable investments.

LSP 
The long-term statical portfolio, LSP, is a zero- 
cost alternative that AP3’s asset management is 
compared with. The LSP represents a portfolio 
with listed equities and fixed income instru-
ments comprising Swedish (25%) and global 
indices (75%) that are weighted as follows: 
equities (55%), fixed income (45%) and foreign 
exchange exposure of 22%. 

Option 
Entitles the holder to buy or sell an underlying 
asset at a predefined price and moment in time. 
The option issuer has equivalent obligations. 
Options may include currency options, interest 
rate options and share options. 

OTC 
Short for ‘over the counter’. Refers to contracts 
agreed and settled between two counterparties 
without the involvement of a clearing house. 

Passive management 
Asset management that invests capital in 
accordance with a benchmark index or portfolio 
to achieve the same return as the benchmark or 
portfolio. Is also known as index management. 

PRI (Principles for Responsible Investment) 
An international network of investors that pro-
motes the implementation of six principles for 
responsible investment. 

Private equity 
Collective term for equities that are not listed on 
an official or public market. 
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Credit rating 
Measure of creditworthiness that reflects the 
probability of a counterparty being able to 
honour its commitments. The credit rating may 
relate to the counterparty itself or to a series of 
securities issued by the counterparty. 

Real return 
Nominal return adjusted for inflation. 

Real
Term denoting “minus inflation” as measured by 
the consumer price index.

Inflation-linked bonds 
Fixed income securities that give protection 
against inflation. They yield a fixed rate of inter-
est and also include a payment to compensate 
for inflation over the course of their maturity.

Reference portfolio 
A portfolio of different assets whose composi-
tion is designed to facilitate comparisons. 

Risk-adjusted return 
A means of evaluating management perfor-
mance in which return is considered in relation 
to the level of risk in the portfolio. The Sharpe 
and information ratios are two examples. 

Risk capital 
Generally refers to investments in a company’s 
equity. Relates in practice to investments in 
entities that are not listed on a market, that is, 
private equity.

Sharpe ratio 
Measurement of a portfolio’s risk-adjusted 
return, that is, the efficiency of its asset manage-
ment. It equates to portfolio return minus risk-
free interest divided by the standard deviation of 
portfolio return. 

Science Based Targets 
A method for companies to set science-based 
climate targets in line with the Paris Agreement. 
The company needs to track emissions through-
out its value chain, and often the target is linked 
to investments where the economics, feasibility 
and other impacts are carefully examined.

Government bonds 
Bonds issued by the government of a sovereign 
state. Are used to finance medium- and long-
term borrowing.

Stop loss 
A predetermined level of cumulative losses 
over a specific period of time resulting in the 
 immediate closure of all positions. 

Swap 
Contract in which counterparties agree to 
exchange flows based on an underlying asset 
and under prearranged terms and conditions. 
Often runs for periods of more than 12 months. 
Examples include interest rate swaps, currency 
swaps and total return swaps.

Taskforce on Nature-related  
Financial Disclosures (TNFD) 
The Taskforce on Nature-related Financial 
 Disclosures (TNFD) launched on 4 June 2021. 
The TNFD is based on the TCFD framework, 
which focuses on the disclosure of climate- 
related financial risks and opportunities.

Forward 
A contract in which counterparties undertake to 
buy or sell an underlying asset at a predeter-
mined price and at a prearranged moment in 
time. Examples include currency forwards, 
interest rate forwards, forward rate agreements 
(FRAs) and equity index forwards. These con-
tracts are also known as futures. 

Tracking error 
Measures the variation in active return. Is meas-
ured as the standard deviation of active return. 
Historical (ex post) tracking error describes the 
variation in realised active return and thus meas-
ures risk levels retroactively. Expected (ex ante) 
tracking error is a forecast. 

Value at Risk (VaR) 
A common measurement of the maximum loss 
that a portfolio can sustain for a given period 
and with a certain level of confidence. VaR 
is usually calculated for a period of one day 
and with a confidence level of 95%. Portfolio 
management often requires changes to the 
portfolio structure to keep this risk of loss at an 
acceptable level. 

Currency exposure 
Describes the proportion of the portfolio that 
consists of assets denominated in currencies 
other than the Swedish krona and for which cur-
rency risk has not been neutralised by hedging.

Currency hedging 
Neutralisation of currency risk, that is, the 
risk of investing in currencies other than the 
Swedish krona. 

 
Volatility 
A risk measure of the variation in return. Is 
measured as the standard deviation of return. 

Measures of risk and return 

Absolute return (rp )
Portfolio return.

Absolute risk or volatility (σp )
Standard deviation of portfolio divided by 
active risk.

Information ratio (risk-adjusted active return) 
Active return divided by active risk = rp–rf

σp-i

Sharpe ratio (risk-adjusted return) 
Portfolio return minus risk-free return divided by 
absolute risk = rp–rf

σp
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The chart shows the relative size of different parts of the Swedish pension system. It  covers 
the general state pension, as well as different forms of occupational pension and private 

pension plans. The system has total assets of more than SEK 15,000 billion. Data is based on 
information from the Swedish Pensions Agency and applies to 2019. 

Sweden’s pension system assets
more than SEK 15,000 billion

Various private  
pension fund managers

Various occupational 
pension fund managers

Private pension insurance

Occupational pension

Other non-state 
pensions

AP7

PPM

Premium Pension 
System

AP1–AP4
AP6

State pension

Income Pension System

Contribution assets – the 
projected value of future 
pension contributions

General state pension Occupational pensions Private pension
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